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Definition

B

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following terms have the meanings set forth below:

“Anhui Imaging Anhui Imaging Union Co., Ltd.* (&%l Bt
Union” EZBEMZERAR), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on

October 26, 2015, one of our subsidiaries

“Anhui Yanzhi” Anhui Yanzhi Technology Co., Ltd.* (Z#l
SAMBIFEARRAA), a limited company
established in PRC on December 9, 2019

“Articles of our Company’s Articles of Association,
Association” as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

“Audit Committee” Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
of the Company

“Board the Board committees of our Company,
Committee(s)” namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee

“Board of the board of Directors of our Company
Directors” or
“Board”

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, for the
purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excluding
the Hong Kong and Macau Special
Administrative Region of China and the
Taiwan Region

“Companies the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
Ordinance” of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from

time to time

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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“Company”, “our
Company”
or “Xunfei
Healthcare”

“connected
person(s)’

“Controlling
Shareholder”

“Corporate
Governance
Code”

“Director(s)”

“Global Offering”

[T

“Group”, “our
Group”, “the
Group”, “we”,
“us”, or “our”

“H Share(s)”

“HK$” or “Hong
Kong dollars”

“Hong Kong” or
“HKH

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd. (&l
REERERMBAERADF) ajoint stock
company established in PRC on December
24, 2021, the H Shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 2506)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules and, unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to iFlytek

the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

the director(s) of our Company

has the meaning ascribed to it in the
Prospectus

our Company, subsidiaries and
consolidated affiliated entities from time to
time

overseas listed foreign invested ordinary
share(s) in the ordinary share capital of our
Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each, listed on the Stock Exchange and
traded in Hong Kong dollars

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong Stock The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Exchange”
or “Stock
Exchange”
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Definition

B

“iFlytek”

“iFlytek Group”

“Kexun Capital”

“Latest Practicable

Date”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Lvliang Xunfei”

“Model Code”

iFlytek Co., Ltd. (BFERFRAR DB R A7),
a company established in the PRC whose
shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange under the stock code of 002230,
our Controlling Shareholder

iFlytek and its subsidiaries (excluding
our Group), unless the context otherwise
requires, for the purpose of this annual
report

Anhui Kexun Venture Capital Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (% &%}
AEEREEGERLEERER), a
limited partnership established in the PRC
on January 6, 2016, one of our Substantial
Shareholders

April 9, 2025, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information contained in it

December 30, 2024, being the date on
which the H Shares of the Company are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time

Lvliang Keda Xunfei Medical Information
Technology Co., Ltd* (B R B AARERZE =
B iTA R A7), alimited liability company
established in the PRC on December 1,
2021, one of our subsidiaries

the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.

2024 Annual Report

[BEARFR R

[BEA LR
L

[RER Al

[REERA

17 B 8

[ B

[Em R 8]

ESET

Ec

B ARAMBRDERA
Al —xRAEHEKL
MR ERHORE
INEHRZ ST ET (%
= K 75 002230)
BEMEIERRR

FRIEXERBFTEE -
BRI ARFEHEM
= REARR R E T
(T BEANEEH)

D i)

BEABI XK E
TEBLEGER
%) MN20164F1A
6EHEEFRBERINE
REBEE - BRM
MEBRERZ—

7S
=
AN
=

20254 H9H - Bl K
FEWE A A E
EEHFHEE T EH
M ERA/TAE

AN B H B 7 B XA
ER EWAROBEHE - B
202412 A30H

EEBARHMAR
NAEZFLEMRA
RAEREBR] - Mk
AE 77 B 2

BRBRAREEE
BREMEBERAR R
202112 A1HEH E
KRB BREEAR
BEMNTARZ—

b7 R A B % C3F
B(LEMRERTAES
ETEFXZHNERE
SR EAEHER]
e e A E A 77 U8
B



“Nanjing
Zhengchang”

“Nanjing Zhenghui”

“Nanjing
Zhengyang”

“Prospectus”

“Reporting Period”

IIRMBH
“Securities
and Futures
Ordinance” or
((SFOH

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“Substantial
Shareholder(s)”

“Supervisor(s)”

Nanjing Zhengchang Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* ( [ =
EXEBRAEERLEERER), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on
December 9, 2022, one of our shareholding
platforms

Nanjing Zhenghui Information Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (7 & IE
BESMRAEBEER(BREE)), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on
December 3, 2021, one of our shareholding
platforms

Nanjing Zhengyang Information Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (7 & IE
BEEMKREEBERAERAER), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on
December 3, 2021, one of our employee
shareholding platforms

the Prospectus of the Company dated
December 18, 2024

for the twelve months ended December 31,
2024

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

ordinary shares in the share capital of our
Company with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each

holder(s) of the Share(s)

has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15
of the Companies Ordinance

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

member(s) of our Supervisory Committee
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Definition

B

“Supervisory
Committee”

“treasury shares”

“Yinchuan Xunfei’

u%n

the supervisory committee of our Company

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

Yinchuan Xunfei Internet Hospital Co., Ltd.
(BRINAREHABBER AR AT, a limited
liability company established in the PRC on
March 16, 2022, one of our subsidiaries

percentage

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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NAME OF THE COMPANY
CHINESE NAME
AREER RN AERLDF

ENGLISH NAME
Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.

DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Dr. Tao Xiaodong (General Manager)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Liu Qingfeng (Chairman)

Mr. Zhao Zhiwei

Mr. Duan Dawei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Prof. Wang Yang

Prof. Zhao Huifang

Mr. Tan Ching

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Prof. Zhao Huifang (Chairwoman)
Prof. Wang Yang

Mr. Duan Dawei

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Prof. Zhao Huifang (Chairwoman)

Mr. Zhao Zhiwei

Mr. Tan Ching

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Liu Qingfeng (Chairman)

Prof. Zhao Huifang

Mr. Tan Ching
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Corporate Information

DREFR

SUPERVISORS
Ms. Zhang Xuanxuan
Ms. Sheng Yan

Mr. Gui Yajun

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Dr. Liu Wei
Ms. Yeung Siu Lam

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Dr. Tao Xiaodong
Dr. Liu Wei

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 167 Guang’anmennei Street

Xicheng District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 1922, 19/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

H SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
2506

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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COMPANY’S WEBSITE
https:/www.iflyhealth.com/

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
35/F, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS TO OUR COMPANY
As to Hong Kong law:

Clifford Chance

27/F, Jardine House

One Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

CM Law Firm

Room 2805, Plaza 66 Tower 2
No. 1366 Nanjing West Road
Shanghai

PRC
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Corporate Information

NEEF

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR
Somerley Capital Limited
20/F, China Building

29 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Huishang Bank Hefei High-Tech Zone Branch
No. 848 Changjiang West Road

Shushan District

Hefei, Anhui Province

PRC

China Merchants Bank Hefei Sanxiaokou Branch
CMB Building

No. 169 Funan Road

Luyang District

Hefei, Anhui Province

PRC
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

The following is a summary of the results and assets and | X &%l & A & B 5 i 1% /O 1@ 8F B &
liabilities of our Group for the past four financial years: EMHEBEUREERBENRE:

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE BHEHGE N GEER
INCOME STATEMENT

2024 2023 2022 2021
20244 20234 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T AR T ARET T

Revenue SES'ON 733,984 556,125 471,860 372,452
Gross profit E A8 404,084 314,654 230,669 187,729
Loss before tax A& 8B (172,016) (186,915) (244,100) (110,970)
Loss for the year REFEE (137,636) (154,224) (208,595) (89,401)
Loss attributable to owners of SEBRE ATIRAEEH

the parent company &5 18 (132,600) (144,842) (189,400) (83,707)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF S HMBEKAE

FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023 2022 2021
20245 20234 20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Non-current assets ERBEE 408,745 384,463 377,630 286,737
Current assets mEEE 1,681,192 853,151 651,954 727,076
Total assets BELT 2,089,937 1,237,614 1,029,584 1,013,813
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 102,806 16,707 26,407 29,263
Current liabilities mEAaE 1,000,289 671,047 603,440 487,519
Total liabilities BEERE 1,103,095 687,754 629,847 516,782
Total equity W 1B RE 986,842 549,860 399,737 497,031
HREENEROERAT

—E-MEFH
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Chairman’s Statement

EERYE

Dear respected partners and investors:
Greetings!

On December 30, 2024, Xunfei Healthcare was successfully
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, becoming China’s
first listed company featuring a healthcare large language model,
and the only A-share spin-off company listed in Hong Kong that
year. As one of the international financial centers, Hong Kong
offers diverse financing channels and unique advantages in
connecting with global capital. The listing of Xunfei Healthcare
in Hong Kong not only provides funding support for continuous
R&D innovation in “Al+Healthcare”, but also marks a key
strategic move to advance the globalization strategies of iFlytek
and Xunfei Healthcare.

Since its establishment till today, Xunfei Healthcare has
journeyed through eight years. From the very first day, our
initial aspiration and dream have remained unchanged: “an Al
medical assistant for every doctor and an Al health partner
for everyone”, specifically: empowering every doctor with
a capable general practice Al assistant, providing precise
Al-assisted diagnostic support and consultation services
anytime and anywhere; expanding hospitals’ post-discharge
services and patient follow-up capabilities; providing new
methods for city-level disease prevention and control, and in
the fields of home healthcare and elderly care, making chronic
disease management by family doctors more intelligent, making
elderly care services more compassionate, truly transforming
technology into a practical force for improving people’s
livelihoods, and enabling everyone to enjoy the benefits brought
by technology. Every time when we think of our mission and
dream, we are filled with high morale and passion to strive
forward.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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Today, Xunfei Healthcare has become the healthcare Al
company with the broadest regional coverage and the
largest market share in China. Our general practice diagnosis
assistance system has provided approximately 910 million
Al-assisted diagnosis suggestions to 140,000 primary care
doctors in over 70,000 PHC institutions across more than
670 districts and counties nationwide, significantly reducing
the likelihood of misdiagnosis and missed diagnosis; our Al
system has covered more than 500 hospitals, including over
40 of the Top 100 hospitals in China, making Al an assistant
for doctors in these top hospitals, enhancing both doctors
work efficiency and the public’'s medical experience; we have
built the Anhui Provincial Cloud Medical Imaging Platform, the
largest, smoothest-operating, and most widely applied platform
of its kind in China, connecting 1,970 medical institutions and
accumulating nearly 8.49 million remote imaging consultations.
It pioneers the “one examination for province-wide use” model,
significantly enhances Al-assisted image quality control and
diagnostic capabilities; the downloads of Xunfei Xiaoyi, our
healthcare large model C-end application, have exceeded
20 million, which meets residents’ needs for daily symptom
self-checks, medication consultations and disease inquiries,
while also builds a personal digital health space for everyone;
we also launched Xunfei Al Hearing Aid, an integrated
hardware-software product, helping the hearing-impaired to
“hear clearer” and embrace a barrier-free, joyful, and sunny
social life with greater ease.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EERYE

The year 2025 is the inaugural year for the universal application
of general artificial intelligence for all people. In China, the
user base for generative artificial intelligence products has
reached 249 million people, accounting for 17.7% of the total
population, and the general artificial intelligence industry is
crossing the chasm towards large-scale growth. Xunfei Spark
Model is currently the only publicly available large model trained
using domestic computing power, And the Spark Medical
Model, which is developed based on it, comprehensively
surpasses industrial well-known systems and models such
as GPT-4 Turbo/GPT-40 and DeepSeek in core capabilities.
Maintaining leadership in core technology not only lays a solid
foundation and creates long-term technological barriers for
Xunfei Healthcare to independently solve essential end-to-end
problems in real-world scenarios in the future, but also makes
the dream of Al-empowered healthcare more attainable.
For example, in August 2024, Xunfei Healthcare, in close
collaboration with Academician Ge Junbo’s team, Zhongshan
Hospital affiliated with Fudan University and others, released
the Pan-Vascular Disease Comprehensive Management
Platform V2.0. This is a key special project for pan-vascular
disease prevention and control under the Ministry of Science
and Technology’s “14th Five-Year Plan” and has been launched
at the First Affiliated Hospital of University of Science and
Technology of China (Anhui Provincial Hospital), providing
strong support for improving the quality of pan-vascular disease
medical care and achieving the “Healthy China 2030” goals; in
March 2025, a core achievement of the national major special
project on the “Four Major Chronic Diseases”— the world’s
first Type 1 Diabetes-specific large model, was successfully
launched in Hefei. By integrating multimodal data and clinical
experience, and based on Xunfei Spark Medical Model X1,
it builds a full-chain digital intelligent prevention and control
system covering screening, typing, treatment and management,
providing an “Anhui paradigm” for national chronic disease
management.

Facing the wave of general artificial intelligence, while
maintaining leadership in key core technologies, we focus
more on long-term development, forming and consolidating
sustainable competitive advantages in the following aspects:

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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First, addressing the “hallucination” problem to make
healthcare artificial intelligence more reliable. We have achieved
technological innovations in enhancing medical professional
knowledge, doctors’ evidence-based thinking and reinforcement
learning from doctor expert feedback. By integrating external
knowledge bases and internal search methods, we can
significantly improve the accuracy, professionalism and
interpretability of the reasoning in healthcare scenarios,
addressing the “hallucination” issue of large models.

Second, building a “data flywheel” so that every diagnosis
and treatment by outstanding doctors becomes a cornerstone
for the iterative progress of the healthcare large model. We
have built our own high-quality medical knowledge base with
hundreds of millions of entries, accumulated reinforcement
learning data that are validated through over 900 million
Al-assisted diagnoses. We provide millions of diagnostic
services on a daily basis, and through continuous practice and
feedback, we construct a closed-loop “data-knowledge-model”
system, enabling the Spark Medical Model to form an iterative
evolution flywheel effect based on massive high-quality industry
data.

Third, developing multimodal capabilities to empower large
models in more numerous and comprehensive healthcare
scenarios. The implementation of large models in the healthcare
field requires multimodal capabilities. Combining technologies
such as intelligent speech and image recognition, our intelligent
voice outreach system has provided a cumulative total of 1.3
billion services. During the critical COVID-19 prevention and
control period, this system helped a coverage of 1 million people
in the Wuhan area within 3 hours, increasing manual screening
efficiency by over 40 times; the Anhui Provincial Cloud Medical
Imaging Platform provides digital imaging services and remote
imaging services, with estimated annual savings in medical
insurance expenses of approximately RMB2 billion.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EERYE

Fourth, building a developer ecosystem to foster the prosperous
development of the Al + healthcare industry. The Xunfei Open
Platform has opened up 808 Al products and capabilities,
bringing together a team of 8.34 million developers, and the
artificial intelligence industry ecosystem centered around iFlytek
continues to develop. In October 2024, in collaboration with
the Anhui Provincial Health Commission and the National Key
Laboratory of Cognitive Intelligence, we jointly launched the
open collaboration plan for a full-spectrum, full-modality medical
imaging large model, bringing together a team of imaging Al
researchers for co-construction and co-creation, enabling every
medical institution and practitioner to share the technological
bonuses brought by healthcare artificial intelligence.

We believe that, by embracing long-termism, adhering to
independent and controllable core technology innovation,
ensuring the practical application of products with the positive
impact of technology for good and giving back to society with
gratitude, we can certainly go further in the great tide of the era
of Al-empowered healthcare. Xunfei Healthcare will leverage
Hong Kong as an international platform, strive to develop into
a leading enterprise in the global healthcare Al field, and make
greater contributions to the future health of humanity!

XUNFEI HEALTHCARE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
Dr. Liu Qingfeng
Chairman
March 26, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The year 2024 marked a pivotal moment for medical large
language models (LLMs), with the global medical Al industry
driven by both technological breakthroughs and evolving
application scenarios. In China, the medical Al market is
expanding rapidly, fueled by advancements in Al, supportive
policies, growing healthcare demand, and digital economic
development. Breakthroughs in Al, particularly in LLMs,
have enabled remarkable progress in medical applications,
demonstrating strong performance in specialized tasks. These
innovations are not only driving global economic growth but
also unlocking significant opportunities in complex sectors like
healthcare. As the company with the largest number of doctors
and patients served by medical Al technology in China, we have
seized unprecedented growth opportunities. Amid this wave
of rapid technological and industry evolution, the Company
has made substantial progress in both core technology and
business expansion, laying a solid foundation for the next step
of leapfrog development.

CORE TECHNOLOGIES

Following the launch of Xunfei Spark Medical Model 1.0 in
October 2023, the model received a major upgrade on June
27, 2024, significantly enhancing its performance across
six core areas: medical Q&A, complex medical language
comprehension, professional document generation, disease
diagnosis and treatment recommendations, multi-round medical
dialogues, and multi-modal medical interactions. Its overall
effectiveness improved to 85%, with core capabilities surpassing
OpenAl GPT-4 Turbo by 5%. In the healthcare-focused LLM
evaluation conducted by the China Academy of Information and
Communications Technology (CAICT) in June 2024, the model
outperformed major competitors in key sub-tasks, including
patient profiling, health intervention planning, medical record
generation and quality control, interpretation of examination
and test reports, and interpretation of physical examination
reports. Additionally, it demonstrated strong expertise in a
wide range of fields such as general health knowledge, disease
encyclopaedias, medication guidance, electronic medical
record (EMR) structuring, professional knowledge integration
into daily routine, intelligent examination assistance, doctor and
hospital navigation, initial diagnosis support, examination and
test recommendations, assisted diagnosis, disease diagnosis
assistance, and medication safety guidance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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On October 24, 2024, Xunfei Healthcare officially launched
the Xunfei Spark Medical Model 2.0, delivering significant
enhancements across the six core scenarios mentioned above.
Its overall effectiveness reached 88%, with core capabilities
comprehensively surpassing OpenAl GPT-4 Turbo and GPT-
40. At the same time, the Company introduced the Xunfei Spark
Medical Imaging Model. Leveraging 100m-level medical images
from the Anhui Province Cloud Medical Imaging Platform,
this advanced model powers an intelligent medical imaging
assistant, enabling the entire process of “intelligent quality
control, diagnostic assistance, and image interpretation”.

On November 2, 2024, in collaboration with West China Hospital
of Sichuan University, we launched the “Huaxi Hongyi” medical
LLM. This model excels in the quality control of complex medical
records. Practical tests demonstrate its 90% accuracy in
handling intricate quality control tasks, such as diagnosing and
monitoring treatment behaviors and surgical procedure quality
control, greatly improving both personnel efficiency and content
accuracy. On November 7, 2024, Xunfei Healthcare partnered
with Beijing Anzhen Hospital to introduce a specialized cardiac
diagnosis LLM, marking a major breakthrough in assisted
diagnosis for cardiovascular diseases. Leveraging Beijing
Anzhen Hospital’s high-quality expertise, the model integrates
an intelligent cardiac ultrasound reporting system, driving
new advancements in cardiovascular disease diagnosis and
treatment.

On March 3, 2025, Xunfei Healthcare officially launched the
Xunfei Spark Medical Model X1 built on the deep reasoning
technology, China’s only medical deep reasoning LLM trained
entirely on domestically produced computing power. Developed
using Xunfei Healthcare’s extensive, 100m-level authoritative
medical knowledge base and high-quality desensitized
diagnostic and treatment data, X1 introduces key technological
advancements. These include enhanced medical expertise,
evidence-based clinical reasoning, and reinforced learning
from medical experts’ feedback, significantly reducing medical
hallucinations while improving accuracy, professionalism, and
interpretability in clinical decision-making. Real-world scenario
testing shows that X1 achieved a 94% rationality rate in auxiliary
diagnosis for general diseases, a 90% rationality rate in auxiliary
(main) diagnosis for specialized diseases, and an 89% response
rate for health consultations, all surpassing GPT-40 and
DeepSeek R1.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On March 3, 2025, Xunfei Healthcare, in partnership with
Huawei, launched the fully localized Xunfei Spark Medical All-in-
One Machine, designed for medical applications. This advanced
system supports the Xunfei Spark Medical Model X1 alongside
various open-source models, enabling seamless collaboration
between heterogeneous models, rapid deployment, and
out-of-the-box usability. Equipped with the Xunfei Medical
Intelligence Agent Platform, the all-in-one machine offers 20
specialized medical intelligence agents, covering tasks such as
automatic generation and quality control of medical records,
intelligent follow-ups, and report interpretation. By integrating
deep reasoning with industry-specific insights, it enhances
healthcare knowledge capabilities by 30% while reducing
model hallucinations by 10%. Furthermore, leveraging the
Ascend hardware, the system significantly boosts reasoning
performance, driving a 40% improvement in Xunfei Spark
Medical Model X1’s inference efficiency.

Xunfei Healthcare, in collaboration with CAICT, led multiple
domestic medical institutions, research institutes, and
information technology (IT) enterprises, developed and officially
released the “Technical Requirements for the Application of
LLMs in the Healthcare Industry, Part 5: Clinical Research”
(Standard No.: 2024-0026T-IHIA), “Technical Requirements
for the Application of LLMs in the Healthcare Industry, Part 8:
Traditional Chinese Medicine” (Standard No.: 2024-0027T-IHIA),
and “Governance Specifications for Synthetic Services of LLMs
in the Healthcare Industry, Part 2: Algorithm Models” (Standard
No.: 2024-0028T-IHIA). So far, we have co-led the development
of seven standards for LLMs in the healthcare industry,
further establishing an improved framework covering security
management, data governance, and clinical applications, among
other dimensions.

With rapid improvements in LLM technology, performance
ceilings continue to rise while training and inference costs
decline exponentially, paving the way for a new phase of
accelerated growth in medical Al. The Company believes that
the healthcare sector, given its direct impact on human health,
demands Al solutions that meet exceptionally high standards
in professionalism, breadth, depth, and adaptability to the
evolving medical landscape and personalized healthcare needs.
Furthermore, the critical nature of accuracy and safety in
medicine underscores the necessity for ongoing advancements
in LLM technology and its seamless integration into the industry.
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Currently, Xunfei Healthcare’s LLMs offer the following six
advantages in industry application:

Long-term, extensive accumulation of medical knowledge
and data: These mainly include 100m-level, high-accuracy
medical knowledge, high-quality data, and reinforced
learning data in the medical field;

Fully self-developed and continuously innovated LLM
technologies: Our proprietary Spark LLM base incorporates
supervision, fine-tuning, reinforced learning, and safe,
controllable core technologies, along with hardware
engineering adaptation and an efficient toolchain/system
platform. Through ongoing innovation, we ensure logical
consistency, professionalism, and interpretability in medical
reasoning;

Fully localized hardware and software for self-reliance
and controllability: Following the technical path of entirely
localized medical LLM hardware and software, we have
devised integrated technical solutions for efficient training
and reasoning based on domestically produced computing
power platforms, such as Huawei’s Ascend;

Systematic and innovative Al capabilities across general
and specialized medicine: Our Al solutions cover medical
text, audio, images, graphical data, and other forms of
content, addressing immediate needs under real-world
scenarios;

Technology deployment and service assurance: With
extensive experience in scaling Al applications and
providing industry-wide technical services, we excel in
translating product requirements into effective solutions,
ensuring continuous upgrades and full-chain service
support;

Firm commitment to the localization of hardware and
software for self-reliance and controllability: Looking
ahead, Xunfei Healthcare remains committed to the path
of localization for self-reliance and controllability. By
addressing immediate needs in the medical industry, we
will strengthen our advantages and build a complete set of
methods for researching and implementing original medical
Al technologies.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The enhancement of its core technology and product
capabilities is attributable to the Company’s unswerving
investment in research and development (R&D). For the year
ended December 31, 2024, its total R&D investment (including
R&D expenses and development expenditures) reached
RMB296.8 million (of which R&D investment in core technology
amounted to RMB82 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 13.2%), accounting for 40.4% of its total revenue for
2024,

BUSINESS REVIEW

While maintaining our leadership in core medical LLM
technology, the Company launched extensive cooperation with
China’s top medical institutions in 2024, achieving remarkable
results and recognition from authoritative institutions:

° Our deputy general manager, Mr. Lu Xiaoliang, was
honored with the First Prize in the National Science and
Technology Progress Award by the State Council of the
People’s Republic of China (PRC) as a team member;

° At the 7th Digital China Summit, the National Data
Administration, in collaboration with other departments,
released the first 20 national benchmark cases of Data
Elements X across 12 industries and fields. General
Practice CDSS was selected as one of the first benchmark
cases in the medical and healthcare sector;

o We were recognized as the “Key Laboratory for Medical
Al Research and Application in Anhui Province” by the
Department of Science and Technology of Anhui Province;

° We jointly released the “Hongyi LLM” with West China
Hospital of Sichuan University, and a multi-modal LLM,
the “Cardiac Ultrasound Diagnosis Decision System”, with
Beijing Anzhen Hospital and Beihang University;

° Our “Hefei Intelligent Multi-point Trigger Early Warning
System for Infectious Disease Prevention and Control”
won the First Prize in the Intelligent Service Category at
the Second National Digital Health Innovation Application
Competition;

° Our General Practice CDSS received the Excellence Award
in the Fourth Yangtze River Delta Health Governance Best
Practice Case Selection in 2024;
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° Our Al-powered Image Interconnection and Interoperability
in Anhui Province was selected as one of the top ten Al
application scenarios in the Yangtze River Delta;

° Our “Cognitive LLM Empowers Local Image Cloud and
Enhances Medical Service Efficiency” and “Exploring
Integrated Al Chronic Disease Management Based on
Digital Medical Community” were selected as “People’s
Health—Healthy China Innovative Practice Case of 2024” by
People.cn;

° We received the Gold Award for Public Welfare Marketing
in the China Innovation Communication Awards (Dandelion
Award).

At the end of 2024, the Company was successfully listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange as the “first medical LLM stock”,
opening a new chapter for its future growth.

In 2024, the Company actively pursued market expansion and
continued to grow its customer base. As of December 31,
2024, the Company provided products and services to over
70,000 primary healthcare (PHC) institutions spanning over
670 districts and counties in more than 30 provinces as well
as more than 500 higher-level hospitals (including more than
40 out of China’s top 100 hospitals and 7 out of China’s top
10 hospitals). The extensive market coverage underscores the
technological leadership and market competitiveness of our
Al-powered medical products. It also highlights the efficiency
of our marketing system, laying a solid foundation for the next
phase of rapid business development.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Leveraging its leading technological capabilities, extensive KL BLNFEMEN BZNETFPER

customer base, and brand recognition, the Company continues
to improve its operational efficiency and seize new profit
opportunities through synergistic commercialization strategies.
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded
revenue of RMB734.0 million, representing an increase of
32.0% as compared with the revenue of RMB556.1 million for
the previous year. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company’s gross profit was RMB404.1 million, reflecting an
increase of 28.4% as compared with that of the previous year.
Our gross profit margin was 55.1%, maintaining at a reasonable
high level with a slight decrease of 1.5 percentage points from
that of the previous year. This was primarily because in 2024,
the Company made technical upgrades to most of its hospital
services and products based on medical LLMs, which resulted
in a decline in revenue and gross profit margin during the early
marketing phase. As these products mature, the Company
anticipates rapid revenue growth alongside an improvement in
gross profit levels.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s revenue
was mainly derived from PHC services and patient services.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Company’s
revenue by business segment for the periods indicated:
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PHC services EEEERE 237,031 32.3 142,487 60.1 239,754 431 143,685 59.9

Hospital services ERR% 132,035 18.0 61,016 46.2 64,912 17 36,308 55.9
Regional healthcare EHERTA

solutions BARRR 158,755 20.9 81,864 53.2 116,638 21.0 57,239 491

Patient services BERHK 211,163 288 118,717 56.2 134,821 24.2 77,422 57.4

Total i 733,984 100.0 404,084 55.1 566,125 100.0 314,664 56.6
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As a leader in China’s medical Al sector, the Company leverages
its cutting-edge medical LLM technologies and extensive
medical knowledge graphs built through the largest-scale
commercial application. Our mission is to create an Al medical
assistant for every doctor and an Al health partner for everyone.
To achieve this, we have rolled out two series of products, that
is, Intelligent Assistant and Intelligent Health Partner. These
products redefine the way Al works in areas, including health
risk warnings, early health screening, auxiliary diagnosis and
treatment, post-discharge patient management, and chronic
disease management.

Utilizing our two core capability platforms, LLMs and big
data, and our two core product series, Intelligent Assistant
and Intelligent Health Partner, the Company has developed a
diversified Al-powered product matrix that serves government,
business, and consumer (GBC) users. This matrix includes:
(1) Empowering healthy city governance: We provide medical
Al technologies to address key government priorities, such as
strengthening PHC services, improving disease prevention and
control, and enhancing the efficiency of healthcare insurance
use; (2) Empowering hospital quality and efficiency improvement:
We offer comprehensive Al solutions for hospitals to improve
medical quality, patient satisfaction, and hospital management
efficiency; and (38) Empowering personal health: We provide
digital imaging services, post-discharge patient management
services, a home health consulting and management APP (the
Xunfei Xiaoyi APP), and home medical devices (hearing aids),
supporting individuals throughout their entire health journey.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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In 2024, the “Decision of the CPC Central Committee on Further
Comprehensively Deepening Reform and Promoting Chinese
Modernization” explicitly emphasized the need to strengthen
PHC services. In response, the National Health Commission
of the PRC (NHC) called for a grassroots-focused approach to
reviewing and optimizing the healthcare system, service models,
and healthcare concepts and order. The NHC also prioritized
the implementation of foundational healthcare projects and
the further expansion, decentralization, and equitable regional
distribution of high-quality medical resources.

In 2024, the NHC, together with the State Administration of
Traditional Chinese Medicine and the National Disease Control
and Prevention Administration, issued the “Reference Guidelines
for Artificial Intelligence Application Scenarios in the Healthcare
Industry”, which further strengthened the support for the
medical Al industry and the deep integration of Al technologies
in the healthcare industry.
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In recent years, governments at all levels have increasingly
promoted the adoption of Al technologies in auxiliary diagnosis
and treatment. For primary care physicians, Al is encouraged
to provide diagnostic and treatment recommendations,
enhance medical capabilities, standardize clinical workflows,
and reduce medical errors. Al also supports family doctors by
automating repetitive tasks such as chronic disease screening,
intelligent assessments, follow-ups, and personalized patient
education, allowing them to focus more on diagnosis, treatment,
and patient care. This integration effectively strengthens the
coordination of medical treatment and disease prevention,
improving patient recovery outcomes. For doctors in higher-
level hospitals, Al is rapidly transforming pre-, intra-, and post-
diagnosis processes, including intelligent triage, management
and quality control of medical records, image-based diagnosis,
clinical decision support, and scientific research. These
advancements significantly enhance diagnostic and treatment
efficiency and streamline healthcare management processes.

These policies are expected to drive increased investment in the
medical Al sector over the coming years, accelerating industry
growth. With its leading core medical LLM technologies and
extensive nationwide deployment of its mature products, the
Company is well-positioned to capitalize on this momentum and
achieve rapid market expansion.

PHC SERVICES

General Practice CDSS: As of December 31, 2024, General
Practice CDSS was adopted in over 70,000 PHC institutions
across over 670 districts and counties in over 30 provinces
and cities nationwide, accumulating approximately 910 million
Al-assisted diagnosis suggestions and over 350 million
standardized electronic medical records. It has prompted
corrections in over 1.6 million significant medical records,
identified 86 million unreasonable prescriptions, increased the
rationality rate of auxiliary diagnosis from approximately 90%
in 2021 to approximately 95% currently, and improved the
accuracy rate of prescription review from approximately 93% in
2021 to approximately 95% currently. It now covers over 1,900
diseases, effectively reducing the risks of misdiagnosis, missed
diagnosis, and medication errors. There are a total of 2,843
districts and counties across mainland China, indicating that
there is still significant room for improvement in the penetration
rate of General Practice CDSS. Driven by national, provincial
and municipal policies, our Intelligent Assistant is set to enter a
phase of rapid growth.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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Chronic Disease Management: The Company’s Al chronic
disease management system is designed in accordance
with China’s basic public health service norms and business
guidelines, including the “National Primary Care Guidelines for
Hypertension Management” and the “National Primary Care
Guidelines for Diabetes Management”. The system automates
key aspects of chronic disease management, such as screening,
risk categorization and grading, follow-ups, personalized
health education, and lifestyle interventions. This enables
family doctors to focus on diagnosis, treatment, and patient
care, effectively fostering the integration of medical treatment
and prevention, improving chronic disease control rates, and
reducing hospitalization rates due to complications. During the
Reporting Period, the chronic disease management system
was deployed in over 100 districts and counties across Gansu,
Anhui, Jiangsu, Hebei, Liaoning, Henan, and Sichuan provinces.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s revenue
from PHC services was RMB237.0 million, representing 32.3%
of its total revenue for 2024.

HOSPITAL SERVICES

Smart Hospital Solutions: With advancements in medical
LLM capabilities, the Company’s Smart Hospital Solutions
have gained greater traction, leading to deeper collaborations
with more higher-level hospitals and enterprises. In April 2024,
Xunfei Healthcare, West China Hospital of Sichuan University,
and Huawei entered into a strategic cooperation agreement.
This partnership focuses on innovative medical service models,
enhanced patient experience, and the application of medical
LLM technologies to drive Al adoption in hospitals, improve
healthcare quality and public health outcomes. As part of our
initiative to establish West China Hospital as a benchmark for Al-
powered healthcare, we launched an integrated patient service
solution in West China Hospital of Sichuan University that has
cumulatively served over 13 million patient visits. Additionally,
the Company’s intelligent big data platform solutions support
hospitals in developing “lakehouse” infrastructure, enhancing
operation management and research capabilities. Currently,
pilot projects in hospitals across Shenzhen, Beijing, and other
locations have facilitated the storage of ten billion-level data
entries, with a daily real-time data increment of 20 million.
Our research platform also supports the development of three
specialized disease research cohorts, each comprising 100,000
individuals.
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Intelligent Assistant: Through ongoing technological
innovation, the Company’s Intelligent Assistant supports
hospitals and physicians in diagnosing, treating, and managing
both general and specialized diseases, enhancing work
efficiency and service quality of doctors in higher-level hospitals.
Specialized CDSS (Clinical Decision Support System) for
higher-level hospitals now covers over 1,700 diseases, while
the VTE (Venous Thromboembolism) system enables intelligent
assessment of over 170 VTE-related items, achieving over 97%
consistency with expert evaluations.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s revenue
from hospital services hit RMB132.0 million, representing an
increase of 103.4% over 2023 and accounting for 18.0% of its
total revenue for 2024.

REGIONAL HEALTHCARE SOLUTIONS

In 2024, China introduced a series of policies to strengthen the
development of new medical and healthcare infrastructure. Al
and digital technologies were leveraged to address disparities
in medical resources, advance public health reforms, and drive
the high-quality development of public hospitals. For instance,
the Sanming model in healthcare reform was promoted to
accelerate the establishment of medical communities, develop
an infectious disease monitoring and forewarning system,
and support the high-quality development of three batches of
public hospitals. Guided by these major national policies, the
Company utilized world-leading core medical Al technologies
and standardized products to develop scenario-based solutions.
Through proactive market expansion, we capitalized on a critical
window to establish base cities, driving rapid overall business
growth.

Regional Healthcare Administrator Services: Through
strategic market planning and expansion, the Company has
secured multiple provincial-level projects for infectious disease
forewarning, alert, and response system (EWARS) platform
in Anhui Province, Henan Province, and Qinghai Province.
Looking ahead, the Company will collaborate on advancing the
application of medical LLMs in disease control, contributing
its Al expertise to China’s infectious disease prevention and
control efforts. Additionally, the Company have applied LLM
technologies to the governance and intelligent utilization of
urban and regional health data, initiating collaborations in
Changning District, Shanghai, and Longhua District, Shenzhen.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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Medical Insurance Administrative Solutions: Xunfei
Healthcare has actively supported the needs for DRG
(Diagnosis-Related Groups) and DIP (Diagnosis-Intervention
Packet) payment methods as proposed under the Sanming
healthcare reform by developing an intelligent risk control system
for medical insurance. This system analyses the full content
of medical records, leveraging Al to provide comprehensive
diagnosis and treatment services to medical institutions based
on EMRs and medical insurance settlement data. It enables
refined management under the DRG/DIP payment mode while
offering end-to-end fund supervision services to medical
insurance bureaus — before, during, and after settlement.
Addressing challenges such as limited manpower, expertise,
and oversight capabilities in medical insurance fund supervision,
the system significantly enhances fund utilization efficiency
and promotes systematic governance and standardized fund
management. Currently, it is in regular operation in Lvliang
City, Shanxi Province, and Pu’er City, Yunnan Province, with
deployments in Hefei (Anhui), Guiyang (Guizhou), Wuzhou
(Guangxi), Jiujiang (Jiangxi), and other locations. Ultimately, it
fosters the coordinated development and governance of medical
insurance, healthcare, and pharmaceuticals.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s revenue
from regional healthcare solutions stood at RMB153.8 million,
representing an increase of 31.8% as compared to 2023 and
accounting for 20.9% of its total revenue for 2024.

INTELLIGENT HEALTH PARTNER PRODUCT
SERIES

With a mission to become a health partner for everyone, the
Company has developed Al-powered health assistants based on
the Xunfei Spark Medical Model and advanced Al technologies
such as intelligent voice interaction. These assistants comprise
four key components: Al-driven post-discharge patient
management, the Xunfei Xiaoyi APP, the Cloud Medical Imaging
Platform, and intelligent medical devices. By offering Al-enabled
health partner services, the Company extends its reach to end-
users, driving long-term and stable profitability growth.
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Al-driven Post-discharge Patient Management: The
Statistical Bulletin on the Development of China’s Health and
Wellness Undertakings reports that patient admissions reached
300 million in 2023. Without continuous post-discharge care,
emergencies lacking timely guidance and treatment can lead to
severe health risks and unnecessary strain on social healthcare
resources. In recent years, China has increasingly prioritized
post-discharge patient management. The “Opinions on Further
Improving the Medicine and Healthcare System”, issued by the
General Offices of the CPC Central Committee and the State
Council, calls for an “expanded supply of follow-up services
such as rehabilitation and nursing care”. Similarly, the NHC, in
its “Circular on the Themed Activity to Improve Medical Care
Experience and Enhance Patient Satisfaction”, emphasizes the
need to “strengthen post-discharge patient management and
follow-ups”.

The Company’s Al-driven post-discharge patient management
system, fully upgraded based on the Xunfei Spark Medical
Model, can comprehensively analyze EMRs, automatically
extract key diagnostic and treatment information, and generate
personalized recovery plans based on evidence-based disease
management knowledge. Additionally, leveraging advanced
technologies such as content generation, speech recognition,
and speech synthesis, the system enables more natural and
interactive patient engagement. It assists physicians in delivering
disease information and rehabilitation guidance, regularly
assesses patient conditions, provides lifestyle improvement
recommendations, and identifies potential risks based on patient
feedback, ensuring timely alerts for physicians when necessary.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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As of December 31, 2024, our Al-driven post-discharge patient
management system became operational in a large number
of hospitals, including the West China Hospital of Sichuan
University, Tongji Hospital affiliated to Tongji Medical College of
Huazhong University of Science & Technology, Beijing Tiantan
Hospital affiliated to Capital Medical University, Beijing Tongren
Hospital affiliated to Capital Medical University, Zhongnan
Hospital of Wuhan University, Zhongda Hospital of Southeast
University, Shandong Provincial Hospital, the First Affiliated
Hospital of Henan University, the First Hospital of Hebei Medical
University, the Affiliated Hospital of Hebei University, Gansun
Provincial Central Hospital, the People’s Hospital of Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region, and the First Affiliated Hospital of China
University of Science and Technology. At West China Hospital
of Sichuan University, for instance, the system has served more
than 1.2 million patients, and achieved a 100% follow-up rate for
discharged patients. In 2024, the system expanded into leading
hospitals across six provinces/autonomous regions, that is,
Jiangsu, Shandong, Henan, Hebei, Gansu, and Ningxia, which
laid a solid foundation for broader adoption and rapid growth
across these areas in 2025.

Xunfei Xiaoxi App: On June 27, 2024, Xunfei Healthcare
launched an upgrade to the Xunfei Xiaoyi APP, enhancing its
capabilities for personalized applications in specialized fields by
introducing the Personal Digital Health Space. This Al-powered
health partner aims to serve individuals and families alike. The
Personal Digital Health Space creates a tailored digital health
environment based on users’ personalized information, such as
EMRs, examination reports, and physical examination results.
It offers in-depth analysis of potential health issues prior to
doctor visits, provides personalized drug contraindication
recommendations, and tracks changes in health data through
examination comparisons. Additionally, the app can monitor
the health status of other family members by enabling role
switching. With these advancements, the Xunfei Xiaoyi APP now
covers 1,600 common diseases, 2,800 common medicines,
and 6,000 common tests and examinations, addressing users’
core health needs across pre-visit, medication, and post-test
scenarios.
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As of December 31, 2024, the Xunfei Xiaoyi APP was
downloaded over 20 million times, with a user satisfaction rate
of 98% and a user recommendation rate of 42%. On March
3, 2025, the Xunfei Spark Medical Model X1 was officially
integrated into the app. This deeper integration with personal
health records allows the app to gain a comprehensive
understanding of users’ health conditions, anticipate their
potential needs, and provide more personalized, specific, and
actionable medical advice. This marks a significant step toward
becoming an Al-driven personal health partner. During the
Reporting Period, the Xunfei Xiaoyi APP generated no revenue.
Moving forward, the Company plans to explore potential
business models for the app by incorporating professional
medical services.

Cloud Medical Imaging Platform for Auxiliary Diagnosis:
The Company has built the largest regional imaging data
connectivity and recognition cloud platform in China in Anhui
Province, with data service usage exceeding 112 million times.
In November 2024, seven national ministries and commissions,
including the National Healthcare Security Administration
and the National Health Commission, issued the “Guiding
Opinions on Further Promoting Mutual Recognition of Medical
Examination and Test Results across Medical Institutions”. This
directive mandates that by the end of 2025, all public hospitals
at level Il and above should implement inter-institutional access
to examination and test results. Additionally, the “Guidelines
for Pricing of Radiological Inspection-related Medical Services”
issued by three national ministries, including the National Health
Commission, stipulates that digital imaging services should
be offered by medical institutions as part of their examination
items. If not, a deduction of RMB5/part under examination will
apply. In response to these policies, which strongly support
Al-enabled medical image access and diagnosis, Xunfei
Healthcare has developed a cloud medical imaging platform
for auxiliary diagnosis. This platform enables physicians at all
levels of hospitals across provinces to upload image results
and access data and reports from other hospitals. It facilitates
healthcare data interconnection, reducing unnecessary repeated
examinations and preventing patients from unnecessary
radiation exposure. The platform offers remote consultation
services, digital imaging services, cloud-based radiology
information systems (RIS)/picture archiving and communication
systems (PACS), equipment and infrastructure services, as well
as Al-assisted image diagnosis.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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In October 2024, the Company launched the Xunfei Spark
Medical Imaging Model along with an intelligent medical imaging
assistant built on this model. The system deeply integrates Al
technologies in medical imaging, utilizing image recognition
algorithms and medical cognitive intelligence engines to
establish a cross-institution image data interconnection and
communication system. It enables efficient collaboration
of large-scale image data through intelligent compression,
transmission technologies, and distributed cloud storage
solutions, significantly reducing the number of repeated image
examinations and the associated costs. In the intelligent quality
control process, the imaging assistant helps technicians
quickly assess image quality and address examination
issues promptly. In intelligent diagnosis, it supports imaging
physicians in rapidly generating diagnostic reports, providing
traceability explanations, and making multi-period comparisons.
During intelligent image interpretation, the assistant connects
to medical imaging LLMs, aiding clinicians in formulating
diagnostic and treatment plans through relevant Q&As. To date,
the Company has established and operates China’s first cloud
medical imaging platform that achieves interconnection and
mutual recognition. This platform is expected to be promoted
efficiently across other regions outside Anhui Province, driven by
the favorable policies such as the “Guiding Opinions on Further
Promoting Mutual Recognition of Medical Examination and Test
Results across Medical Institutions” and the “Guidelines for
Pricing of Radiological Inspection-related Medical Services”.

As at December 31, 2024, over 1,970 medical institutions and
over 3,200 experts registered on the platform. As at the same
date, the cloud medical imaging platform served nearly 8.49
million remote consultations in Anhui Province.
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Intelligent Medical Devices: During the 14th Five-Year Plan
period, China’s population aged 60 and above will surpass
300 million, marking a transition from a mildly ageing society
to a moderately ageing one. Hearing loss is a prevalent issue
among the elderly. The Company’s medical devices primarily
include hearing aids, which are sold to individual customers
via e-commerce platforms. Equipped with the Company’s
internally developed scene recognition system, AlScene,
these hearing aids can monitor users’ environment in real-
time, offering functions such as sound enhancement and noise
reduction. In 2022, Xunfei smart hearing aids were launched,
followed by an upgraded premium version in the same year.
With excellent performance, an intelligent user experience, and
affordable prices, they have been highly praised by the market
and consumers. In April 2024, the Company introduced the
Xing series, a new line of hearing aids featuring a behind-the-
ear design. This series is equipped with the upgraded scene
recognition system, intelligent 64 channels, 32 adjustable
frequency points, and a full-scale gain of up to 70 decibels,
catering to individuals with profound hearing loss. Empowered
by the Xunfei Spark Medical Model, these hearing aids are
ushering in a new era of Al in the hearing aid market.

In December 2024, the Company launched the pro-version
intelligent behind-the-ear hearing aids: Haoyue/Yingyue series.
These hearing aids integrate our advanced intelligent speech
recognition technology and feature comprehensive upgrades,
including multimodal subtitle assistance and a deep-sea-level
noise reduction system. The multimodal subtitle assistance
function transcribes speech into text in real time, allowing users
to “see” the sound, which enhances communication. Research
indicates that combining vision and hearing significantly
improves speech comprehension compared to relying on
hearing or vision alone. The Haoyue/Yingyue series empowers
individuals with hearing loss to approach the hearing levels of
those with normal hearing, offering an optimal user experience.

In 2024, our hearing aids ranked among the top three brands
on China’s major e-commerce platforms, JD.com and Tmall.
During the “618 Shopping Festival”, they ranked first in the
hearing aid category on Tmall and second on JD.com. During
the “Double Eleven Shopping Festival”, they ranked second on
both platforms. As of December 31, 2024, the cumulative sales
of smart hardware hearing aids exceeded 140,000 units.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s revenue
from patient services was RMB211.2 million, representing an
increase of 56.6% over 2023 and accounting for 28.8% of its
total revenue for 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

The Company’s total revenue increased by 32.0% from
RMB556.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB734.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the growth from patient
services (56.6% year-on-year growth in revenue), hospital
services (103.4% year-on-year growth in revenue) and regional
healthcare solutions (31.8% year-on-year growth in revenue).

COST OF SALES

The Company’s cost of sales increased by 36.6% from
RMB241.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB329.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
primarily due to the increase in costs as revenue grew.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Company’s gross profit increased by 28.4% from RMB314.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB404.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company’s
gross profit margin was 56.6% and 55.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the year ended December 31, 2024,
respectively, representing a small change.

OTHER INCOME

The Company’s other income decreased by 14.3% from
RMB48.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB41.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
primarily due to the decrease in value-added tax refund income
as well as government grants for the period.
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IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT
LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

The Company’s impairment losses under the expected credit
loss model, net of reversal, increased by 116.6% from RMB6.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB13.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to
the increase in the trade receivables, contract assets and the
balance of long-term receivables as at the end of the period.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

The Company’s other gains were RMBO0.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to other losses of RMBO.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to
the decrease in income from purchase of wealth management
products and the increase in donations for the period.

SELLING EXPENSES

The Company’s selling expenses increased by 17.8% from
RMB163.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB192.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in advertising
and promotion expenses arising from the investment in smart
hearing aids and Xunfei Xiaoyi APP’s advertising and promotion.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Company’s administrative expenses decreased by 14.8%
from RMB112.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to RMB95.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, primarily due to the decrease in amortization of equity
incentives.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

The Company’s research and development expenses increased
by 3.0% from RMB264.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to RMB271.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2024, primarily due to the increase in labor costs for
core technology research and development and product
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LISTING EXPENSES

Listing expenses refer to professional fees, underwriting
commissions and other expenses incurred in connection with
the Global Offering. The Company’s listing expenses increased
by 880.0% from RMB3.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to RMB38.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2024,

FINANCE COSTS

The Company’s finance costs increased by 407.0% from RMB1.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB6.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the
increase in relevant interest expenses of bank borrowings.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The Company’s income tax credit amounted to RMB32.7 million
and RMB34.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and
for the year ended December 31, 2024, respectively, primarily
due to the increase in deferred income tax expenses.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Based on the foregoing, the Company’s loss for the year
decreased by 10.8% from RMB154.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to RMB137.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

NON-IFRS MEASURES

To supplement the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are presented in accordance with IFRS,
the Company uses adjusted net loss for the year (non-IFRS
measure) and adjusted net loss margin (non-IFRS measure)
as additional financial measures, which are not required by, or
presented in accordance with, IFRS. The Company believes that
these non-IFRS measures help to compare operating results
across periods and companies by eliminating the potential
impacts of certain items. The Company believes that these
non-IFRS measures, when presented in conjunction with the
corresponding IFRS measures, provide useful information for
potential investors and management by eliminating the potential
impact of certain items, helping to compare the Company’s
operating performance across periods.
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The Company defines adjusted loss for the year (non-IFRS
measure) as loss for the year adjusted by adding back equity-
settled share-based payments and listing expenses. Equity-
settled share-based payments are non-cash in nature and
mainly refer to arrangements where the Company receives
employee services as consideration for equity instruments.
Equity-settled share-based payments are not expected to
result in future cash payments. Listing expenses are expenses
for professional fees, underwriting commissions and other
expenses incurred in connection with the Global Offering. The
use of non-IFRS measures as analytical tools has limitations,
and they should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for or superior to analysis of the Company’s operating results
or financial condition as reported under IFRS. In addition, the
definition of non-IFRS measures may differ from similarly titled
terms used by other companies.

The following table is a reconciliation of adjusted net loss for the
year (non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net loss margin (non-IFRS
measure) for the periods indicated:

NEAFFALAREBCGERRM B RS
RERFTE) FRE AL INE AR & E IR
MAREROINR EMRAXHBNOHA
BR UERGEEURORBERE N
REBREHE T2REAFEXEER
BESBAETAEREBENTE - UERS
BUABRODAERNINEATEERNE
EREBREENK - EHRAX /A EIRE
EEEANEXER BHAZLHEME
P RIS o £ A SF B BR B 7% e &5 2RI &
EERIMIAGFERRME  TERKH
BRBINIBMAKER ARREBERK
MHEBRELNMERNKLEXEIYH
RILE) DA o tL S - SEBIBR A S 3RS &
AFFEMERARREEMAREANR
T =E B AR

T 5 /5 51 7R 49 09 4 0 18 8 8% 45 18 R
B9 AR ) B BRI R
GBI R & 2R 8) H % R

For the year ended
December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Loss and total comprehensive FRAEERZEHAXEAE
expense for the year (137,636) (154,224)
Add: Equity-settled share-based M- EREEUAROBER
payments F-EN 54,628 93,331
Add: Listing expenses m: EmEHEX 38,231 3,901
Adjusted net loss for the year FAKLBAEFERS
(non-IFRS measure) (EEIBREBM B |MEERTE) (44,777) (56,992)
Adjusted net loss margin (non- KHARZEERCGEEERB®
IFRS measure) (%) HEERTTE) (%) (6.1%) (10.2%)
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LIQUIDITY AND SOURCES OF FUNDS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company primarily
met our cash requirements through shareholder capital
contribution, bank borrowings, and cash generated from
operations. As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024,
the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were RMB142.5
million and RMB676.8 million, respectively. Cash and cash
equivalents of the Group are mainly held in HK$ as at December

31, 2024.

The following table sets forth the Company’s cash flows for the

years indicated:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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For the year ended
December 31,

BZE12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in millions RMB in millions
ARMEBEETR ARBEET
Net cash used in operating activities & & FBFTHIR 4 R (134.1) (314.3)
Net cash from (used in) investing HEERSAB(FA)RSE
activities FER (4.3) 0.5
Net cash from financing activities BMEEHMEREFE 672.6 293.3
Net increase/(decrease) incash BRERBLZEYE M, G 2D)
and cash equivalents FE 534.3 (20.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYVNReRAEEYD
beginning of the year 142.5 163.0
Cash and cash equivalents atthe EFXRBEERBESEEY - LR
end of the year, presented as THBREASI R
bank balances and cash 676.8 142.5

Looking ahead, the Company believes that the Company will be
able to meet its liquidity requirements by using cash generated  FJ &
from operating activities and the net proceeds from the Global

Offering.
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NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s net
cash used in operating activities was RMB134.1 million, which
was mainly due to loss before tax of RMB172.0 million, adjusted
by non-cash and non-operating items, which mainly consisted of
an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB255.6 million,
and such cash outflow was partially offset by (i) equity-settled
share-based payments of RMB54.6 million; (ii) other intangible
asset amortization of RMB37.7 million; and (i) an increase in
bill, trade and other payables of RMB148.2 million. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Company’s net cash used in
operating activities was RMB314.3 million, which was mainly
due to loss before tax of RMB186.9 million, adjusted by non-
cash and non-operating items, which mainly consisted of an
increase in trade and other receivables of RMB187.1 million, and
such cash outflow was partially offset by (i) equity-settled share-
based payments of RMB93.3 million; and (ii) an increase in bill,
trade and other payables of RMB85.1 million.

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s net
cash used in investing activities was RMB4.3 million, which was
mainly attributable to withdrawals of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB75.3 million, partially offset by (i)
the purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of RMB50.0 million; and (ii) the purchase of other intangible
assets of RMB25.0 million. During the year ended December
31, 2023, the Company’s net cash from investing activities was
RMBO0.5 million, which was mainly attributable to withdrawals of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RMB373.5
million, partially offset by (i) purchase of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of RMB312.6 million; (i) purchase
of other intangible assets of RMB25.7 million; and (iii) the
acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB24.2 million.
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NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s net
cash generated from financing activities was RMB672.6 million,
which was mainly attributable to (i) proceeds from the issuance
of ordinary shares of RMB539.3 million and; (ii) bank borrowings
raised of RMB340.0 million, partially offset by the repayment of
bank borrowings of RMB183.2 million. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company’s net cash generated from
financing activities was RMB293.3 million, which was mainly
attributable to (i) proceeds from the issuance of ordinary
shares of RMB210.0 million and; (i) bank borrowings raised
of RMB128.0 million, partially offset by the repayment of bank
borrowings of RMB40.0 million.

INDEBTEDNESS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had
indebtedness in the form of bank borrowings and lease liabilities
(both current and non-current). The Company did not have any
outstanding mortgages, charges, debentures, other issued debt
capital, bank overdrafts, borrowings, acceptance liabilities, or
other similar indebtedness, any material guarantees, litigations,
or claims that are pending or threatened against any member of
our Group, or other material contingent liabilities.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024, the
Company’s bank borrowings were RMB88.0 million and
RMB244.8 million, respectively, which mainly refer to unsecured
and unguaranteed bank borrowings for working capital
replenishment, all of which are repayable within two years. The
Company’s bank borrowings are all denominated in RMB. For
the year ended December 31, 2024, the interest rates of the
Company’s fixed-rate bank borrowings ranged from 2.40%
to 3.55% per annum. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the
Company’s unutilized committed banking facilities amounted to
approximately RMB744.1 million.

LEASE LIABILITIES

The Company’s lease liabilities increased from RMB1.6 million
as at December 31, 2023 to RMB9.3 million as at December
31, 2024, mainly due to the simultaneous recognition of lease
liabilities for two newly recognized right-of-use assets during the
year.
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GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s gearing ratio based
on total liabilities/total assets was 52.8%, compared to that of
55.6% for the same period last year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any
material contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ending December 31, 2024, the Company’s capital
expenditures were RMB33.0 million, mainly due to the increase
in purchases of fixed assets and intangible assets during the
year. The Company primarily funds its capital expenditure
needs with borrowings, cash generated from sales, and equity
financing.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any
material pledge of assets.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS HELD

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any
material investments (including any investment in an investee
company with a value of 5% or more of our Group’s total assets
as of December 31, 2024).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND/OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not
have any material acquisitions and/or disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The functional currency of the Company’s entities is RMB.
During the Reporting Period, the Company primarily operated
its business in China. The Company does not currently have
a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the Company’s
management monitors foreign exchange risks and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange risks when necessary.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

After eight years of deep technological cultivation and industry
accumulation, Xunfei Healthcare has grown into the healthcare
Al company with the broadest coverage and the largest market
share in the PRC’s Al healthcare field. The direction of “Al +
Healthcare” is already an irresistible trend. In the future, Xunfei
Healthcare will continue to iterate its products, play a greater
role in multiple application scenarios such as improving the
quality of diagnosis and treatment, enhancing the effectiveness
of chronic disease management, controlling the quality of
medical records, and managing patients after diagnosis, to
create an Al medical assistant for every doctor and an Al health
partner for everyone.

With the advent of the intelligent era, integrating clinical data,
clinical guidelines, omics data, and comprehensive knowledge
of the medical ecosystem to build a comprehensive medical
brain has become a key direction for future healthcare
development. This process emphasizes human-machine
collaboration to maximize the capabilities of machine deep
learning, reduce manual workload, ensure data quality,
and enable rapid construction of a high-quality medical
knowledge base. Within the broader context of general artificial
intelligence, the Company will fully leverage the combination
of the real economy and financial capital to drive technological
breakthroughs and in-depth applications of medical large
models, providing residents with better medical services,
offering doctors convenient diagnostic and treatment tools,
generating substantial returns for investors, and ultimately
making greater contributions to human health and well-being.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

Looking ahead, the Company will continue to adhere to the
innovative development path of “reaching for the stars while
staying grounded.” “Reaching for the stars” means maintaining
our global leadership position after becoming the first medical
large model stock in China and striving to become the first
globally. “Staying grounded” emphasizes addressing the
essential needs of society and serving the demands of doctors,
patients, hospitals, and government disease control agencies.
To achieve this goal, the Company will adhere to a product-
oriented approach, creating exceptional products through the
integration of software and hardware and GBC collaboration.
The Company will continue to strengthen our healthcare Al
infrastructure and capacity building, increase R&D investment,
optimize solutions, expand geographical coverage and customer
reach, seize new profit opportunities, explore new possibilities
for Al in healthcare, and contribute Chinese wisdom and
strength to global health.

EMPLOYEES, TRAINING, AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of December 31, 2024, our Group had 911 full-time
employees (December 31, 2023: 852), most of whom are located
in Hefei City, Anhui Province, China.

The remuneration package of employees generally includes
basic salary and performance-based bonus. In general, the
Group determines the remuneration package based on the
qualifications, position and performance of its employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company provides employees with an insurance package
consisting of pension insurance, maternity insurance,
unemployment insurance, work-related injury insurance, medical
insurance and housing funds, as required by Chinese laws
and regulations. The Company offers a flexible work system
to accommodate employees’ flexible work needs and strictly
enforce work hours and vacation policies to enhance work
efficiency and employee satisfaction. The Company’s dismissal
procedures are structured to ensure fairness and legality. They
include clear guidelines on performance management, regular
feedback sessions, and a structured grievance redressal
mechanism that employees can use to contest decisions or
seek clarification. In addition, the Company maintains a zero-
tolerance policy towards discrimination and harassment in
the workplace. This policy is supported by mandatory training
sessions on diversity and inclusion for all employees, regular
reviews of workplace practices, and a confidential reporting
system for any incidents of discrimination or harassment. The
Company also regularly organizes health and safety training
programs to improve employees’ first aid knowledge and skills.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total employee
compensation and benefits expenses were RMB276.3 million.

The Group has adopted a share ownership plan to attract
and retain the talents and to provide incentives to employees
of our Group and talents who have made contribution to the
development of our Group, for long-term development of our
Company. Details of the share ownership plan are set out in the
Prospectus.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board. The corporate goals and objectives set by the
Board, the remuneration paid by comparable companies, the
time and responsibilities committed by the Directors, and the
employment conditions of other positions within the Group are
taken into consideration in determining the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management. For details of remuneration,
please refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no other material events subsequent to the

Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date that
would likely have a significant impact on the Group.
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DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Tao Xiaodong (P B R), aged 51, joined our Group in
December 2016 and has since then served as the General
Manager of our Company. Dr. Tao was appointed as a
Director in December 2021 and was further appointed as an
executive Director in January 2024. Since May 2019, Dr. Tao
has also served as a director of Anhui Imaging Union, one of
our subsidiaries. Dr. Tao has over 19 years of experience in
healthcare, Al technology and management. Prior to joining our
Group, Dr. Tao consecutively served as a computer scientist at
the Global Research Center and a China research manager at
GE Healthcare China of General Electric Company (a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the stock code
of GE) from February 2005 to May 2013. From June 2013 to
December 2016, Dr. Tao consecutively served as the principal
scientist at Philips Research China and chief solutions architect
at Philips Healthcare Radiology Solutions of Koninklijke Philips
Electronics N.V. (a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the stock code of PHG).

Dr. Tao holds positions in various healthcare and Al-related
associations including serving as a senior member of the
Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers since May
2014, a member of Chinese Innovative Alliance of Industry,
Education, Research and Application of Artificial Intelligence
for Medical Imaging (9 Bl 8 2 & & AlE 2 A 8 ¥ Bk B2) since
2018, a member of China Association of Medical Equipment
Management Branch (FEI B2 2 £ EHiH 2 EE 5 €) since 2018,
a member of the Medical Artificial Intelligence Branch of the
Chinese Society of Biomedical Engineering (77 B4 48 & T
EEeBEE A TEED D) since January 2020, a member of
Beijing Medical Association Health Management Branch (it
REEe@FETIEEZSE) since 2019 and a member of the
second session of Intelligent Medicine Professional Committee
of Chinese Medical Doctor Association (FF Bl 28 A 7} & %5 £ &8
BEX¥XEE) since June 2023. Dr. Tao has been appointed
as an adjunct professor in biomedical engineering of University
of Science and Technology of China (7 B &} £ 5 17 X ) since
April 2021.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Dr. Tao obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in electrical
engineering from University of Science and Technology of
China (R E & 21l K2) in the PRC in July 1995, a master
of engineering degree in signal and information processing
from Institute of Acoustics, Chinese Academy of Sciences
(FERIZEEZEFFEFT) in the PRC in August 1998 and a
doctoral degree in electrical and computer engineering from
Johns Hopkins University in the United States in May 2005.
Dr. Tao was qualified as a senior engineer (1E & # T2 6M) by
the Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Anhui Province (ZB A A NERE L 2(REE) in November
2019, and was recognized as a “Leading Technical Talent of
Anhui Province” (&£ # 4 £ i1 B E A7) by Anhui Provincial
Organization Department of Committee of the Communist Party
of China (T Bl EZEZ®E LA 3E0), the Department of
Human Resources and Social Security of Anhui Province, Anhui
Provincial Development and Reform Commission (% #%& % &
Mk ¥ Z E€) and Department of Science and Technology of
Anhui Province (& 84 & 2 £ 17 E8) in October 2018.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Qingfeng (2| B &), aged 51, is our non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Board. Since December 2021,
Dr. Liu has served as a Director and the chairman of the Board.
Dr. Liu was further appointed as a non-executive Director in
January 2024.

Dr. Liu has over 24 years of experience in Al technology and
management. Dr. Liu founded iFlytek Group in June 1999 and
has since then consecutively served as the president, a director
and the chairman of the board of iFlytek. In addition, Dr. Liu has
abundant experience in technology industry including serving as
the executive director of Anhui Yanzhi since December 2019, a
director of Beijing HongYun RongTong Technology Co., Ltd. (1t
AL E Rl BT A PR A &) since December 2020, the chairman
of the board of Antelope Industrial Internet Co., Ltd. (}4F T %
BRI D ARAT) since September 2022, and a director
of Chinese Academy of Sciences Holdings Co., Ltd. (Bl &} £
B ¥ B A BR 2 A1) from July 2021 to October 2023. Dr. Liu has
been a part-time professor and doctoral supervisor of University
of Science and Technology of China (9 B &} 2 £ i K £2) since
December 2019 and May 2010, respectively.
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Dr. Liu has been a representative of the 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th
and 14th session of the National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China (2B A XK K &) since February
20083. Dr. Liu was awarded the “Business Person of the Year”
(FFJZ 4575 A E8) by the China Central Television in December
2013 and the “100 Outstanding Private Entrepreneurs during the
40 Years of Reform and Opening” (BX EFM40F AL HELRE
1 2 %) by the United Front Work Department of CPC Central
Committee (4 £ 71 5 4% — & 42 TYE #6) and All-China Federation
of Industry and Commerce (% 2 B T 3 %8t & &) in October
2018.

Dr. Liu obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in electrical
engineering from University of Science and Technology of
China (F BRI R lF K2) in the PRC in July 1995, a master
of engineering degree in information and communication
engineering from University of Science and Technology of China
(P BRI Z T K2) in the PRC in December 1998, and a
doctor of engineering degree in information and communication
engineering from University of Science and Technology of China
(P B R} 2 R fiT A2 in the PRC in December 2003.

Dr. Liu was a director of Beijing Xinyuan iFlytek Technology Co.,
Ltd. (At RETAREEAR QA the “Xinyuan iFlytek”), a
limited liability company established in the PRC, the registered
business scope of which principally includes technology
development of computer software and hardware. Xinyuan
iFlytek was revoked on October 20, 2003 due to cessation of
business operations. Dr. Liu has confirmed that, (i) there was
no wrongful act on his part leading to the dissolution of Xinyuan
iFlytek; (i) he was not aware of any actual or potential claim
that has been or will be made against him as a result of the
dissolution of Xinyuan iFlytek; and (iii) Xinyuan iFlytek was not in
operation and was solvent at the time of being revoked.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhao Zhiwei (# & {f£), aged 45, is our non-executive
Director. Mr. Zhao has served as our Director since he joined
our Group in May 2016, and has since then held directorships in
various subsidiaries of our Company including Yinchuan Xunfei
and Lvliang Xunfei until December 2023. Mr. Zhao was further
appointed as a non-executive Director in January 2024. Mr. Zhao
has served as a director of Anhui Imaging Union since August
2021. Mr. Zhao has over 23 years of experience in Al technology
and management, he joined iFlytek Group in July 2000 and has
since then consecutively served as speech synthesis researcher,
director of speech synthesis R&D, R&D director, the deputy
executive director of platform and embedded business division,
Senior Vice President of iFlytek. In addition, Mr. Zhao has also
served as the executive director of Xi'an iFlytek Super Brain
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (FAZ A RBIEE BRI AR
A A]), a subsidiary of iFlytek, since June 2018, and a director of
Kexun Jialian Information Technology Co., Ltd. (¥} &7 3= 8 (= &
KT A R A7), a company owned by iFlytek as to 13.2%, since
February 2016.

Mr. Zhao obtained a bachelor of science degree in theoretical
and applied mechanics and a bachelor of engineering degree
in computer science and technology from University of Science
and Technology of China (FBI# 211 X&) in the PRC in
June 2000.
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Mr. Duan Dawei (E& K %), aged 52, is our non-executive
Director. Mr. Duan joined our Group in December 2021 and
has since then served as a director of our Company. Mr. Duan
was further appointed as a non-executive Director in January
2024. Mr. Duan joined iFlytek Group in November 2017 and has
since then consecutively served as the Chief Financial Officer,
Vice President and director of iFlytek. Mr. Duan has also served
as the chairman of the board and general manager of Tianjin
iFlytek Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. (K2R EEEBRE QD
A]), a subsidiary of iFlytek, since November 2019. Mr. Duan has
over 30 years of experience in financial management, securities
investment and international cooperation of large conglomerate
groups. Mr. Duan’s previous working experience includes:
serving as the assistant of general manager of Jilin Chemical
Industrial Group (& M1t Z5% B) from July 1993 to June 2000,
the finance minister of Jilin Electronics Group (& # & & 7 5 E)
from June 2000 to October 2003, and the Senior Vice President
and financial director of SANY Group Co., Ltd. (Z=— 5B &R
A7) and SANY Heavy Industry Co., Ltd. (Z—EILRMH AR
73 \], a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange under
the stock code of 600031) from December 2003 to November
2017. Mr. Duan has been a part-time master’s tutor at the
Shanghai National Accounting Institute (£ /8B X € 51 £ %) and
the School of Accounting of Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics (3 1k Bf &8 K E2 & &+ 2 Fx) since May 2019.

Mr. Duan was awarded the “China’s CFO of the Year’ (*
CFO%FE A¥) by New Financial Management Magazine (#7
I8 BF 7 55) in April 2008 and the “China Best CFO Leadership
Award” (Bl £ @ CFOEE /1 X #8) by Korn Ferry (% IEEIR),
Shanghai National Accounting Institute (_t /& B %X € 5t £83) and
the Association of Charted Certified Accountants in September
2019.

Mr. Duan obtained a bachelor’s and master’s degree in
economics from the Dongbei University of Finance & Economics
(B AL BT 48 K 2) in the PRC in July 1993 and November 1999,
respectively, and a master’s degree in business administration
from the Missouri State University in the United States in July
2010.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Prof. Wang Yang (JX1%), aged 61, is our independent non-
executive Director. Prof. Wang was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on August 12, 2024 with effect from
December 6, 2024.

Since joining the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (“HKUST”) in August 2014, Prof. Wang served
as the head of the Department of Mathematics from August
2014 to October 2016, the dean of the School of Science
from November 2016 to September 2020 and has served as
the director of the HKUST Big Data for Biological Intelligence
Laboratory and an associate director of the HKUST Big Data
Institute since May 2016, as well as the Vice-President for
Institutional Advancement since October 2020. Prof. Wang has
been awarded the title of Chair Professor of Department of
Mathematics at HKUST since August 2014. His other previous
working experience includes consecutively serving as an
assistant professor, an associate professor and a professor in
mathematics, an adjunct professor of The Logistics Institute, an
undergraduate director of the School of Mathematics, and an
associate chair of the School of Mathematics at Georgia Institute
of Technology from July 1989 to May 2007, serving as the
department chair of Mathematics at Michigan State University
from August 2007 to August 2014, and serving as a program
director at the United States National Science Foundation from
September 2006 to August 2007.

Prof. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics from
the University of Science and Technology of China (/F E &} &
R F A 2) in the PRC in July 19883, and his Master of Science
degree and Doctorate of Philosophy degree in mathematics
from Harvard University in the United States in June 1988 and
March 1990, respectively.
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Prof. Zhao Huifang (# ¥ ), aged 72, is our independent
non-executive Director. Prof. Zhao was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on January 25, 2024.

Prof. Zhao has over 40 years of experience in accounting and
financial management. Since July 1977, she has been with
Hefei University of Technology (& B I ¥ X £), where she
consecutively served as a teaching assistant in economics
for six years, lecturer, associate professor and professor in
accounting for over 40 years. In addition, Prof. Zhao has also
consecutively served as deputy dean, dean and secretary of
the party committee of the school of management of Hefei
University of Technology from June 1990 to February 2011, the
director of MBA/MPA management centre of Hefei University of
Technology from May 2007 to February 2014, and the director
of institute of financial management of Hefei University of
Technology from July 2007 to February 2017.

Prof. Zhao has abundant working experience as a director
and member/chairwoman of the audit committee of listed
companies, including serving as: (i) an independent non-
executive director and a member and the chairwoman of the
audit committee of An Hui Wenergy Company Limited. (%l
Bree (D B BR A A, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange under the stock code of 000543) from June 2003
to May 2009; (i) an independent non-executive director of
Anhui Huilong Agricultural Means of Production Co., Ltd. (%
HERZERMAER DA, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange under the stock code of 002556) from
November 2009 to February 2015 and the chairwoman of its
audit committee from December 2011 to February 2015; (iii)
an independent non-executive director and the chairwoman of
the audit committee of Anhui Jianghuai Automobile Group Co.,
Ltd. (Z BT ERERMHABER AT, a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange under the stock code of 600418) from
March 2009 to July 2015; (iv) an independent non-executive
director of Hefei Urban Construction Development Co., Ltd. (&
BE 35 322 A% 15 /8 PR 2 A, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange under the stock code of 002208) from January 2009
to September 2015 and the chairwoman of its audit committee
from February 2012 to September 2015; (v) an independent
non-executive director of Hua’an Securities Co., Ltd. (¥E %%
AWM AMRAGE, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange under the stock code of 600909) from January 2013
to May 2019 and a member of its audit committee from March
2016 to April 2019; (vi) an independent non-executive director
of Anhui Ankai Automobile Co., Ltd. (Z# Z el TERMDBR A
7], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange under
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the stock code of 000868) from November 2015 to March 2022
and the chairwoman of its audit committee from October 2016
to March 2022; (vii) an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee of Time Publishing and Media
Co., Ltd. (FRERBHEKDBER AR, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange under the stock code of 600551)
from November 2015 to January 2023; (viii) an independent non-
executive director and the chairwoman of the audit committee of
iFlytek Co., Ltd. (Bt XFARIRH B R AR, a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange under the stock code of 002230)
from January 2017 to January 2023; (ix) an independent non-
executive director and a member of the audit committee of
Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (#% & HRMHAER AR, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the stock code
of 2338 and Shenzhen Stock Exchange under the stock code
of 000338) from June 2020 to June 2023; (x) an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee
of Anhui Gourgen Traffic Construction Co., Ltd. (Z# X B E
ZBMM AR AR, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange under the stock code of 603815) since April 2023;
(xi) an independent non-executive director and a member of
the audit committee of Sinomach General Machinery Science
& Technology Co., Ltd. (EI#@A#MBERHOHER AR, a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange under the
stock code of 600444) since September 2019; and (xii) serves
as an independent non-executive director and a member of
the audit committee of Anhui Anli Material Technology Co., Ltd.
(ZRZ M BB R DERLQF), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300218) since April
2024.

Prof. Zhao was granted a number of awards in the areas
including accounting and financial management. The “Corporate
Accounting” ({{® ¥ € 5t 2)) of which she acted as editor-
in-chief was granted the second prize for “Excellent Higher
Education Textbooks” (& Bl & i & & £ K8 F5 M) by Ministry
of Education of the People’s Republic of China (F2 # A & £ A1
& #6) in October 2002 and her project named “Study on the
Knowledge System of Management Professional Finance (Non-
accounting) and Accounting” (BEIEfEGEg@:HBEP K E S
H:% 82 ZHT75) was granted the first prize of “Anhui Provincial
Outstanding Teaching Achievement Award” (% # & E F % 2
B %) by Department of Education of Anhui Province (& #4& %1
A EE) in March 2005. In addition, Prof. Zhao was granted the
“Special Government Allowances” (% & B AT 45 %k 32 Bh) by
Anhui Municipal People’s Government (& #& A B B F) in July
2008.
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Prof. Zhao graduated in political theory from Hefei University of
Technology (& B L% X&) in the PRC in August 1977, engaged
in advanced study of economics in Nanjing University (R A2)
in the PRC from September 1979 to July 1980, and completed
study in teaching assistant program of Anhui University (%
KEZ) focusing on economics in the PRC in November 1986,
and she conducted collaborative research in accounting at
the faculty of business of Kurume University in Japan from
November 1998 to February 1999.

Mr. Tan Ching (# E ), aged 60, is our independent non-
executive Director. Mr. Tan was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on January 25, 2024.

Mr. Tan has over 35 years of experience in technology industry,
investment and management. His previous working experience
includes: serving as (i) a manager in Shenzhen Electronics
Group Co., Ltd. (RYTEBEEABR AR from September
1988 to September 1992; (i) an engineering manager in GE
Healthcare U.S. of General Electric Company (a company listed
on the New York Stock Exchange under the stock code of GE)
from September 1994 to September 1999; (iii) an investment
manager in Qifeng Fund (BX & AI#%) from February 2000 to
January 2001; (iv) a manager in Booz Allen Hamilton from
January 2001 to March 2002; (v) a Vice President and General
Manager of core imaging in GE Healthcare China of General
Electric Company from March 2002 to December 2006; and (vi)
director, General Manager and Chief Representative of China in
Siguler Guff & Co., LLC from December 2006 to October 2012.
In addition, Mr. Tan has served as (i) the general manager of
Shanghai Jiachen Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd.
(FERPRAEESLETIEAMR AT since November 2012; (i) a
director of Power MED Limited (& € & BR 2 ) since December
2014; (i) a supervisor of Beijing Biomarker Technologies Co.,
Ltd. JERBEX AR AR QA since June 2015; (iv) an
executive director and the general manager of Guangzhou
Jinyongji Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (BN T &EEKE
AR AT]) since November 2015; (v) an executive director
and the general manager of Shanghai Zhenjin Investment
Co., Ltd. (E/B% 2K EBMRAF]) since December 2015; (vi)
a director of Shenzhen Feisen Technology Co., Ltd. (Z3IH
JEZRBI B AR AT since September 2016; (vii) a director of
Biohit Healthcare (Hefei) Co., Ltd. (% B4 WM E (A E)AB
[R A 7]) since January 2018; (viii) a non-executive director of
Jenscare Scientific Co., Ltd. (K @E R K7D AR A7),
a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under
the stock code of 9877, since March 2019; (ix) a director of
HuidaGene (Shanghai) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (38X (E/&)E ¥
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B AR A7) since December 2019; (x) an executive director
of Shanghai Jiachen Enterprise Management Consulting Co.
Ltd. (E/BMRBEERZERBRAF) since July 2020; (xi)
a director of Hangzhou Jieyi Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (#7/ #
BREME M AR AR since January 2021; (xii) an executive
director of Shanghai Fichen Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(EBXERKEEEEBRAA) since January 2021; (xiii) an
executive director and general manager of Shanghai Chenxu
Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (E/BRE T ¥%E
I8 58 A R A 7)) since August 2021; (xiv) a director of Creative
Biosciences (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (/MBS BEA YRI5
B[R A7]) since September 2021, (xv) a director of Hangzhou
Ezgene Technology Co., Ltd. (fi/N S RBIZTERE K MER A
A]) since January 2022; (xvi) a director of BMC Medical Co.,
Ltd. ((tR1eNBXZEBEREKRHBERAA]), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange under the stock code of
301367, since September 2018; (xvii) a director of Shanghai
Wancheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (F/BEBREWREER A
A]) since January 2022; (xviii) a director of Shenzhen Congheng
Technology Co., Ltd. (&I T IR & &l % F R A7) since October
2022.

Mr. Tan was recognized as (i) a “the Healthcare Investor of the
Year (Excellence Ranking List)” (21 — FEBERREIKE
A) by Haoyue Capital (% 1% & &) in March 2020, March 2021,
April 2022 and April 2023; (i) a “Top Ten Elite IVD Investors of
the Year” (Top 10F EIVD#E & & & A) by Chujie Technology (#
SR in December 2021; (i) a “Top 100 China Investors” (3%
& RTOP 100 & A) by Zero2IPO Holdings Inc. (& &IAI %42
f% A B A A]) in August 2022 and July 2023; and (iv) a “Top 100
China’s Best Venture Investor of Year 2022-2023” (2022-2023
FREPEZEA KR E ATop 100) by CVCapital (&HF & K) in
November 2023.

Mr. Tan obtained a master’s degree in business management
from University of Chicago, the U.S. in March 2000.
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SUPERVISORS

Ms. Zhang Xuanxuan (3& BE 5E), aged 36, is the chairwoman
of our Supervisory Committee and the strategic operation
department officer of our Company. Ms. Zhang joined our
Group in March 2021 and has since December 2021 served
as a Supervisor and the strategic operation department officer
of our Company. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhang served
as a quality management engineer of iFlytek from July 2011 to
January 2018.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
medical software development from Anhui University of Chinese
Medicine (Z & & %% K £) in the PRC in June 2011. Ms.
Zhang was qualified as a Senior Information System Project
Manager (m & EE X#IHE B AD), by the Department of
Human Resources and Social Security of Anhui Province (% #1
BAANEBREMHEREE) in May 2015 and was awarded the
qualification of Project Management Professional by the Project
Management Institute of the United States in September 2017.

Ms. Sheng Yan (5% %), aged 35, is our Supervisor and the
deputy financial manager of our Company. Ms. Sheng joined
our Group in July 2021 and has since then consecutively served
as the financial manager of our smart healthcare business
division and the deputy financial manager of our Company. Ms.
Sheng was appointed as a Supervisor in December 2021. Ms.
Sheng has also served as the financial director of Anhui Imaging
Union since August 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Sheng
consecutively served as the financial manager of iFlytek from
July 2017 to September 2018 and served as the operation
management manager of iFlytek from September 2018 to
August 2020.

Ms. Sheng obtained a bachelor of management degree in
accounting from Anhui University (% #l X 2) in the PRC in
June 2012. Ms. Sheng was recognized as a Certified Public
Accountant by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in the PRC in March 2019.
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Mr. Gui Yajun (# % B&), aged 34, is our Supervisor and senior
system architect. Mr. Gui joined our Group in May 2016 and
has since then served as the senior system architect of our
Company. Mr. Gui has served as a Supervisor since June 2022.

Mr. Gui obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in computer
science and technology from Hefei Normal University (& AE A
# 2BT) in the PRC in July 2013 and a master of engineering
degree in computer application technology from Anhui University
(Z#AE) in the PRC in June 2016. Mr. Gui was awarded the
qualification of Project Management Professional by the Project
Management Institute of the United States in June 2019.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Tao Xiaodong (B8 B &), is our executive Director and
general manager. See “Directors — Executive Director” above
for the biographical details of Dr. Tao.

Mr. Qian Jinping (£ € ¥), aged 39, is our financial director.
Mr. Qian joined our Company in March 2021 and has since then
served as our financial director.

Mr. Qian has over 16 years of experience in auditing and
financial management. He previously consecutively served as a
project assistant and project manager of Crowe Certified Public
Accountants Limited (B = & # & 5 B = 7% A7) from August
2007 to July 2010. Mr. Qian joined iFlytek Group in August
2010 and has since then served as the financial manager and
supervisor of Anhui iFlytek Jiecheng Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (ZHEAREKE SR AR AA]), a subsidiary of iFlytek,
from August 2010 to March 2013 and the accounting manager,
sharing center manager, deputy general manager of the sharing
finance department and general manager of business finance
department of iFlytek from March 2013 to March 2021, being
responsible for, among others, the financial management of our
Group.

Mr. Qian graduated in accounting from Shihezi University (£
A FRKE) in the PRC in August 2007 and obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from Arizona State University
in the United States in May 2022. Mr. Qian obtained the
qualification of intermediate accountant (7 4% & 5+ Fl &) from the
Department of Human Resources and Social Security of Anhui
Province (& A N ERFML S REEE) in January 2013.
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Dr. Liu Wei (8 2), aged 45, is the Board secretary and the joint
company secretary. Dr. Liu has been responsible for investment,
financing, strategy planning, marketing and corporate matters of
our Group since September 2018 and has served as the Board
secretary since December 2021. Dr. Liu has over 14 years of
experience in investment, financing and marketing. Dr. Liu’s
previous working experience includes: working in Institute of
Military Medicine of the Academy of Military Sciences (4
ARBHREEERZEREFTES M ER) from June 2009 to
March 2017, serving as the marketing director of the Institute
of Software of Chinese Academy of Sciences (/1 B} £z 81
3T FT) from March 2017 to October 2017, serving as the
marketing director of Guangzhou Perception Vision Medical
Technology Co., Ltd. (B M AR 8 & B & B R 2 @) from
October 2017 to September 2018, and the marketing director of
Zhongke iFlytek Interconnection (Beijing) Information Technology
Co, Ltd. (P BRAREBE () EBERKEER A F) from
September 2018 to October 2021.

Dr. Liu obtained a bachelor of arts degree in foreign language
and literature (English) from Chinese People’s Liberation Army
Academy of International Relations (#F B A R f# ik & B BX 78 &
E7) in the PRC in July 2002, a master’s degree in philosophy
from Chinese People’s Liberation Army Nanjing Institute of
Politics (FEIARBMEM RBUAZ6t) in June 2009 and a
doctor of science degree in military preventive medicine from
Chinese People’s Liberation Army Academy of Military Medical
Sciences (FREIARMMEEEEZE2) in the PRC in June
2016.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Dr. Liu Wei (%I ) is the Board secretary and was appointed as
the joint company secretary of our Company on January 25, 2024
with effect from November 19, 2024. See “Senior Management”
above for the biographical details of Dr. Liu.

Ms. Yeung Siu Lam (# JK #) was appointed as the joint
company secretary on January 25, 2024 with effect from
November 19, 2024. Ms. Yeung is a Senior Manager of
Company Secretarial Services of Tricor Services Limited with
more than eight years of experience in the corporate secretarial
field. She has been providing professional corporate services
to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private
and offshore companies. Ms. Yeung is currently the company
secretary or joint company secretary of a few Hong Kong listed
companies.
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Ms. Yeung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Yeung obtained
the Bachelor of Arts degree from The University of Hong
Kong (& KE) in December 2016 and Master of Corporate
Governance degree from The Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (& % #8& KX 2) in November 2020.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there have been no
changes to the information of Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules since the publication of the Prospectus.
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The Board is pleased to present its corporate governance report
for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

° Our Mission: To create an Al medical assistant for every
doctor and an Al health partner for everyone.

° Our Vision: To improve the quality and accessibility of
medical resources with revolutionized Al technologies and
facilitate the development of the healthcare Al industry.

As a provider of Al-empowered healthcare solutions, we
believe that corporate culture is essential for our sustainable
development, healthy operations, and ultimate success. Our
Group is committed to building a good corporate culture that
aligns with our purpose, values, and strategies. In our daily
operations and across all staff, we implement and promote our
corporate culture through Outstanding Employee Selection,
Corporate Anniversary Celebration Theme Days, Value-based
Stories, Cultural Interest Clubs, Cultural IP Images and Cultural
Peripherals Customization, ensuring that its essence is
internalized and reflected in our actions.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to protect Shareholders’ interests,
enhance corporate value, and ensure accountability. The
Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code as its
own code of corporate governance. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, our Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code for the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2024.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the Company’s
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and maintain high standards of
corporate governance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As of December 31, 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
our Board consisted of seven Directors, including one executive
Director, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. Directors are elected or replaced by
the shareholders’ meeting and may be removed from office by
the shareholders’ meeting before the expiry of their terms of
office. Directors hold office for a term of three years and are
eligible for re-election upon expiry of their terms in accordance
with the securities regulatory rules of the stock exchange where
the Company’s Shares are listed. The members of the Board are
set out below:

Executive Director
Dr. Tao Xiaodong (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Liu Qingfeng (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Zhiwei
Mr. Duan Dawei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Prof. Wang Yang

Prof. Zhao Huifang

Mr. Tan Ching

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

Each of our Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained
the legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on January 23, 24 or 25, 2024 and July 24, 2024,
respectively, and (ii) understands his or her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer on the Stock Exchange under the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in the “Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report, there
are no other relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) among the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management.
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PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the principal
responsibilities of the Board include convening shareholders’
meetings and reporting to the shareholders’ meetings;
implementing resolutions of the shareholders’ meetings;
determining the Company’s business plans and investment
proposals; formulating the Company’s profit distribution plans
and loss-making mitigation plans; formulating proposals for
the Company to increase or decrease registered capital,
issue bonds or other securities, and listing proposals;
drafting proposals for major acquisitions, repurchases of the
Company’s Shares, mergers, divisions, dissolutions, and
changes to the Company’s form; deciding on the purchase
and sale of major assets of the Company; deciding on material
external investments; deciding on the establishment of internal
management bodies and branches of the Company; deciding
on the appointment or dismissal of the Company’s general
manager, Board secretary, and other senior management
personnel; formulating and amending the Company’s basic
management system; formulating proposals for amendments
to the Company’s Articles of Association and managing the
Company’s information disclosure matters, etc.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions, and performance. It is also collectively responsible
for guiding and monitoring the Company’s affairs to promote
its successful development. The Board, directly and indirectly
through its committees, formulates strategies and oversees
their implementation, provides guidance and direction to
management, monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures the establishment of a sound internal
control and risk management system.

The Board, directly and indirectly through its committees,
performs the Company’s corporate governance functions,
including, but not limited to: (a) developing and reviewing the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices and
making recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuing professional development
of Directors and senior management; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) for employees and Directors; and (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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All Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) bring extensive and
valuable experience, knowledge, and professionalism to the
Board, enabling it to operate efficiently and effectively. All
Directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company and may, upon request and where appropriate, seek
independent professional advice, the expenses of which shall be
borne by the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024,
the Chairman and the General Manager of the Company were
held by different individuals. The chairman of the Company is
Dr. Liu Qingfeng, and the general manager is Dr. Tao Xiaodong.
The Chairman leads the daily work of the Board, supervises
and inspects the implementation of Board resolutions, and the
General Manager, under the leadership of the Board, presides
over the Company’s production, operation, and management.
The Articles of Association clearly define the division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the General Manager
in writing. The Company has complied with the provisions of
Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE MECHANISMS

The Company understands that the independence of the Board
is crucial to good corporate governance and the effective
operation of the Board. The Board has established mechanisms
to ensure that the independent opinions and recommendations
of any Director are communicated to the Board to enhance the
objectivity and effectiveness of decision-making.
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Directors are free to express their opinions at Board meetings,
and important decisions are made only after thorough
discussion. If a Director considers it necessary to seek
independent professional advice, an independent professiona
firm may be engaged according to the established procedures
and the expenses shall be borne by the Company. If a Director
has a conflict of interest in a matter proposed by the Board, the
relevant Director must abstain from discussion and voting on
the relevant resolution, and the Director shall not be counted
towards the quorum for voting on that resolution. In addition,
independent non-executive Directors are required to express
objective and impartial independent opinions on matters
discussed by the Company. As the Company’s independent
non-executive Directors do not hold any other positions in the
Company other than as Directors, and have no relationships
with the Company or its Substantial Shareholders that could
affect their independent and objective judgment, and do not
have any business or financial interests in the Company and
its subsidiaries, the participation of independent non-executive
Directors can effectively ensure that the Board has a strong
and sufficient independent element. The relevant provisions
regarding the Board’s decision-making mechanism and the
avoidance of conflicts of interest are set out in the Articles of
Association.
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During the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2024, the Board complied with the above-mentioned relevant
provisions, and these mechanisms have been effective in
providing the Board with independent perspectives and
opinions. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanisms annually.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each
of the independent non-executive Directors regarding their
independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors confirms (i) his/her independence with
regard to each of the factors set out in Rules 3.13(1) to (8) of the
Listing Rules; (ii) that as of the Latest Practicable Date, he/she
has no past or present financial or other interest in the business
of the Company or its subsidiaries, nor any connection with
any core connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules; and (iii) that there are no other factors that could affect
his/her independence during his/her term of appointment. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that they continue to make informed and relevant
contributions to the Board. The Company is committed to
the continuous professional development of its Directors and
arranges sufficient training programs, encouraging Directors to
participate in such training to ensure they have an appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations, as
well as a full understanding of their duties and responsibilities
as Directors under the Listing Rules and relevant legal
requirements.

During the Reporting Period, the Company organised training
courses for all Directors conducted by qualified professionals/
legal advisors, covering topics including the duties and
responsibilities of Directors. In addition, the Company has
provided all Directors with relevant reading materials, including
materials on the duties and responsibilities of Directors, for their
reference and learning.
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BOARD AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on December
30, 2024. No Board meetings or shareholders’ meetings were
held during the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2024. The Board will disclose the relevant meetings in the
next annual report in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises one non-executive Director
(namely, Mr. Duan Dawei) and two independent non-executive
Directors (namely, Prof. Wang Yang and Prof. Zhao Huifang).
Prof. Zhao Huifang is the chairwoman of the Audit Committee.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include (but
are not limited to) the following:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, replacement and removal of the external
auditor, to consider and approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and to deal
with any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards. The Audit
Committee shall discuss with the external auditors the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations
before the audit commences;
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(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to provide non-audit services;

(d) to monitor internal audit system of our Company and
ensure the implementation of such systems;

(e) to facilitate communications between the internal audit
department and external auditors;

(f)  to review the financial information of our Company and
relevant disclosures; and

(9) to monitor our Company in respect of financial reporting
system, risk management and internal controls system.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on December
30, 2024. The Audit Committee did not hold any meetings
during the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.
The Board will disclose the relevant meetings in the next annual
report in accordance with the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s annual
results and annual report for 2024, and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024,
prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises one non-executive
Director (namely Mr. Zhao Zhiwei) and two independent non-
executive Directors (namely Prof. Zhao Huifang and Mr.
Tan Ching). Prof. Zhao Huifang is the chairwoman of the
Remuneration Committee. The main responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include (but are not limited to) the
following:

(@) to review and establish the assessment criteria for the
Directors and senior management of the Company, and to
conduct evaluation and make recommendations;

(o) to study and review the remuneration policies and
proposals for the Directors and senior management
of the Company, taking into account the corporate
goals and objectives set by the Board, the positions,
responsibilities and scope of work of Directors and senior
management, and with reference to the remuneration levels
of comparable positions in the same region, industry or
competitors;

(c) to oversee the implementation of the Company’s
remuneration proposals;

(d) to determine the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management with delegated
responsibility from the Board;

(e) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

(f)  to deal with any other matters delegated by the Board.

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on December
30, 2024. The Remuneration Committee did not hold any
meetings during the period from the Listing Date to December
31, 2024. The Board will disclose the relevant meetings in the
next annual report in accordance with the requirements of the
Corporate Governance Code.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive
Director (namely Dr. Liu Qingfeng) and two independent non-
executive Directors (namely Prof. Zhao Huifang and Mr. Tan
Ching). Dr. Liu Qingfeng is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The primary responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include (but are not limited to) the following:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
including diversity, at least annually, taking into account the
characteristics of the Company’s shareholding structure;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Directors
and managerial personnel and select individuals for
nomination as Directors and managerial personnel, making
recommendations to the Board;

to conduct broad searches for suitable candidates for
Directors and managerial personnel;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors (in particular the
Chairman and the General Manager); and

to deal with any other matters delegated by the Board.
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The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on December
30, 2024. The Nomination Committee did not hold any meetings
during the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.
The Board will disclose the relevant meetings in the next annual
report in accordance with the requirements of the Corporate
Governance Code.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to code provision E(d)(iii) of the Corporate Governance
Code, the Company has adopted a Director nomination policy
for the election of Directors. The policy sets out the criteria and
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors
and ensures that the Board will maintain a balance of skKills,
experience and diversity appropriate to the needs of the
Company.

In accordance with the Director nomination policy, the Board
has delegated to the Nomination Committee the responsibility
and authority for the selection and appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee shall identify suitably qualified
persons and make recommendations to the Board. In assessing
the suitability and potential contribution of a proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee may make reference
to a number of selection criteria including, but not limited to,
the gender, age, cultural and educational background and
professional experience of the Directors. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to
maintain high standard of corporate governance, the Board
has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in
selecting candidates to our Board, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on the merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Our Board currently consists of six male members and one
female member, with one executive Director, three non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, of
ages ranging from 45 to 72. We consider that our Board has
a balanced mix of skill-set including Al technology, healthcare,
management, mathematics, accounting, etc., experience,
expertise, and diversity which enhances decision-making
capability and the overall effectiveness of the Board in achieving
sustainable business operation and enhancing Shareholder
value. In addition, our senior management team currently
consists of two male members and one female member.

It is the Board’s goal to maintain female members on the
Board. The Company believes that the Board is consistent with
our Board Diversity Policy and that our Board Diversity Policy
provides for the continuation of the established gender diversity
of the Board through the availability of potential successors to
the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure and diversity of the Board and selecting individuals
to be nominated as Directors. The Nomination Committee will
monitor and evaluate the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness,
making any necessary revisions as needed and recommending
such revisions to the Board for approval.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the gender diversity of
our Group’s employees was generally balanced, with women
accounting for 32% and men accounting for 68%.

Our Group is consistently committed to creating a fair,
respectful, and inclusive working environment. Our decisions
regarding recruitment, training, promotion, dismissal, and
retirement policies do not take into account age, gender, race,
ethnicity, nationality, religion, marital status, family status, or
any other non-job-related factors. We will continue to strive to
achieve an appropriate balance in workforce diversity.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

Our Company has adopted the Model Code as its code
of conduct for securities transactions by Directors and
Supervisors. As the Model Code was not applicable prior to
the Listing Date, each of the Directors and Supervisors has
confirmed, after making specific inquiries of all Directors and
Supervisors, that they have complied with the Model Code from
the Listing Date up to the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of our Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024. The statement of responsibility
of our Company’s independent auditor regarding its financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties or
circumstances that may significantly affect the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, our Company’s
external auditor, for audit and non-audit services for the year
ended December 31, 2024, is as follows:

BT RETA

ARRERABEETAERESERES
ETREFXHZTR - AR ZEESTAIE
EHEHAIENER ERMAEEER
EEFLBEEERER SEFREFEY
BABSZELTRHEEEARERK
BEETHRESA -

EFHMEHRORE

EEMAEREARNTH £2024F127
SIBEFEAHUBERERNEMT - AQ
ABYREBMEBETEREANBREER
TBEAHFNBLZEMARER -

EZVTHEFEEATHABREHRBR
AR EREVERRANFELLERN -

BB £
gt # 22024512 A31A I FE W E TR

BB IR - ARRINEXBEN RS o
BERSSETHOMESnT:

Fees paid/

Category of services payable
BR % %8 5 Bt EREAR
(RMB in

thousands)

(AR%Fx)

Audit and audit-related services Bt REE B RS 8,246
Non-audit services IEE 5 RS -
Total 485t 8,246
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to the provisions of the Articles of Association,
Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than 10%
of the Company’s Shares have the right to request the Board
of Directors to convene an extraordinary general meeting,
and shall submit the request to the Board of Directors in
writing. The Board of Directors shall, in accordance with the
provisions of laws, administrative regulations and the Articles
of Association, provide written feedback on whether it agrees
or disagrees with convening an extraordinary general meeting
within 10 days after receiving the request. If the Board agrees
to convene an extraordinary general meeting, a notice for
convening a general meeting shall be issued within 5 days after
the date of the resolution of the Board and any changes to the
original request contained in the notice shall be subject to the
approval of the relevant Shareholders. If the Board does not
agree to convene an extraordinary general meeting, or fails to
provide feedback within 10 days after receiving the request,
Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than 10%
of the Company’s Shares shall have the right to propose to the
Supervisory Committee to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and shall submit a written request to the Supervisory
Committee to make the request. If the Supervisory Committee
agrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting, a notice
for convening a general meeting shall be issued within 5 days
of receiving the request and any changes to the original request
contained in the notice shall be subject to the approval of the
relevant Shareholders. If the Supervisory Committee fails to
issue a notice of a general meeting within the prescribed period,
it shall be deemed that the Supervisory Committee would not
convene and preside over the general meeting. Shareholders
who individually or collectively hold more than 10% of the
Company’s Shares for more than 90 consecutive days may
convene and preside over the meeting on their own.

To safeguard the interests and rights of the Shareholders, each
material separate matter, including the election of Directors, is
presented at shareholders’ meetings in the form of a separate
resolution. In accordance with the Listing Rules, all resolutions
proposed at shareholders’ meetings will be voted on by poll,
and the results of the poll will be published on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website after the conclusion
of each shareholders’ meeting.

Shareholders may raise questions and propose resolutions to
the Board at shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders may also
send their written inquiries, along with their contact information
(such as mailing address or email address), to the Company’s
head office at No. 167 Guang’anmennei Street, Xicheng
District, Beijing, China, or inquire by email to the Company (the
Company’s email address is medical_ir@iflytek.com).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

Our Company believes that maintaining effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for strengthening investor
relations and deepening investors’ understanding of our Group’s
business performance and strategies.

In accordance with the Listing Rules, relevant laws and
regulations, our Company discloses information to the
public on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner
and publishes periodic reports and announcements. Our
Company’s top priority is to ensure the timeliness, fairness,
accuracy, authenticity, and absence of any material omissions in
information disclosure, so that Shareholders, investors, and the
public can make informed and rational decisions.

Our Company has reviewed and considers the implementation
of the Shareholder Communication Policy to be effective for the
period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Articles of Association are available on the Company’s
website and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website. Our
Company has not made any amendments to the Articles of
Association from the Listing Date to the end of the Reporting
Period.

The Company’s H Shares have been listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. In addition, the Company intends to
change its address and business scope. For the above reasons
and in accordance with its corporate governance requirements,
the Board reviewed and approved the resolution on the
proposed amendments to the Articles of Association at the
Board meeting held on March 26, 2025. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated March 26, 2025.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

We are committed to establishing and maintaining risk
management and internal control systems consisting of policies
and procedures that we consider appropriate for our business
operations. We are dedicated to continuously improving these
systems, developing a risk management culture and raising the
risk management awareness of all employees.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control system and for reviewing the effectiveness of
that system. The risk management and internal control systems
are reviewed annually. The management has confirmed to the
Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems from the Listing Date
up to the end of the Reporting Period. The Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
from the Listing Date up to the end of the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experience and relevant resources. The systems
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misrepresentation
or loss. The Board of Directors, supported by the Audit
Committee and the results of the internal audit, also reviews the
deficiencies and inadequacies in internal controls and develops
appropriate initiatives to improve them, where applicable.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Operational risk refers to the risk of direct or indirect financial
loss resulting from incomplete or problematic internal processes,
personnel mistakes, IT system failures, or external events. We
have established a series of internal procedures to manage such
risk.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING RISK MANAGEMENT

We have in place a set of accounting policies in connection
with our financial reporting risk management, such as financial
policy, budget management policy, fund management policy,
financial statements preparation policy and finance department
and staff management policy. We have various procedures and
IT systems in place to implement our accounting policies, and
our finance department reviews our management accounts
based on such procedures. We also provide regular training
to our finance department employees to ensure that they
understand our financial management and accounting policies
and implement them in our daily operations.

INFORMATION SYSTEM RISK MANAGEMENT

Sufficient protection of healthcare data is critical to our success.
During the Reporting Period, we did not experience any material
system failure in our IT infrastructure, or any material leakage
or loss of healthcare data. Our IT system security department
is responsible for ensuring the security of our IT infrastructure
and ensuring that the usage, maintenance and protection of
healthcare data are in compliance with our internal rules and the
applicable laws and regulations. We provide regular training to
our information technology teams. During the Reporting Period,
we did not encounter any material system defects.

DATA PRIVACY AND PROTECTION

During the Reporting Period, we designed strict data protection
policies to ensure that the collection, use, storage, transmission
and dissemination of data are in compliance with applicable
PRC laws, regulations and industry practices. During the
Reporting Period, we were in compliance in all material respects
with all applicable PRC laws and regulations with respect to
data privacy and protection.
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DATA PRIVACY

For our offerings directly provided to individual users, we collect
healthcare data, including, but not limited to, health consultation
queries raised by users, files uploaded by users such as
physical examination reports, users’ hearing test information,
blood pressure and blood sugar levels and history of diseases
such as hypertension. Such healthcare data is used to provide
users with services such as health consultation, hearing tests,
health management and disease risk screening. We also collect
other personal data, such as user name, cell phone number and
activity log, on a need-to-know basis necessary for the provision
of our services and such data is stored on our systems.

Our services to organizational customers, including PHC
institutions, hospitals and healthcare administrators, allow these
customers to collect data for the delivery of their services. In
the majority of cases, data collected by these organizational
customers is saved on their own systems or their designated
systems. In instances where such customers lack the requisite
systems for data storage, we offer the option for them to store
data on our systems. The data collected by organizational
customers is primarily transferred and stored within our system
through two ways: (1) personnel from organizational customers
log into our system and input data directly, which is then stored
within our system; and (2) data in the organizational customers’
systems is transmitted via APl and stored within our system.
User data collected and generated in the course of our business
operations in mainland China is only stored in mainland China,
and our daily business operations do not involve any cross-
border transmission of identified core data, important data or
large amounts of personal information.
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DATA PROTECTION

We have developed an extensive internal governance framework
dedicated to data privacy and protection, encompassing a suite
of management regimes that include but are not limited to Data
Security Management Measures, Personal Information Lifecycle
Management Measures, Personal Information Breaches Incident
Management Measures, and Data Destruction Management
Measures. Furthermore, we have enacted the following range of
internal safeguards to protect the privacy and security of user

data:

(i)

we employ a variety of security measures for the user
data collected and retained on our systems, such as
categorization, hierarchical classification, encryption, and
secure backup protocols throughout the data storage
phase to maintain data integrity and security;

the user data collected during our daily business
operations within the PRC are retained within the PRGC;

we have established an Information Security Management
Committee, along with a dedicated Information Security
Management Team, to manage and supervise activities
related to network and data security, as well as personal
information protection, and to promote the enforcement of
our internal policies, regimes and measures;
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(iv) access controls have been rigorously applied to ensure
that our personnel access personal information retained
on our systems strictly on a need-to-know basis, in line
with the ‘least privilege’ principle. This ensures that our
employees are only able to interact with the minimum
amount of information on our systems which is necessary
to perform their tasks; and

(v)  we are committed to the continuous education and training
of our employees to raise awareness and foster a culture
of information security protection within our organisation.

INTERNAL CONTROL IN RELATION TO DATA
PROTECTION

Our data privacy and protection measures are an integral part of
our internal control system. We have adopted a comprehensive
data privacy and protection policy, according to which, (i) we
shall collect personal information and data from users only with
their prior informed consent and make reasonable efforts to use,
disclose and request only the minimum amount of information
required for the intended purposes in relation to the products
and services that we provide; (i) users must acknowledge the
terms and conditions of the user agreement and the privacy
policy before accessing our products and services, if personal
data processing is required under which they consent to our
collection, use and disclosure of their data in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and we shall only use the data
of our users should we have their prior informed consent; (iii)
when transmitting and storing sensitive personal information,
security measures such as encryption should be used to ensure
the security of personal information; (iv) we shall not sell, share
or otherwise provide any personal information to any third party
except under legal requirement; and (v) we shall implement
relevant and appropriate internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected and that leakage and loss
of such data can be avoided. Furthermore, we have obtained
record filing certificates for the graded protection of information
system (EEBEERLEERREBEZHR) for our all major
business systems. In addition, one of our major business
systems, operated by one of our subsidiaries, Anhui Imaging
Union, which holds a value-added telecommunication business
operation license, has obtained the record-filing certificate for
the communication network security protection Bz BEZ 2
By & 7E A e 2= 55 BR).

Corporate Governance Report
TERERHRE

(iv) BPIBRERADEERZES - AR
REFOABBERZRI&/NER]
WIRAIRIEFT EARHM RS LR
FREAEE - EBREMHNET
EREZBAS LRITE TIEEHAH

FHRLVEER R

V) BMPBOREEIETHEHEK
Bl ARt ANER L 2R
EEBALBREELZEX -

ARABEFREHRE R

B SRR R R E 2R MR ER
THI R B AR — B D o BRFEA
TEEMEEEBAMRERE B ()
EMETESBFELANBRENEBR
TRAFPKEBEAGEMEETEREF
B BERERERLMAREERM
REHBEREMBENRNEEE ()
FB 7 75 8 B AP B9 2= & A0 BR 7% AT 78 8 AN
76 FA P 1o a3 RN B AL IBRUSR AR AR 3R S A 1
MEREBEAGES  BBAFESEXAE
BMEKBERERERKE EFARE
ERENEE BERMRABERFREL
MBERAZMEGHETERARBPREE: (I)VE
EHMERFHZREAGEER - BHERB N
BELZERERE BREAGEEZZ (v
RFATERERE=ZHALE  DEHI
EmAp X IRHEABEAGE  HEEE
KAIBRIN: RVBEMEEREBREERN
WEBRE Fr FIHE 6 AR (R B P 8B X BIR
ERAE R BEMEREGEEE o o
BRMERFMETZEREZANBEER
LSRN REERITH - W HM
MEBEBERGZ— (BAERMOEP—FK
TRAAIZHEHESE HFEEEESE
ENCEFTBERSBERELEN
ETERBRER -

ARERNEROERAT
—E-QEER

79



80

Corporate Governance Report

EEERRSE

During the Reporting Period, our internal control consultant has
performed a general internal control review, which covered the
cycle of information system general control, including but not
limited to the policies and procedures relating to data privacy
and protection. During the Reporting Period, our internal control
consultant has also provided us with certain recommendations
to enhance our internal control measures and performed a
follow-up review. No material internal control deficiencies were
noted in design level based on the work performed in relation
to the effectiveness of the enhanced internal controls, including
data privacy and protection.

COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT

Compliance risk refers to the risk of being subject to legal
and regulatory sanctions, and the risk of major financial and
reputational losses as a result of our failure to comply with
relevant laws, regulations, rules and guidelines.

HUMAN RESOURCES RISK MANAGEMENT

We provide regular and specialized training tailored to the needs
of our employees in different departments. Our human resource
department regularly organizes internal training sessions
conducted by senior employees or outside consultants on
topics of interest. Our human resource department schedules
online training, reviews the content of the training, follows up
with employees to evaluate the impact of such training and
rewards lecturers for positive feedback. Through this training,
we ensure that our staff’s skill sets remain up to date, enabling
them to better discover and meet consumers’ needs.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has developed sound and appropriate procedures for
the handling and disclosure of inside information in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to these procedures, the Group prohibits unauthorized
access to and use of inside information, and handles and
disseminates inside information in a manner that complies with
the relevant provisions of the SFO and the Listing Rules, so as
to ensure timely, accurate and appropriate disclosure of the
relevant information to the Shareholders and the regulatory
authorities. The Board also regularly reviews the content and
implementation of these procedures.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration and payment of dividends by our Company will
be determined by the Board and are subject to the Articles of
Association and the Company Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and will depend on a number of factors, including
our Group’s earnings and financial condition, operating needs,
capital requirements, and any other conditions that the Directors
may deem relevant.

According to PRC laws, any future net profits earned by our
Group will be used to offset our Group’s accumulated past
losses, after which 10% of our profits must be appropriated to
our statutory reserve fund until that fund reaches more than
50% of our registered capital. Therefore, we may only declare
dividends after (i) offsetting all accumulated past losses; and (ii)
appropriating sufficient profits to the statutory reserve fund as
described above.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Dr. Liu Wei and Ms. Yeung Siu Lam are the joint company
secretaries of our Company.

Dr. Liu Wei is the primary contact person at our Company for
Ms. Yeung Siu Lam and cooperates and communicates with
Ms. Yeung Siu Lam on our Company’s corporate governance
matters.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Dr. Liu Wei and Ms.
Yeung Siu Lam have complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by undertaking no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training, respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

LIST OF DIRECTORS

The Directors of our Company during the Reporting Period and
up to the Latest Practicable Date were as follows:

Dr. Tao Xiaodong (Executive Director and General Manager)
Dr. Liu Qingfeng (Non-executive Director and Chairman)

Mr. Zhao Zhiwei (Non-executive Director)

Mr. Duan Dawei (Non-executive Director)

Prof. Wang Yang (Independent Non-executive Director)
Prof. Zhao Huifang (Independent Non-executive Director)
Mr. Tan Ching (Independent Non-executive Director)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

As a leader in China’s medical Al sector, the Company leverages
its cutting-edge medical LLM technologies and extensive
medical knowledge graphs built through the largest-scale
commercial application to accomplish its mission to create an
Al medical assistant for every doctor and an Al health partner
for everyone. To achieve this, we have rolled out two series
of products, that is, Intelligent Assistant and Intelligent Health
Partner. These products redefine the way Al works in areas,
including health risk warnings, early health screening, auxiliary
diagnosis and treatment, post-discharge patient management,
and chronic disease management.

The analysis of the Group’s principal business for the Reporting
Period is set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements. The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in the section
“Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and Internal
Control” of this annual report. An indication of possible future
developments of the Group is set out in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Future Outlook” of this annual report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Our Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
customers, and suppliers.

We have a broad and diverse customer base primarily including
regional healthcare administrators, hospitals as well as patients
and other individual customers (including those who purchase
our medical devices). For the year ended December 31, 2024,
revenue from our five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of our revenue during the year.

Our suppliers mainly include hardware suppliers, software
suppliers and service suppliers. For the year ended December
31, 2024, purchases from our five largest suppliers accounted
for 33.0% of our total purchases during the year, of which
purchases from our single largest supplier (being iFlytek Group)
accounted for 15.3% of our total purchases during the year.

Except for iFlytek Group, during the Reporting Period, none
of our Directors and, to the knowledge of our Directors, their
respective close associates or any Shareholders holding more
than 5% of our issued share capital had any interests in any of
our five largest customers or suppliers.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of our Group’s performance by business segment
for the year is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The operating results of our Group for the Reporting Period are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page
120 of this annual report.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of changes in the share capital of our Company during
the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

We did not pay or declare any dividends for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of our Group and our
Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on page 123
of this annual report and note 42 to the financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, our Group did not have distributable
reserves.

EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in equipment of our Company and our Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as of December 31,
2024 are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

ISSUE OF DEBENTURE

Our Group did not issue any debenture for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither our Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of our Company’s securities (including the
sale of treasury shares) during the period from the Listing Date
to December 31, 2024. Our Company did not hold any treasury
shares as of December 31, 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

Our Company was listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on December 30, 2024 (the “Listing”), issuing
7,035,550 new shares at an offer price of HK$82.80 per share,
with net proceeds from the Listing of approximately HK$507.1
million after deducting underwriting commissions, fees and other
expenses related to the Global Offering. The proceeds from the
Listing will be utilized in accordance with the plans disclosed in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the

Prospectus, namely:

IHmERRABE

ZEA A

AN QT R20245F12 A308 & & 8 B A P
TR Em(E®] AERK82.80 T K
2% £ (B 3% 177,035,550R% # AL - KR E 2
KEHEEENBEHEAE: ERREMRA
T ETMATERIBEFEELY A0S
BIL e EATSRESEBRERFPIR

3t B R BT 1 5B PR i | — 6 B % BB B 3t

Unutilized
Proceeds to be Utilized proceeds  proceeds as of  Expected timetable
used for related during the the end of the  for the fully utilizing of
Item Percentage purpose Reporting Period Reporting Period  unutilized proceeds et
ARAE REEHA REEHX BABAHABAREN
ER ARl RRNNE EBATE HABRARE RHRERE
(HK$ in millions)  (HK$ in millions)  (HK$ in millions)
(FE#T) (AE#T) (AE#T)
Investing in research and development to 32.3 164.0 - 164.0 By the end of December
continuously reinforce our core competence 2026
REHE - U MBS 2026512 E 2B
AN e
Further enriching our products and services 26.6 186.0 - 135.0 By the end of December
through upgrading existing products and 2026
developing new products
BRARREERRAENER 2065 12RE 2RI R
E-SERAMNER R RS TE
Reinforcing our commercialization capabilities and 247 1251 = 1251 By the end of December
expand our service network 2026
NEEEI NG A 2026F12AK 2B
Rias T2
Acquiring companies that may generate Synergy 6.4 32.3 - 32.3 By the end of December
with our existing capacities, such as medical 2026
device manufactures.
BT RANRRERES 2026512 RE 2RI fE R
BRAEHRR - MBS T2
SHEER
Working capital and other general corporate 10.0 50.7 — 50.7 By the end of December
purposes 2025
LEESRAM-REERE 2026F12RE 2 AR A
e
Total 100 507.1 - 507.1
At
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Note: The expected timetable for the fully utilizing of unutilized proceeds
was based on the estimate of the Group, which is subject to the
current and future development of the market conditions.

The Company has placed the net proceeds that have not
yet been utilized in short-term interest-bearing accounts with
licensed commercial banks and/or other authorized financial
institutions. The Company will comply with PRC laws regarding
foreign exchange registration and remittance of proceeds.

SHARE OWNERSHIP PLAN

Our Group established a Share Ownership Plan (the “Plan”)
on September 1, 2021 to attract and retain the talents and
to provide incentives to employees of our Group and talents
who have made contribution to the development of our
Group, for long-term development of our Company. The Plan
became effective on September 15, 2021, and three employee
shareholding platforms were established, namely Nanjing
Zhengyang, Nanjing Zhenghui, and Nanjing Zhengchang. As the
Plan will not involve the grant of new Shares or awards by our
Company after the Listing, the terms of the Plan are not subject
to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, awards corresponding to a
total of 19,473,294 Shares (approximately 16.11% of the total
number of Shares issued by our Company) under the Plan have
been granted to eligible participants. No further Shares will
be granted under the Plan after the Listing. Please refer to the
Prospectus for further details regarding the Plan.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of
the following Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the requirements in the Model Code, were as
follows:

() INTERESTS IN OUR COMPANY

EF -EEREETHRARBRALT
REMBEEZEG - HRKRBRE
FRZEGRNRE

R2024F12831H " THEE EEN K
BITBRABRARR S EEMAE LR (F
ERBHFRBEIEFIEXVE) B - 8
BROLESBTHEEREZAREE
B EXVIBETN FE8D EEME AR A
MEBBIA ABRBEELERBEEED
FIME R T ATFARREREZERMAT
ik XRBEZEETUNEAANEAQRR
BB ERRABIT

() REFLFHEL

As at December 31, 2024
B 220245125318

Approximate

percentage (in

Approximate  aggregate) of
percentage of  shareholding
shareholding in the total
inthe  issued share

Position in our Capacity/ Number of  relevant class capital of
Name Company Nature of interest Class of Shares held Shares held' of Shares?  our Company?
RELT
ERfTRE
REBEN BEINER
Rtk  BHOEM
£ REDTNBA 5/ BatE fisRG &5 FsRG#R  BAEINW (#3F)
Dr. Liu Qingfeng Non-executive Director  Interest held by controlled Unlisted Shares 676,829 1.56%
and Chairman of the ~ corporation®
‘ Board ~ 1 1%
SRERT FHNESRESR XBEEMRER  FLARA et
H Shares 676,830 0.88%
H&
Notes: B 5
1. Allinterests shown are long positions. 1. FTR2EEzHREE -

2. As at December 31, 2024, the number of unlisted Shares of our
Company was 43,581,121 shares, the number of H Shares was
77,297,112 shares, and the total number of issued Shares was
120,878,233 shares.
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3. Anhui Yanzhi holds 1.19% equity interest in our Company and is
owned as to 69.5248% by Dr. Liu Qingfeng. Therefore, Dr. Liu
Qingfeng is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Anhui Yanzhi.

(1) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS OF
OUR COMPANY
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3. REEHFAARDFII9%H) K E -
I /A B E 1§18 1 5 569.5248% °
I BERIE T HRARZRE A
BERRDFPHESER -

() WELXFHEBEESE

As at December 31, 2024

B 22024512531A
Approximate
percentage
of shareholding
Number in the total
Name of of Shares held share capital of
Position inour  associated Nature of in associated  the associated
Name Company corporation interest corporation’ corporation
REBLE
R A
i 5 L O BRER
#e RADRMBEL HBHLZEEE EEME BROHAE BREs
Dr. Liu Qingfeng Non-executive iFlytek Beneficial owner? 128,297,167 5.54%
Director and
Chairman of
the Board
IEERT FHTESERE RAAR EnfiBA
£k
Interest held 57,291,611 2.47%
by controlled
corporation?
REEBM
e
Interest held 86,370,265 3.74%
through voting
rights proxy
arrangement?
BBRREERT
ZHBAN
i
Mr. Duan Dawei Non-executive iFlytek Beneficial owner 555,000 0.024%
Director
BARESE FHITES BAAR ERAEA
Ms. Sheng Yan Supervisor iFlytek Beneficial owner 5,000 0.0002%
RELt S HAAR ERAEEA
MREREBEROERA A

—E-MEFH
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Notes:
1. All interests shown are long positions.

2. As of December 31, 2024, Dr. Liu Qingfeng was interested in
approximately 11.76% equity interests in iFlytek, among which,
(i) Dr. Liu Qingfeng directly held approximately 5.54% equity
interests in iFlytek; (i) Anhui Yanzhi, which was held as to
69.5248% by Dr. Liu Qingfeng, held 2.47% equity interests in
iFlytek; and (iii) each of Mr. Wang Renhua (E{Z%), Mr. Chen
Tao (BR)&), Mr. Wu Xiaoru (R BE40), Mr. Hu Yu (#8#), Mr. Yan
Jun (B &), Mr. Huang Haibing (& /8 ££), Mr. Jiang Tao (J1)%),
Mr. Wu Xianghui (248&), Mr. Xu Yulin (fk £#), Mr. Wang
Zhiguo (EZEE), Mr. Hu Hongwei (#8 7 &), Mr. Nie Xiaolin
(F|/NHAK), Mr. Hu Guoping (F8B1F) and Mr. Yang Jun (15)
has entrusted, among others, his/her voting power at general
meetings of iFlytek, representing approximately 3.74% of the
equity interests in iFlytek, to Dr. Liu Qingfeng.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the requirements of
the Model Code.

During the Reporting Period, our Company did not grant any
rights to subscribe for shares or debentures of our Company or
any associated corporation to any of the Directors, Supervisors
and chief executive (including their spouses or children under
the age of 18).

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF OUR COMPANY

As at December 31, 2024, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following persons (who are not Directors, Supervisors or
chief executive of our Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company
under Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance:
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As at December 31, 2024
B 220245128318
Approximate
percentage (in

Approximate

percentage aggregate) of
of shareholding the total
Number in the relevant registered capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Class of Shares of Shares held"  class of Shares2  of our Company?
BRAIERRE
EREENGRE BEOBY
LEEY RHtE &4 & Al FrRen A" HEAED 2 B (452
iFlytek Beneficial owner Unlisted Shares 29,869,072 68.54%
MAAR ERERA ¥R o
H Shares 29,869,073 38.64% '
H&
Hefei Zhengsheng Information  Beneficial owner Unlisted Shares 9,736,647 22.34%
Technology Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (‘Hefei
Zhengsheng’)® 16:11%
AEIAGEHMRABLE EBHREAA TR '
(BRABEEER])
H Shares 9,736,647 12.60%
HER
Mr. Lu Xiaoliang® Interest in controlled Unlisted Shares 9,736,647 22.34%
corporation
BEREL REAZENER TR 1611%
H Shares 9,736,647 12.60%
HER
Nanjing Zhengyang? Interest in controlled Unlisted Shares 9,736,647 22.34%
corporation
HRIERS REALENER TR 16.11%
H Shares 9,736,647 12.60%
HR
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As at December 31, 2024
B Z2024%12831H

Approximate

Approximate
percentage (in

percentage aggregate) of
of shareholding the total
Number in the relevant  registered capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Class of Shares of Shares held"  class of Shares2  of our Company?
BAAAEREE
tREENGRE BENBY
LEEY ] EatE 4 & Al FraRen A" WEAED 2 B2 (A3H)2
Kexun Capital* Beneficial owner H Shares 17,448,567 22.57% 14.43%
RER-Ei ERERA HI
Mr. Xu Jingming* Interest in controlled Unlisted Shares 626,524 1.44%
corporation
RIS s RRALENER MR 15.47%
H Shares 18,075,092 23.38%
HER
Hefei Kexun Ruijin Investment  Interest in controlled H Shares 17,448,567 22.57% 14.43%
Management Partnership corporation
(Limited Partnership) (‘Kexun
Ruijin")*
AEMABEREEEAY RXEZENER Hi&
tREREE)(NRE
&)
Anhui Development Interest in controlled H Shares 17,448,567 22.57% 14.43%
Investment Co., Ltd. ("Anhui corporation
Investment’)!
ZHERERERRLA REELEN B H&
(ZMRE])!
iFlytek Haihe (Tianjin) Al Venture Beneficial owner Unlisted Shares 476,524 1.09%
Capital Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
(‘iFlytek Haihe)®
ARBMRBAIEREE BHREFA MR 0.79%
REZSABLR(BRAR)
(TRAEA )
H Shares 476,525 0.62%
HER
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As at December 31, 2024
B Z2024%12831H

Approximate

Approximate
percentage (in

percentage aggregate) of
of shareholding the total
Number in the relevant  registered capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Class of Shares of Shares held"  class of Shares2  of our Company?
R SNEERIT
EHBERSRE BENEN
RRER EatE I 43 % Bl FraRen A" RN B (#5)?
Hefei Kexun Lianshan Beneficial owner Unlisted Shares 150,000 0.34%
Innovation Industry Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (‘Kexun
Lianshan’)® 0.05%
AEMAELAFESRRER EHHEAA TR '
ABLEERAY) (RA
El])p
H Shares 150,000 0.19%
HI&
Mr. Hu Guoping Beneficial owner H Shares 4,479,871 5.80% 3.71%
HETEE ERERA H&
Shenzhen Tianzheng Investment Beneficial owner H Shares 3,900,000 5.05% 3.23%
Co., Ltd. (‘Tianzheng
Investment’y’
AYTREREFRAT EREAA HR
(RERE]Y
China Merchants Industry Interest in controlled H Shares 3,900,000 5.05% 3.23%
Development (Shenzhen) corporation
Limited (“CMID"y
RAREXER(MINERLR RXBEEMNER H&
(REREX])
China Merchants China Interest in controlled H Shares 3,900,000 5.05% 3.23%
Direct Investments Limited corporation
(‘CMCDI'y
RERTHAEEBRAR REBEB N ER Hi&
(fcmept))7
MREREBEROERA A
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Notes:

1.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31,

All interests shown are long positions.

As at December 31, 2024, the number of unlisted Shares of our
Company was 43,581,121 shares, the number of H Shares was
77,297,112 shares, and the total number of issued Shares was
120,878,233 shares.

The general partner of Hefei Zhengsheng is Mr. Lu Xiaoliang. Nanjing
Zhengyang holds 53.42% partnership interests in Hefei Zhengsheng.
Therefore, Mr. Lu Xiaoliang and Nanjing Zhengyang are deemed to
have interests in the Shares held by Hefei Zhengsheng.

The general partner of Kexun Capital is Kexun Ruijin, which has
appointed Mr. Xu Jingming as its representative and is ultimately
controlled by him. Anhui Investment holds approximately 49.83%
partnership interests in Kexun Capital. Therefore, Mr. Xu Jingming,
Kexun Ruijin and Anhui Investment are deemed to have interests in
the Shares held by Kexun Capital.

The general partner of iFlytek Haihe is Tianjin Kexun Haihe
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Tianjin Kexun”), and
the general partner of Tianjin Kexun is Hefei Kexun Venture Capital
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Hefei Kexun”),
which is ultimately controlled by Mr. Xu Jingming. Therefore, Mr. Xu
Jingming is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by iFlytek
Haihe.

The general partner of Kexun Lianshan is Hefei Kexun, which is
ultimately controlled by Mr. Xu Jingming. Therefore, Mr. Xu Jingming
is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by Kexun Lianshan.

Tianzheng Investment is wholly owned by CMID, which is wholly
owned by CMCDI. Therefore, CMID and CMCDI are deemed to have
interests in the Shares held by Tianzheng Investment.

2024, the

Directors are not aware of any other persons (who are not
Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of our Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of our Company which would fall to be disclosed to
our Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, or which were recorded in the register

requi
Secu

Xunfei

red to be kept by our Company under Section 336 of the
rities and Futures Ordinance.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors
or their respective associates had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the business of our Group and requires disclosure pursuant
to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, iFlytek has given a non-compete
undertaking (the “Non-Compete Undertaking”) in favor of the
Company dated January 2024 and as amended in December
2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed any
conflict of interest and/or potential competition between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholder and the compliance
with the Non-competition Undertaking for the period from the
Listing Date to December 31, 2024, and have confirmed that our
Controlling Shareholder has complied with the Non-Compete
Undertaking for the period from the Listing Date to December
31, 2024.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

For the year ended or as at December 31, 2024, save as
disclosed in this annual report, no Director, Supervisor or
any entity connected with them had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to our business to which our Company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no contract of
significance has been entered into among the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholder or any of their
subsidiaries.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

At no time during the Reporting Period was our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures (including debt securities) of our
Company or any other corporation.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

For details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors,
senior management and the five highest paid individuals,
please refer to notes 12 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No Director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments, and no
emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
our Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report

EFXF EERESTHRARMERG
BfRGzH#ER

AR EEBRARSEEERMF QA
BERRSHECARRAA2EE/ZHE
HHEEFE EERERETBRASRBK
AN B AT ) B A OX B ' Bk ) B S
5 (BRERZ)MESHE -

EF EF SREEERFHRLES
EEFMAL

FHEE EF SoAEEEBFHLA
LEETMALINGMEFS F2H4
BB TS R R B FE12 M2 Bt 7E39 o

MEESTREIRAEREELMAME B
AEBREANEFNESTHIALAESHF M
ALTZHERME  (FRMARNEEK
MAREERHEBIIELBERME -



DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors
has any service contract of Directors or Supervisors with
any member of our Group (other than contracts expiring
or determinable by the relevant employer within one year
without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
ONE-OFF CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Our Company entered into an agreement with iFlytek on
October 1, 2024, pursuant to which iFlytek agreed to lease
to our Company the premises with a total gross area of
approximately 10,628.07 sg.m. located in Hefei, Anhui Province,
the PRC, for our office use (“Office Lease Agreement”).
The rent under the Office Lease Agreement, on an annual
basis, are approximately RMB2.6 million, and shall be payable
by our Company on a semi-annually basis. The Office Lease
Agreement has a fixed term of two years and 3 months from
October 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The value of the lease
liabilities which includes the present value of the lease payment
recognized by our Company according to IFRS 16 attributable
to the office leases signed on October 1, 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB5.10 million, as at October 31, 2024. The
Office Lease Agreement was entered into: (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group; (i) on arm’s length basis;
and (iii) on normal commercial terms with the rent and property
management fee being determined with reference to, among
others, the prevailing market rates for similar properties in the
same area, the square meters rented.

As iFlytek is our Controlling Shareholder, iFlytek is a connected
person of our Company. In accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases”,
our Company recognized a right-of-use asset on its balance
sheet in connection with the lease of the properties from iFlytek.
As such, the transactions under the Office Lease Agreement
will be recorded as an acquisition of a capital asset and a one-
off connected transaction of our Group for the purpose of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the reporting, announcement, annual
review and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
with respect to continuing connected transactions in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules will not be applicable.
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Please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
the Prospectus for details of the above transactions.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Our Company have conducted the following transactions in the
ordinary and usual course of our business, which will constitute
continuing connected transactions of our Company subject
to the annual reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements (as the case may be) under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

1.

Products Provision Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

Our Company entered into a products provision framework
agreement with iFlytek (for and on behalf of iFlytek Group)
on December 10, 2024 (“Products Provision Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which our Group will provide
our medical device products to iFlytek Group for resale
at its self-managed offline stores and its own use such
as employee benefits. The initial term of the Products
Provision Framework Agreement shall commence on the
Listing Date until December 31, 2026. Relevant subsidiaries
of both parties will enter into separate underlying
agreements and/or orders which will set out the specific
terms and conditions according to the principles provided
in the Products Provision Framework Agreement.

Reasons for and Benefits of the Transactions

Our Company has strategically expanded into the medical
devices market to further promote our brand reputation
and reach individual customers. During the Reporting
Period, our Company has provided our Al healthcare
products, primarily consisting of hearing aids via
e-commerce platforms, namely JD.com and Tmall, to end
customers. For the purpose of promoting our products
through all channels, save for reaching customers through
online channels, our Company also leveraged on iFlytek
Group’s broad offline coverage to expand our offline
presence and improve customer experience. It is currently
more cost-effective and practically feasible for our Group
to liaise with iFlytek to expand our offline presence through
its self-managed offline stores rather than maintain such
offline stores by ourselves.
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Pricing Policies

The product fee to be paid by iFlytek Group to our
Company will be determined through arm’s length
negotiations between the relevant parties taking into
account factors including market price of the relevant
products and the price offered by our Company for online
sales. The pricing terms under the Products Provision
Framework Agreement shall be in line with the market
rates and in the best interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole.

Implications under the Listing Rules

As iFlytek is our Controlling Shareholder, iFlytek is a
connected person of our Company. Under the Listing
Rules, the transactions under the Products Provision
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of our Company.

In respect of the transactions under the Products
Provision Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable
percentage ratio for each of the three years ending
December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026 calculated for the
purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules is expected to
be more than 0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis,
the transactions are subject to the annual reporting and
announcement requirements under the Listing Rules.

Implementation of Such Connected Transaction during the
Reporting Period

During the Reporting Period, the annual cap for the
continuing connected transactions under the Products
Provision Framework Agreement for 2024 was RMB5.0
million. The total transaction amount actually incurred
between our Group and iFlytek Group under the above
agreement for 2024 was approximately RMB3.0 million.

Please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus for details of the above
transactions.
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Services and Products Procurement Framework
Agreement

Principal Terms

Our Company entered into a services and products
procurement framework agreement with iFlytek (for
and on behalf of iFlytek Group) on December 10, 2024
(“Services and Products Procurement Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which iFlytek Group will provide
various supporting and ancillary services and products
to our Group, including but not limited to (i) supporting
technology and software services including but not
limited to information technology, cloud service, general
supporting technology model and resources to facilitate
the development of our technology carried out by our
own employees and other ancillary or supporting services
and products such as basic office automation system
maintenance and warehouse management services; and
(i) supporting administrative services such as human
resources services, and hotline consultation and post-
sale services. The initial term of the Services and Products
Procurement Framework Agreement shall commence
on the Listing Date until December 31, 2026. Relevant
subsidiaries of both parties will enter into separate
underlying agreements and/or orders which will set out the
specific terms and conditions according to the principals
provided in the Services and Products Procurement
Framework Agreement.
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Reasons for and Benefits of the Transactions

Our Group has been purchasing such services and
products from iFlytek Group, a leading Al company that
focuses on research of core Al technology including smart
speech, natural language understanding, machine learning
and reasoning and independent learning, to satisfy our
business and operational needs during the Reporting
Period. Our Group and iFlytek Group have established a
long-term and stable business relationship, owing to which,
iFlytek Group has acquired a comprehensive understanding
of our business and operational requirements. Taking into
consideration our previous purchasing experience with
iFlytek Group, our Directors believe that iFlytek Group is
capable of fulfilling our demand efficiently and reliably with
a stable and high quality supply of services and products,
and entering into the Services and Products Purchasing
Agreement would minimize disruption to our Group’s
operation and internal procedures.

Pricing Policies

The service and product fee to be paid by our Company
to iFlytek Group will be determined through arm’s length
negotiations between the relevant parties taking into
account factors including nature, complexity and industry
position of the services and products, transaction volume,
anticipated costs borne by and fee rate of iFlytek Group,
prevailing market price of comparable services and
products, and shall be in line with fees offered by the
iFlytek Group to independent third parties (if applicable)
or other members of iFlytek Group for similar services
and products. The pricing terms under the Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement shall be no
less favorable than terms available to independent third
parties (if applicable) and the service and product fee is
at least in line with the market rates (if any) and in the
best interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a
whole.
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Implications under the Listing Rules

As iFlytek is our Controlling Shareholder, iFlytek is a
connected person of our Company. Under the Listing
Rules, the transactions under the Services and Products
Procurement Framework Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions of our Company.

In respect of the transactions under the Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement, as the
highest applicable percentage ratio for each of the
three years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026
calculated for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules is expected to exceed 5% on an annual basis,
the transactions are subject to the annual reporting,
announcement and the independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Implementation of Such Connected Transaction during the
Reporting Period

During the Reporting Period, the annual cap for the
continuing connected transactions under the Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement for 2024
was RMB82.0 million. The total transaction amount actually
incurred between our Group and iFlytek Group under the
above agreement for 2024 was approximately RMB79.4
million.

Please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus for details of the above
transactions.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report

T Rl 0 2

HRBIRAR B AR AERR R -
HMBARARRBARBNEEAL -
RELETHRA BRERERRBIE
RiHFR TR S EKR AR R

ARBREMRBERBEETH
RHME ' AR EMHRAUE A
B EH £2024%F - 2025 2026
F12ABILZAFESFNES
BRED L RIEFTERESHR5% -
WMZERSBEFTLEMRAUVEBETH
FERFR  RERBIBREI AR

io

HEHAZFELZH G

RBEBHR REMERTBIESR
WiEIB N FERIER S M2024F F
ErtRAARMSBE T A&
EHEBMAAREELE LRHZHRET
ERBLEMN0UFRAIFTEHAEA
REEMN7948E T °

EFRLARZNFE  F2HEBR
ERIBEERS|—H -



Bidding Cooperation Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

Our Company entered into a bidding cooperation
framework agreement with iFlytek (for and on behalf
of iFlytek Group) on December 10, 2024 (“Bidding
Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which the
parties agree to cooperate with each other to bid for
certain projects owned or initiated by independent third
parties (“Projects”). Subject to the terms and conditions
of the Projects and in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, our Group and iFlytek Group may initiate the
bidding and agree on the form of cooperation. Subject
to requirements imposed by the Project owners, the
form of cooperation may include: i) for the iFlytek Group
to bid for the Projects and subcontract the parts of the
Projects related to our principal business (the “Group-
related Parts”) to the Group. iFlytek Group and our Group
will enter into arrangements for the provision of relevant
products and services by our Group to iFlytek Group under
the Projects; and ii) for our Group and iFlytek Group to
jointly bid for the Projects. Our Group will be responsible
for the Group-related Parts. The total consideration to be
paid by the Project owners will be settled between iFlytek
Group and our Group. The initial term of the Bidding
Cooperation Framework Agreement shall commence
on the Listing Date until December 31, 2026. Relevant
subsidiaries of both parties will enter into separate
underlying agreements which will set out the specific terms
and conditions according to the principles provided in the
Bidding Cooperation Framework Agreement.
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Reasons for and Benefits of the Transactions

While our Company typically undertakes projects on our
own, Project owners including government departments
or their respective controlled enterprises may impose
some specific requirements for the Projects such as
requiring bidders to provide a wide spectrum of integrated
service/products as a package, part of which may be
beyond our business scope, or requiring the bidders
to have local geographical coverage etc. Thus, it is not
practically feasible or time-efficient for our Group to bid
for such Projects by ourselves. However, if our Company
cooperates with iFlytek Group and leverage on iFlytek
Group’s broad diversification of business and geographical
coverage, our Group may participate in such Projects.
Such cooperation will provide our Group with more
opportunities to participate in such Projects, and our
Group will be responsible for the Group-related Parts.
The Directors are of the view that the cooperation will not
give rise to any business dependence or reliance issues
between our Group and iFlytek Group.

Pricing Policies

The bidding quotation offered by iFlytek Group and/or
our Group will be jointly determined by our Group and
iFlytek Group taking into consideration Project scale,
complexity, delivery time required and estimated costs
and expense. Both parties agree that the Group-related
Parts will be directed to us by iFlytek Group on a no
profit basis. Our Company will only enter into definitive
agreement with iFlytek Group under the principles of the
Bidding Cooperation Agreement when the terms are in the
best interests of our Company and our Shareholders as a
whole.
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Implications under the Listing Rules

As iFlytek is our Controlling Shareholder, iFlytek is a
connected person of our Company. Under the Listing Rules,
the transactions under the Bidding Cooperation Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of our
Company.

In respect of the transactions under the Bidding Cooperation
Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable percentage
ratio for each of the three years ending December 31, 2024,
2025 and 2026 calculated for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules is expected to exceed 5% on an annual basis, the
transactions are subject to the annual reporting, announcement
and the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

Implementation of Such Connected Transaction during the
Reporting Period

During the Reporting Period, the annual cap for the continuing
connected transactions under the Bidding Cooperation
Framework Agreement for 2024 was RMB60.0 million. The
total transaction amount actually incurred between our Group
and iFlytek Group under the above agreement for 2024 was
approximately RMB46.7 million.

Please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
the Prospectus for details of the above transactions.

Confirmation from the Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above non-exempt continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that such continuing connected transactions have
been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of our Group, on normal commercial terms or better, and
according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of our Company and our
Shareholders as a whole.
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Auditor’s Letter

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, our Company has
engaged our auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Based on the work performed, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu has provided a letter to the Board confirming that, in
respect of the aforementioned disclosed continuing connected
transactions:

a. nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Board of the Company;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group;

c. nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to
our attention that causes us to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the
annual cap as set by the Company.

Related Party Transactions

For the year ended December 31, 2024, save as disclosed in
the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this annual
report, in which the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the
financial statements do not constitute connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out Directors’ liability insurance to
provide protection to the Directors in respect of any losses they
may incur as a result of their acts or alleged acts of misconduct.

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, permitted indemnity provisions (as defined in section 9
of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation under Chapter
622D of the Laws of Hong Kong) were in force or are in force to
provide appropriate protection for the Directors.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 41
to the financial statements.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
MATTERS

During the Reporting Period, our Group did not have any
litigation or arbitration matters that had a material impact on our
operating activities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to our Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as of the Latest
Practicable Date, the public held 15.67% of the issued Shares
of our Company, complying with the requirements of the
Listing Rules and the public float waiver granted by the Stock
Exchange. Please refer to the section headed “Waivers from
Strict Compliance with the Listing Rules — Waiver in Relation
to Public Float” in the Prospectus for details of the public float
waiver.
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the names, principal places of operation, places
of incorporation and issued share capital of our Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We strictly adhere to the standards set or issued by the relevant
PRC environment-related laws and regulations in assessing
and managing our impacts on the environment as a result of
our business activities. We have implemented company-wide
environmental policies and standard operating procedures,
mainly comprising management systems and procedures
relating to wastewater generation and electricity energy saving.

During the Reporting Period, we primarily tracked the KPls
such as energy consumption and fresh water consumption, and
water pollutants emission in relation to our principal business.
Our administrative department is responsible for overseeing
the implementation of policies and procedures. During the
Reporting Period, our water consumption was 9,125 tons and
our electricity consumption was 1,019,513 kWh. We intend to
further reduce our water and electricity consumption in the
foreseeable future through various workspace policies and
measures. We expect to continue to promote green and low-
carbon self-owned medical institutions by implementing green
environment concepts, vigorously promoting online offices and
implementing the transformation to a more efficient operational
model.

In addition, we will also implement the plan for water and
electricity consumption reduction through the following
measures: (i) establishing policy for energy saving and assigning
specific personnel to implement energy saving policy; (ii)
conducting regular water pipe leak testing to avoid potential
water wastage; (iii) arranging workers to fix dripping taps in
a timely manner; (iv) putting up water saving posters and
reminders to remind everyone to turn off the faucet completely
after use; and (v) arranging a security team to turn off lights
according to set schedules.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

Our Group provides regular and specialized training tailored
to the needs of employees in different departments. Our
Group’s human resources department regularly organizes
internal training sessions on topics of interest, conducted by
senior employees or external consultants. Our Group’s human
resources department arranges online training, reviews the
content of the training, follows up with employees to evaluate
the impact of such training, and rewards lecturers for positive
feedback received. Through such trainings, we ensure that
our staff’s skill sets remain up to date, enabling them to better
discover and meet consumers’ needs.

Our Group is committed to establishing competitive and
fair remuneration. To effectively motivate employees, we
continuously refine our remuneration and incentive policies
through market research. We conduct performance evaluations
of employees monthly, quarterly, and annually to provide
feedback on their performance. Compensation for our Group’s
employees typically includes a base salary and performance-
based bonuses.

Our Group continuously improves our welfare system for
the benefit of our employees. We offer employees additional
benefits such as annual leave, allowances, and health check-
ups. We provide regular and specialized training tailored to the
needs of our employees in different departments. We provide
training for management and service personnel at all levels.
Through such trainings, we help employees keep up with
industry developments as well as skills and technologies. We
also organize seminars from time to time to discuss specific
topics.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the Directors’ service contracts, no contracts
concerning the management or administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of our Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31,
2024,
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief available to holders
of the Company’s securities by reason of their holding such
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no pre-emptive right provisions under the Articles of
Association or PRC laws which would oblige our Company to
offer new Shares pro rata to existing Shareholders.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
(i) neither our Company nor any of its subsidiaries entered
into and/or had any material contract with our Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) there were no
material contracts for the provision of services to our Group by
our Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Our Group did not enter into nor were there any equity-linked
agreements in existence for the year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu served as the independent auditor
of our Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. The
financial statements set out in this annual report have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and there has been no
change in the auditors of our Company since the Listing Date.

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, our Group’s
donation expenses amounted to approximately RMB380,000.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The business operated by our Company is primarily regulated by
the laws, rules and regulations of the PRC. During the Reporting
Period, our Company has complied with the relevant laws, rules
and regulations that have a material impact on our Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no material
events that have occurred in our Group from the end of the
Reporting Period to the Latest Practicable Date.

XUNFEI HEALTHCARE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
Dr. Tao Xiaodong
Executive Director

March 26, 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

XUNFEI HEALTHCARE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
(AREBEENEROGBERAF)

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xunfei
Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd. (‘FAREBER K RHBER QA
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 120 to 236, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at December
31, 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
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thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this

matter.

Key audit matter

HEETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWESFONNEEFERETSEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, contract assets and

amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

ESRUNE RPBESEUNKE SREERERERFARANKBNRETHE

As disclosed in note 4 and 37, we identified
impairment assessment of trade receivables,
long-term trade receivables, contract assets and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balances of
these receivables and the involvement of complex
estimates and judgements in assessing expected
credit losses (“ECL”) captioned above.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on impairment of trade receivables, long-
term trade receivables, contract assets, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries included:
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— Understanding the internal process and
evaluating the design and implementation of the
relevant key controls over the assessment and
monitoring of credit risks and determination of
allowance for ECL;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEFTER

MEFHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANESFNNEEFARETEER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, contract assets and

amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Continued)

EZRWFIER RMESEVURE SREEREBERERFARRBNRENMLE)

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount
of trade receivables, long-term trade receivables,
contract assets and amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries of the Group amounted to
RMB731,374,000, RMB76,203,000, RMB20,325,000
and RMB69,527,000, respectively, and the
allowance for trade receivables, long-term trade
receivables, contract assets and amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries amounted to RMB24,181,000,
RMB3,272,000, RMB462,000 and RMB1,218,000
respectively, as set out in Notes 20, 22, 23 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

AR A B R KT 5E20 - 22 - 23KR24FT & 0 R
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A K #24,181,0007T ~ A E#3,272,0007T - A R %
462,0007T & A R #1,218,0007T °
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— Challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables, including their identification
of credit-impaired trade receivables, the
reasonableness of grouping of the remaining
trade debtors in the provision matrix, and the
basis of estimated loss rates applied;
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Key audit matter

BEFTER
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HEFHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANESNNEEFARETEER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, contract assets and

amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Continued)
EZRUNRE REPEZFEWRIE

The Group recognized a lifetime ECL for these
receivables. Management grouped these
receivables on shared credit risk characteristics,
and then determined the expected loss rates on
the basis of the payment profiles of customers and
the corresponding historical credit losses, which
were adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables
and contract assets. In addition, these receivables
that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually
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Evaluating the appropriateness of management’s
assessment on customer grouping based on
our understanding of the Group’s business and
operations and the credit risk characteristics of
the relevant customers;
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Testing the accuracy of input data used by
the management of the Group to develop the
ECL model by inspecting relevant transaction
documents to examine the aging of these
receivables on sample basis;
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Involving the internal valuation specialists to
assist us to evaluate the appropriateness of the
methodology, key assumptions and judgements
used by the management.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirement
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter.
We describe the matter in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Chun Kit Tommy.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 26, 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBmRHMEERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
NOTES 2024 2023
Bt 5 20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR¥BTR AR%Tr
Revenue g (5 733,984 556,125
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (329,900) (241,471)
Gross profit £ 404,084 314,654
Other income Hfbug A 6 41,649 48,577
Impairment losses under expected EHEEFEERNTH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEERER) 9 (13,404) (6,187)
Other gains and losses Ha oz kB 7 (101) 734
Selling expenses HEMX (192,102) (163,058)
Administrative expenses THAX (95,885) (112,559)
Research and development expenses #f 2 & (271,886) (263,964)
Listing expenses EHAX (38,231) (3,901)
Finance costs B 755 B R 8 (6,140) (1,211)
Loss before tax 1 Bl & 18 11 (172,016) (186,915)
Income tax credit Fris ik & 10 34,380 32,691
Loss and total comprehensive FRERRZERXAHE
expense for the year (137,636) (154,224)
Loss and total comprehensive LWTEMEEREZERY
expense attributable to: HaEE
— Owners of the Company — KREHAE A (132,600) (144,842)
— Non-controlling interests — JEER S (5,036) (9,382)
(137,636) (154,224)
Loss per share BREBEE
— Basic (RMB yuan) — ER(AR%T) 14 (1.16) (1.30)

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBRRE

As at December 31, 2024 1R2024F 12 A31H

As at December 31,

M12H31H
NOTES 2024 2023
Bt & 2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

Non-current assets ERBEE
Equipment By 15 13,358 13,879
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 8,301 1,716
Goodwill EES 17 23,777 23,777
Other intangible assets EmmEEE 18 145,588 158,322
Deferred tax assets EREBIBEEE 19 139,643 105,699
Long-term trade receivables KHEZE WA 20 76,203 79,195
Pledged/restricted bank deposits B ZREIRITER 26 1,875 1,875
408,745 384,463
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 21 102,851 73,529
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H qth fE W 5k IE 22 795,609 533,260
Contract assets aREE 23 20,325 8,153
Tax recoverable Ay W [ 7 18 88 23
Amount due from the ultimate holding & U &5 4% 422 B A 5 B
company 24 4,610 6,707
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries &% Rl X+ A &) ;X IE 24 69,527 58,459
Financial assets at fair value through & AR BETAE I
profit or loss (“FVTPL) (BAAEBEFAER)D
NEREE 25 - 25,000
Pledged/restricted bank deposits B/ ZREIRITER 26 11,428 5,516
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBEEEY 26 676,754 142,504
1,681,192 853,151
Current liabilities REBEE
Bill, trade and other payables ZR BSNREMENKE 27 521,170 379,664
Bank borrowings RITER 28 180,000 88,000
Amount due to the ultimate holding JE N H& =R AR RIE
company 29 78,893 383,306
Amounts due to related companies FE S B8 B R B 3B 29 99,600 65,962
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 4,670 1,047
Provision B 31 79,118 61,035
Contract liabilities aRA%E 32 28,897 39,681
Deferred income iR T WA 33 6,283 2,352
Tax liabilities MIBAE 1,658 —
1,000,289 671,047

AMRE R R O ERD A 121
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBERRE

As at December 31, 2024 R2024F 12 A31H

As at December 31,

M12H31H
NOTES 2024 2023
Bt & 2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

Net current assets BREBEE 680,903 182,104
Total assets less current liabilities B EERAB AR 1,089,648 566,567
Non-current liabilities FRBAME
Lease liabilities HERE 30 4,638 504
Deferred income iR IE WA 33 19,302 =
Bank borrowings |ITER 28 64,800 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 19 14,066 16,203
102,806 16,707
Net assets BEE 986,842 549,860
Capital and reserves B A K &k
Share capital f& 7R 34 120,879 113,843
Reserves f&k 1 819,020 384,944
Equity attributable to owners RARIER NG =
of the Company 939,899 498,787
Non-controlling interests FEE IR HE 46,943 51,073
Total equity 48 5 3% 986,842 549,860

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 236 were £ 120E 236 E K 45 & B 1§ i X © 12025
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on F3F26BHEE & #t £ R F#ETZ I

26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: HUATESFREKEE:
Dr. Tao Xiaodong Mr. Duan Dawei
MEREL BRKARRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EF

122 Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREEX

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 220244 12 H31H 1F F /&

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAKEAEL
Share-
based Non-
Share Share Capital payments  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
NRBA
-1 1]
i ki EE EADE TfRE ZitER Mt FBRER S
RMB in RMB in RMBin RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note)
(R &)
As at January 1, 2023 20231818 111,000 34,274 6,129 126,831 (244,003) 341,231 58,506 399,737
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREER

expense for the year 2ARREE - - - - (144,849 (144,842) (9,382) (154,224
Capital contribution from a REAEETAA

non-controlling shareholder FERREMLE

of a subsidiary of the Group - - - - - - 700 700
Issuance of ordinary shares BTEAR ()

(Note 34) 2,843 207,157 - - - 210,000 - 210,000
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRAA

payments (Note 35) R A A (P £35) - - 1,130 91,268 - 92,398 1,249 93,647
As at December 31, 2023 R2023%12A31A 113,843 548,431 7,259 218,099 (388,845) 498,787 51,073 549,860
Loss and total comprehensive ~ EREER

expense for the year rERYEE - - - - (132,600) (132,600) (5,036) (137,636)
Capital contribution fromanon-~ REAEE T 17

controlling shareholder of a FBERRROLE

subsidiary of the Group - - - - - - 50 50
Issuance of ordinary shares BTEAR (M)

(Note 34) 7,036 532,307 - - - 539,343 - 530,343
Cost of issing new shares EIHRHMKE - (19,446) - - - (19,446) - (19,446)
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRGBER

payments (Note 35) B f (H 335) - - 339 53,476 - 53,815 856 54,671
As at December 31, 2024 2024512318 120,879 1,061,292 7,598 271,575 (521,445) 939,899 46,43 986,842

Note:

The capital reserve represented the recognition of equity-settled B
share-based payments issued by iFLYTEK Co., Ltd. (BFRF MR
%% B R &]) (IFLYTEK”), the ultimate holding company of the
Company, to certain employees of the Group.

BRANEERBAARRANZRZERAD
AMAHAREODERAA (XKD
MASEETEERHMUEREEN
B dn A B B A o

W

AREENERAERAT
—EoMEER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

Year ended December 31,

B Z12A31BLLFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR¥BTR AR%®FTr
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
Loss before tax A E B (172,016) (186,915)
Adjustments for: E
Finance costs B %5 AR 6,140 1,211
Interest income B YA (726) (1,397)
Imputed interest for long-term trade REBESEKAIBENHE
receivables AP (5,692) (6,563)
Gains from changes in fair value of BEAnBEFABGZNESH
financial assets at FVTPL EEAAEBEEZEHKS (318) (904)
Depreciation of equipment LB E 8,563 7,081
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHESENE 1,675 1,505
Amortization of other intangible assets EfMER & EH#HE 37,687 33,374
Impairment losses under expected credit EHEEBERATH
loss model, net of reversal VB BB (N KR E) 13,404 6,187
Losses on disposal of equipment HERBEBE 18 33
Net gains on termination of right-of-use BRIFERAEEER
assets and lease liabilities HEaEMNFka (25) —
Equity-settled share-based payments WESHEEURGD A
e ft 54,628 93,331
Provision of warranty REBEDBE 37,486 31,059
Operating cash flow before movements in LEESEHAN
working capital KEREME (19,176) (21,998)
Increase in long-term trade receivables KHIE 5 MU SR IEE 1N (11,217) (18,732)
Increase in inventories FEEM (29,322) (26,641)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 [ H b & W FRIBE N (255,613) (187,099)
Decrease (increase) in amount due from the  F& U & 48 #22 B A B 3008
ultimate holding company A (3E ) 1,730 (1,568)
Increase in amounts due from fellow FE W R 22 F 2 B) 3R IB 12 N
subsidiaries (11,706) (82,709)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets & R & E (3 hn) Rk (12,529) 8,413
Increase in bill, trade and other payables EE - -BHRHAM
JE& {<F 3K T8 32 N 148,187 85,066
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities ERAEECED) L (10,784) 12,285
Increase (decrease) in amount due to the JE S B SR PE R A &) 3R
ultimate holding company 30 Ok 4) 45,587 (144,973)
Increase in amounts due to related companies F& 15t 78 B A &) 7% 78 12 33,638 34,375
Decrease in provision BEmL (19,403) (19,113)
Increase (decrease) in deferred income iR JE Y A8 0 CRt ) 6,548 (1,722)
Cash used in operations KEFAR® (134,060) (314,416)
Income tax (paid) refunded (BEMBERAEM (65) 111
NET CASH USED IN REBBIARSFR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (134,125) (314,305)

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv_\éiﬁ,ﬁ)?ﬁ,%%%
For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

Year ended December 31,

B Z12A31BLLFE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received B F B 726 1,397
Proceeds from disposal of equipment HERBAENRE 16 6
Purchase of equipment BEXE (8,076) (10,823)
Payment of additions of other intangible REHMEREENSIN
assets (24,953) (25,683)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —XKFRA] (8,067) (24,203)
Asset-related government grants received EWEERBEBRAREY 16,685 —
Placement of pledged/restricted bank TFAE®R/ZREIRITFER
deposits (6,382) (13,416)
Withdrawal of pledged/restricted bank REVEHZRHBITER
deposits 470 12,283
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERAABEFABZED
SREE (50,000) (312,600)
Withdrawal of financial assets at FVTPL REBRAABEFGFTABERD
TREE 75,318 373,504
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING KREEZH (A MRS
ACTIVITIES F R (4,263) 465
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B EED
Interest paid =ENEARSS (5,995) (2,761)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEMEAE (534) (1,259)
Bank borrowings raised FTEEIRITER 340,000 128,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBEITER (183,200) (40,000)
Capital contribution from non-controlling REEEFRA]
shareholders of subsidiaries of the group FEERBREALEE 50 700
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 217 & @ & BT 15 %X 18 539,343 210,000
Issue costs paid BT EITR A (17,026) (1,354)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®EESMBREFHE 672,638 293,326
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASH AND IR& MBS EEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS R A 35 534,250 (20,514)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FNReERFEEFED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 142,504 163,018
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FREGKMIBEEEY
END OF THE YEAR 676,754 142,504
AMREBRRNERAERAF

R MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMEE

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

GENERAL INFORMATION

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd. (5l 7R E& & &l & A%
MABER AT (the “Company”), formerly known as Anhui
Xunfei Medical Co., Ltd. (Z B R EERMHERRA),
Anhui iIFLYTEK Medical Information Technology Company
Limited (Z BB AR EFEE ERMARAF]) and Anhui
Puji Information Technology Company Limited (%2 #1 7%
= BRI BB A7), was established as a company with
limited liability in Hefei City, Anhui Province, the PRC, on
May 13, 2016, under the Company Law of the PRC. The
immediate holding company and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is iIFLYTEK. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of
the Company is No. 167 Guang’anmennei Street Xicheng
District, Beijing PRC.

On December 24, 2021, the Company was converted into
a joint stock company with limited liability. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on December 30, 2024
(the “Listing”).

The Group are principally engaged in the provision of
comprehensive healthcare Al solutions in the PRC. Details
of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 40.

The consolidated financial statements is presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Group has consistently adopted
the accounting policies which conform with IFRS
Accounting Standards, amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards and the related interpretations issued by
the IASB, which are effective for the accounting period
beginning on January 1, 2024.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

2.

FE IR RT R 42 (5 AT E PR Pt 35 3R 25
R Et R (E)

E R ERREMOMETRAEBSBET
B B R 365 3 5 25 R & w22 RN

At the date of this report, the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards have been

issued which are not yet effective:
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

BUPR B 75 3R 5 22 R B O R B PR B 1 i 5
ERIBTHREMEET R

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

B BR B 75 R HE R SO R B PR B IS R 5
HERIBETHREEET A

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

B B B 75 3 & 2E R SB105% R B BR & 5 £ A
F285F M EF] A

Amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards

BB B 7 e R @ ST E BB RT A

Amendments to IAS 21

R @ st AR E215R B FT AN

IFRS 18

B R B 755 ¥ 5 2 B 51855

NSRS B - BEAGIE MR
Y $7 3T % 43 16 3T B0 18 1 5 3R 25 22 )
EEHEAMT

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?
ST AEDERFEEFS

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity®
B RAKREBAKE A K8

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture!

REZEHEBERNRIAELRZANEELEIEE

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards-
Volume 118

B R E LR G LN FEUIE — F11fpe

Lack of Exchangeability?

Rz e

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

A5 SR P RO 51 o S 3 ER

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 1 RAEFTEBHS 2% IR FE B~
determined. ER o

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2 M2025F1 A1H K 2 B F A M F /5 5
2025. il A 2 e

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 3 M2026F1A1B K 2 & IR K F/E 5
2026. AR -

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 4 R2027%1 A1H 3k 2 1% [ 16 &) & /E B8
2027. DR

The application of IFRS 18 has impact on presentation
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and no impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance. Except for the IFRS
18, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance in foreseeable future.

& FA B0 R B 75 3R 45 ZE Bl 251858 A 4R
AEREREMEEKRERNIHAE
FE MU AEBTEMRR LR
MW EFLE - REBIBR B3RS ER
F185 N RA R EETEHE B Z
CEBP B REENSHERE
I E AE B KRR KK
HHERARRBEXNEAZE -

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RMEE

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an

investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are

changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on combination.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
("CGU”) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating
to contracts with customers is provided in Note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognized as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement schemes are
recognized as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognized at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognized as an expense
unless another IFRS Accounting Standards requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Restricted share units (“RSU”) granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payments reserve). In addition, the
ultimate holding company of the Company, iFLYTEK, also
operates certain share-based payment transactions which
cover certain employees of the Group. RSUs of iFLYTEK
granted to the grantees of the Group are recognized as
an employee benefit expenses over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied, with a corresponding
increase in equity (capital reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognizes the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related
assets separately. The Group recognizes a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilized and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

EQUIPMENT

Equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of equipment is derecognized upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognized in profit or loss.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other intangible assets acquired separately

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortization for other intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Internally-generated other intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognized,
development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Internally-generated other intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated other
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as other intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment on equipment, right-of-use assets and other

intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its equipment, right-of-use assets and
other intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an

indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of equipment, right-of-use assets,
and other intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of

the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of

CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use (“VIU”). In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment on equipment, right-of-use assets and other
intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its VIU
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or the group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset (or a CGU or the group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost of inventories are determined on the
weighted average method. Net realizable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of each reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type
warranty obligations under the relevant contracts with
customers for sales of PHC Services, Regional Healthcare
Solutions and Hospital Services are recognized at the date
of sale of the relevant products, at the directors of the
Company’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the Group’s obligation.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables, long-
term trade receivables and trade receivables due from
related parties arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue
from contracts with customers (“IFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortized cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

(i)

Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortized cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognized by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognized by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortized cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognized in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL’) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, amount due from
the ultimate holding company, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, cash and cash equivalents, pledged/restricted
bank deposits and long-term trade receivables, and other
items (contract assets) which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL’) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, long-term trade receivables, trade receivables
due from related parties and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognizes lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Group).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognized in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables, contract assets,
long-term trade receivables and trade receivables due
from related parties using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables, long-term
trade receivables, trade receivables due from related
parties and contract assets are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortized cost
of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, contract assets, long-term trade
receivables and amounts due from related parties
where the corresponding adjustment is recognized
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities including bill, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, amount due to the ultimate holding
company and amounts due to related companies are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable.
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e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of each reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the coming
twelve months, are described.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF DEVELOPMENT
COSTS

Determining whether development costs are impaired
requires an estimation of recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the development costs belong, which is the higher
of the VIU or fair value less costs of disposal. The VIU
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arising from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further loss
may arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF DEVELOPMENT
COSTS (Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of
development costs were RMB29,203,000 (2023:
RMB14,018,000), no impairment loss was recognized
by the management of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2024 (2023: nil). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 18.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the VIU
or fair value less costs of disposal. The VIU calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision of discount
rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment loss
may arise.

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of
goodwill were RMB23,777,000 (2023: RMB23,777,000), no
impairment loss was recognized by the management of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023:
nil). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 17.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, deferred tax assets of
RMB139,643,000 (2023: RMB105,699,000), in relation
to the unused tax loss for certain operating entities and
deductible temporary difference have been recognized
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future taxable profits generated are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognized in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

PROVISION OF ECL FOR TRADE RECEIVABLES,
LONG-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES, CONTRACT
ASSETS AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

The trade receivables, long-term trade receivables,
contract assets, amount due from the ultimate holding
company and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries that
are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In
addition, for trade receivables, long-term trade receivables,
contract assets, amount due from the ultimate holding
company and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries which
are individually insignificant or when the Group does
not have reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on
an individual basis, collective assessment is performed
by grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings. The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, contract
assets, amount due from the ultimate holding company
and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are disclosed in
Notes 20, 22, 23, 24 and 37.

As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of
trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, contract
assets and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were
RMB731,374,000, RMB76,203,000, RMB20,325,000 and
RMB69,527,000 respectively (2023: RMB498,266,000,
RMB79,195,000, RMB8,153,000 and RMB58,459,000), net
of allowance of credit losses amounting to RMB24,181,000,
RMB3,272,000, RMB462,000 and RMB1,218,000
respectively (2023: RMB11,729,000, RMB3,682,000,
RMB105,000 and RMB580,000).
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RS BER

() DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM () EREAKZSH
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

Types of goods or services EmdiRBER

Project implementation services I8 B & i AR 7% 639,521 469,200
Operation services & B IR % 39,432 34,674
Al healthcare products ALBGEBEEM 55,031 52,251
733,984 556,125
By business lines REKRED
Primary Healthcare (“PHC”) EAEBER(EBBRDRS
Services 237,031 239,754
Regional Healthcare Solutions BIFEBTAERGE 153,755 116,638
Hospital Services B2 b Bl 75 132,035 64,912
Patient Services BE RS 211,163 134,821
733,984 556,125

Timing of revenue recognition W EREEH

A point in time RE—KHER 694,552 521,451
Overtime 5 B8 B 39,432 34,674
733,984 556,125

MREBENEROERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(I) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR

CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarized below:

Project implementation services income are mainly
generated from PHC Services, Regional Healthcare
Solutions, Hospital Services and Patient Services.
Revenue generated from project implementation
services are recognized at a point in time when the
products or solutions are delivered to the customer’s
designated place, inspected and accepted by the
customers.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect
liability period, are classified as contract assets,
which ranges from 1 to 3 years from the date of the
acceptance of the products or solutions. The Group
typically transfers contract assets to trade receivables
when the defect liability period expires and the
collection rights become unconditional.

Sales-related warranties associated with project
implementation services can not be purchased
separately and they serve as an assurance that
the solutions provided comply with agreed-upon
specifications. Accordingly, the Group accounts for
warranties in accordance with IAS 37. Details of the
provision for warranties are set out in Note 31.

Operation services income are mainly generated from
outbound calling services, extended maintenance and
upgrade services, which are recognized over time on
a straight-line basis and are mainly included in PHC
Services, Hospital Services and Patient Services,
since the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group as the
Group performs. Advance consideration received in
these services is recognized as a contract liability and
is released on a straight-line basis over the period of
services. Details of the contract liabilities are set out
in Note 32.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

()

D)

PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Continued)

The Group is primarily responsible for providing the
Al healthcare products to the customers being a
principal, and revenue is recognized at a point in time
when the Al healthcare products are delivered to and
accepted by the customers.

Certain sale contracts of the Group are bundled
contracts, which are consisted of multiple elements
of platforms and solution services, and are regarded
as separate performance obligations. The transaction
price is allocated to each item in the sale contract
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices.

CONTRACT COSTS

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a contract

if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortized to profit or loss within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; 22024F 12531H 1 F)Z

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(1)

(v)

CONTRACT COSTS (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
service contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in
terms of other relevant standards, failing which it
recognizes an asset for these costs only if they meet
all of the following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognized is subsequently amortized to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION
FOR CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The majority of the contracts for provision of PHC
Services, Regional Healthcare Solutions, Hospital
Services and Patient Services are for periods of
one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

5. WBRIWER(E

(V) SEGMENT INFORMATION (V) #8ER

Information is reported to the executive director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
(*CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment. The accounting policies
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3. No other analysis of the Group’s
results nor assets and liabilities is regularly provided
to the CODM for review and the CODM reviews the
overall results and financial position of the Group as
a whole. Accordingly, the CODM has identified one
operating segment and only entity-wide disclosures,
major customers and geographical information are
presented in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

Geographical information

The Group primarily operates in the PRC. The Group’s
non-current assets are all located in the PRC.
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group are as follows:

EBEENBRE TARANH
TES  EBLERRE (X
EEERRE]) UNETER
DB R BT o BB R A
B RESFT st ) AN &= B & A R
MHE - REENEMES &
E N BERN DI EF B R H®
MEBEBRREETEN
MEBLEBRRENEHAS
BEBHBE A R
B - TEZERKE BRI
—IAKENE - W BERER
R B HREEAFRZEED
MBI ERBEENRE T2
BEERMIBIER -

=
AEBZTEZEEPHLEHER o
AEBMBERBEEHMUR
FE o

BEETEEFNER
REMHEFEHAEE LK S
B RBB10% M & P /I &
T

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands

AR¥BTR AR®Tr

Customer A ZEA N/A! 63,653
i R

Customer B ZFB N/A! 61,628
i R

U The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10%
of total revenue of the Group.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hftlg A
Year ended December 31,
BZ12B31BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARBTRT AREFTT
Government grants (Note i) BT 8 Bh (Bt 3E0) 16,660 17,784
Value-added tax refund (Note ii) B E R B (M T 18,230 22,605
Interest income from bank deposits RITF A F B U A 726 1,397
Imputed interest income for long-term K HIZ 5 & U Z B HY

trade receivables (Note iii) 1t & F 2 WA (B 5Eiii) 5,692 6,563
Others HAh 341 228
41,649 48,577

Notes: B 5

The amount represents various subsidies received from
the PRC local government authorities as incentives mainly
for the Group’s research and development activities and
financing activities. Unconditional government grants are
recognized in profit and loss when received while conditional
government grants are initially recognized as deferred income
and recognized in profit or loss when the Group fulfilled the
conditions.

In accordance with the Notice of Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation on Value-added Tax Policies for
Software Products which was promulgated by the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on October
13, 2011 and came into effect on January 1, 2011, enterprises
engaged in the sales of self-developed software in the PRC are
entitled to the value-added tax refund to the portion of value-
added tax actually paid which exceeds 3% of the related sale
amounts.

The imputed interest rates applied to long-term trade
receivables ranged from 3.60% to 4.75% (2023: 4.75%) per
annum as at December 31, 2024.
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7.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

7. Htilim RER

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

Gains from changes in fair value of BEARBEFABRN SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEAABEEHKR 318 904
Losses on disposal of equipment HEXREBHE (18) (33)
Net gains on termination of right-of-use & IHEFREEERHEE
assets and lease liabilities BEMFRE 25 —
Donations B (550) (130)
Others Efth 124 (7)
(101) 734
FINANCE COSTS 8. MERX
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A831BLLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

ARBTRE ARBTT

Interest expense on bank borrowings — $R1T & Z A B FI 5,995 1,176
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMEBEMERX 145 35
6,140 1,211

AMREBRRNERAERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 9. MUGEEFRAETHKERR
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL (¥R o)
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

Impairment losses recognized, ERRHREEE  HIBRAT
net of reversed on: o -
— trade receivables and long-term — B9RKFBBRRBAE
trade receivables 2 MW 5K IA 12,042 5,966
— amount due from the ultimate — BERSEERARIRIA
holding company 367 46
— amounts due from fellow — BRRRFRARINRE
subsidiaries 638 315
— contract assets — AREE 357 (140)
13,404 6,187
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37. AR 5 I E R Y EE37 -
10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FhiRIRESR
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR®BTRE ARBTT

Current tax BN EA %% 18 1,658 =
Deferred tax (Note 19) i 3E B 18 (M9 5£19) (36,038) (32,691)
(34,380) (32,691)
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e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC EIT
rate of subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC was
25% for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group
had no assessable profit which arose in nor derived from
Hong Kong during both years.

The Company was qualified as a high and new technology
enterprise (“HNTE”) in 2021 and renewed its HNTE in
2024, and entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% from
2021 to 2026. Beijing Huiji Zhiyi Technology Co., Ltd. (1t &
BREHER AR AT) was qualified as a HNTE in 2022,
and entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% from 2022 to
2024. Anhui Imaging Union Cloud Health Technology Co.,
Ld. (R R BEZBERKAERAF) (‘Imaging Union”)
was qualified as a HNTE in 2019 and renewed its HNTE
in 2022, and entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% from
2022 to 2024.

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated
by the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC that
have been effective from 2018 onwards, enterprise
engaging in research and development activities are
entitled to claim 200% of their research and development
expenditures incurred as tax deductible expenses when
determining their assessable profits from January 1, 2023
to December 31, 2024.

The Company was qualified as a software enterprise and
was entitled to the two years’ exemption from income tax
followed by three years of 50% tax reduction with effect
from 2019. In 2022, Imaging Union was also qualified as
a software enterprise and was entitled to the two years’
exemption from income tax followed by three years of 50%
tax reduction, and no assessable profit was generated
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

10. RIS RIER(Z)

REHBEEXFAEHE(RZE AR
BEREDREEFREHEEEK
fl REBEFPBRLENT AR
MEFENFECERSHRER
25% °

HRAEERNMEFELEREE
EEXBRETENERRANE - &
WERBBF SR IREE -

QA R2021F BU1G & ¥ BT &
¥(eHaEmizEl) &E1%KkN2024
FTENSEMEMEEER  HR
20214 £2026%F Z B15% W B H T
EoJRBEREEBRFAERRAAR
2022 M TR MERL - R
2022F FE2024F Z H15% W B B
o BB EZBEMEARA
B[ Bt) 20194 B8 & # # 1l
PEER N N2022F BIME S HF i
fif b 3 B & - M R20224F £2024F
ZE1%HEERE o

BEREFPEBRRMERBEMIL B
2018 F B A MM AB B E R EM - 1
EMBEN L ELE T HBE2023
F1H1H £22024F12 A31H HAE &9 fE
RN ER AR AEEANHE
X H200% FF =R AT 4 B R S o

AN T ER T A B3I 142019
FEBIMRE = RMFIFE - 12022
F O EHREZNATEEHOEMG
¥ BEZEIMRAZRE]IFE
B M B 22024F &2023F12 H31H
FFEMEEERRERAE -

ARERNEROERAT
—E-QEER
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)

ISR ML

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

10.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are subject to “small
and thin-profit enterprises” will benefit from a preferential
tax rate of 20% under the EIT Law. For the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the qualifying group entities
enjoyed 75% reduction on annual taxable income on first
RMB1,000,000 and 75% reduction between the annual
taxable income of RMB1,000,000 to RMB3,000,000.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before tax as follows:

FrisRiER (=)

ﬁ%ﬁm%ﬁﬁ BE AEBHMET

~ElBINEMFTE]l BFE
20%E’M§%%}%’$ o E F2024%F K
2023F12A3IAILFE A EKRE
Eﬁ?ﬁ,ﬁ%é}\ﬁﬁ%mooooo%;ﬁ
BN FERRMBAR R - ME
[Z e U A A R #1,000,0007T &
A R #3,000,0007T Al  B75% H 8
ﬁo

FRMPTEIRIK A B AEE S
BRR

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR TR AR¥TT
Loss before tax A & 18 (172,016) (186,915)
Tax at PRC enterprise income tax rate %t & A25%H) & B 1
of 25% P15 (43,004) (46,729
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ 7] 151 B % 2 i 765 57 £
for tax purpose 18,153 26,613
Additional deduction of research and ~ #FZFH K E M4 &4
development expenses and other & B NET H0BR
qualified expenditure (26,312) (32,071)
Income tax at concessionary rates REEBEGFAUNOMEH 16,783 19,496
Income tax credit for the year FAFBHER (34,380) (32,691)
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11.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

1.

MATE I8
FABRENR

Year ended December 31,

B Z12A31BLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AREFR ARETT
Auditor’s remunerations ¥z BB B & 2,896 300
Directors’ remuneration (Note 12) 5@ e (MsE12) 19,048 29,425
Other staff: HEMmET:
Salaries and other benefits e RHEMBER 213,322 194,194
Discretionary bonus ) 15 TE 41 46,849 38,411
Retirement benefit scheme contributions i 4K 48 Fl 51 21 ff£ % 20,227 18,472
Equity-settled share-based payments  JA ﬁé & E =BV &)
B 8 2 it 38,809 67,249
Total staff costs BB TR 338,255 347,751
Less: Capitalised in development costs & : 7 2 X 2N & A 1L (12,579) (12,172)
325,676 335,579
Depreciation of equipment mENE 8,563 7,081
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEBENE 1,675 1,505
Amortization of other intangible assets £ fib £ Ji2 & & # §5 37,687 33,374
Total depreciation and amortization BT E K B 47,925 41,960
Cost of inventories recognized as an R AR XMFE KA
expense 338,636 248,504
AMREBRRNERAERAF
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; 22024F 12531H 1 F)Z

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EE - FEfTRABRESFM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS RITEERIFMTERLURESR
AND SUPERVISORS

Name Position Date of appointment
A B ZEBEH
Dr. Tao Xiaodong (Note i) Executive director December 16, 2021
e BE =R 18 = (P 3E0) BMITES 2021412 A16H
Dr. Liu Qingfeng Non-executive director and chairman December 16, 2021
ZIEEELT FHTEERERE 2021412 A16H
Mr. Zhao Zhiwei Non-executive director May 13, 2016
HERLE FEHITEF 20165 5H13H
Mr. Duan Dawei Non-executive director December 16, 2021
BRBxE FHITES 2021512 516 H
Mr. Jiang Tao (Note ii) Non-executive director December 16, 2021
L o A (Bt =T i) EHITES 202112 A16H8
Prof. Wang Yang Independent non-executive director August 12, 2024
ERCE &5 BUEMITES 202458 H12H
Prof. Zhao Huifang Independent non-executive director January 25, 2024
HE 5K BIUEHITES 202441 A25H
Mr. Tan Ching Independent non-executive director January 25, 2024
HKE K& BIFHITES 202441 H25H
Prof. Ng Wang Wai Charles Independent non-executive director January 25, 2024
(Note iii)
R 2 (M 7Eii) BIEMITES 202441 H25H
Ms. Zhang Xuanxuan Supervisor December 16, 2021
SREEHE X £ EE 20214127168
Ms. Sheng Yan Supervisor December 16, 2021
23 R enn E=x 202112 A16H
Mr. Gui Yajun Supervisor June 2, 2022
AR T A BE=E 20225 6H2H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EF - FETHRABRERFM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITEERIERITERLRESR (&)

AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities FA - AEEAKETEREEN X
comprising the Group to the directors, supervisors and ERNARAEE BEERBELEN
general manager of the Company (including emolument FTH(BEKAARARAIEEREE
for services as employee/directors of the group entities EEEBEERES EFERHRY
prior to becoming the directors and supervisors of the EENHMNFENT:

Company) during the year are as follows:

Retirement  Equity-settled
Directors’ or  Salariesand  Discretionary benefit scheme  share-based

Supervisors'fee  other benefits bonus  contributions payments Total
WERLE
29 #ER AR HRBA
EEHe Hip R RERL FEER  ERORA @t
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands

ARRTR  AR®TR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  ARBTR  ARNTR

For the year ended B 220245125318

December 31, 2024 LEE
Executive director: YrEs:
DI, Tao Xiaodong BEEAL - 2,886 300 4 2,836 6,063
Non-executive directors: ~ FH{TEES:
Dr. Liu Qingfeng SRERT - - - - - -
Mr. Duan Dawel RRALE - - - - - -
. Zhao Zhiwei AEREE - - - - 12,983 12983
Mr. Jiang Tao TREE - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BYFHTEE:

directors:
Prof. Wang Yang TREE - - - - - -
Prof, Zhao Huifang HEFHE 1 - - - -
Mr. Tan Ching HELE 1 - - - - 1
Prof. Ng Wang Wai Charles R EBHR - - - - - -
Supervisors: [
Ms. Zhang Xuanxuan RiEfE Lt - 353 238 3 499 1,122
Ms. Sheng Yan BELT - 291 90 27 100 508
M. Gui Yajun EES s - 332 62 ) 200 624
Total @t 2 3,862 690 130 16,618 21,302

AREENEROERARE
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EF - FETHRABRERFM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITEERIERITERLRESR (&)

AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

Retirement  Equity-settled
Directors’ or Salariesand ~ Discretionary  benefit scheme share-based

Supervisors'fee  other benefits bonus  contributions payments Total
NEREE
8% 2R RABH RN A
E5he E A Bl-gA SRR ERORA it
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB

in thousands in thousands in thousands in thousands in thousands in thousands

AEETR  ARETT  ARETn  ARBTr  AR¥Tn  ARET:

For the year ended B 22023512318
December 31, 2023 LEE
Executive director: YrEs:
Dr. Tao Xiaodong BEREL - 3,005 300 3 4,676 8,019
Non-executive directors: ~ AH{TEE:
Dr. Liu Qingfeng SRERT - - - - - -
Mr. Duan Dawei BABEE - - _ _ _ _
Mr. Zhao Zhiwei HEREE = = = - 21,406 21,406
Mr. Jiang Tao IR%E - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Prof. Wang Yang THEE - - - - - -
Prof, Zhao Huifang HEFHE - - - - - -
Mr. Tan Ching KELE - - - - - -
Prof. Ng Wang Wai Charles ~ REBHE - - - - - =
Supervisors: EE:
Ms. Zhang Xuanxuan FhefERL - 360 298 29 823 1510
Ms. Sheng Yan BELL - 260 20 22 166 538
Mr. Gui Yajun BESLE = 294 53 2% 329 702
Total @t = 3,919 41 115 27,400 32,175
Notes: B 5
Dr. Tao Xiaodong is the general manager of the Company with i MERBTIAAARALLE 8
effect from December 13, 2016. 201612 A13H B A K -
i Mr. Jiang Tao was resigned as a director of the Company on i LB St R2024F1 A9 BE A A
January 9, 2024. AESE R -
ii.  Prof. Ng Wang Wai Charles ceased to be an independent non- i. RAFEFIRNR2024F7H16EHTH
executive director of the Company on July 16, 2024. EARABBIIFRTES B -
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e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

EXECUTIVE AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS (Continued)

The executive director’s emoluments shown above were
paid for his services in connection with the management of
affairs of the Group and the Company. The non-executive
directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors and supervisors of the
Company and the Group, respectively. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.
The discretionary bonuses are determined based on
the Group’s performance, performance of the relevant
individual within the Group and comparable market
statistics.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included
two (2023: two) directors of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2024, details of whose remuneration
are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the
remaining three (2023: three) highest paid individuals
during the year ended December 31, 2024, are as follows:

m.%f~$§ﬁﬁki&ﬁiﬁﬂ

PITEERFRITEELURER ()

AEMIATESHFMOHERER
ERAEERARTDEREE MR
HEOBRFB M F LA o A LTSI 3E
HTEEREZSFM ORI ES
BEEARARAEBEERESM
FTIAAS o LA E PRSI B IERITE
EHFMORBRSFETLARBRESM
FTIAZN - IGTEANERAEHE
=B HBEEARARENRER
AELLBMISHBEE -

IEREHFMES

H E2024F12A31BLtFE K&
BEREasmaFMA LS RBEAR
B Z(Q023F - MB)ESE HEF
B 5 15 & 7 £ 30 o Bl £2024F 128
1A IEFE - E i =4/ (2023F : =
Z)BREHFMALTHOHFMFBOT

Year ended December 31,

B Z12A31BLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR TR ARETT
Salaries and other benefits e &k E AR A 2,341 3,007
Discretionary bonus )15 TE 4L 2,305 1,171
Retirement benefit scheme RIK R FI T8 B 3K
contributions 158 140
Equity-settled share-based payments ARz &5 E AR D A
ERa A 9,933 17,235
14,737 21,553
AMREBRRNERAERAF

—E-MEFH
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EF - FETHRABRERFM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) hEEaHFMES (&)
The number of the highest paid employees remuneration ETIEFEMEEANN & WNES
fell within the following bands is as follows: AT

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEFE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
No. of No. of
employees employees

BE AR B8 A

Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) 3,500,001 3,500,001 7t ([ 7T |)

to HK$4,000,000 %4,000,000/% 7T 1 =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001/ 7- £5,000,000/% 7T 1 =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001/ Jt 26,000,000/ JT - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001/ 7t £7,000,000/% 7T 1 1
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001/ 7t 28,000,000 JT 1 —
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001/ 7t £9,000,000/% 7T - 1
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 11,000,0017% 7T 211,500,000 7T - 1
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000 14,000,0017% 7t 214,500,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$23,500,001 to HK$24,000,000 23,500,001/ 7T & 24,000,0007% 7T - 1
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group R E A& E I
to any of the executive director, non-executive directors, TEF FERTEF BIIFHT
independent non-executive directors, or the five highest EFRAEESFTMALTINEM
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining M ERRSIBEMAREEK
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of MABK B KBERMHE - RN E
the directors or supervisors of the Company waived or FE - BEARAESHEZTHE
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years. KRB REEMHMH -
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13. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during
2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end

of the reporting period (2023: nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

13. IR2
RN B F2024F W K & 1+ = #E K A%
B BWREH R I E R R T AR
B (20234 : &) o

14. BIREGA

RABEEANREERERNERTS
ERTINBEFAES

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
in thousands in thousands
F® T %
Loss for the purposes of calculating ETEARNR A AR
basic loss per share attributable to EREANEEMSNEE
owners of the Company (RMB) (AR®) (132,600) (144,842)
Weighted average number of ordinary Bt EEREAE B =&
shares for the purpose of basic loss I3 AR N T &
per share calculation 113,862 111,117

No diluted earnings per share for both years as there were

no potential ordinary shares in issue.

HRTEEEDHETERKR Bt
RREFEOESREERR -

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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e SRR M
For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&
15. EQUIPMENT 15. =X
Electronic Office Leasehold
equipment furniture improvement Total
ETRE WAGE HEMEES @t
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR
COST 5N
At January 1, 2023 7202351 A1H 17,523 5,735 — 23,258
Additions NE 4,118 2,423 4,282 10,823
Disposals HE (343) (58) = (401)
At December 31, 2023 2023F12 A31H 21,298 8,100 4,282 33,680
Additions wNE 5,382 1,910 784 8,076
Disposals HE (526) (61) = (587)
At December 31, 2024 2024512 5318 26,154 9,949 5,066 41,169
DEPRECIATION neE
At January 1, 2023 7 2023F1A1H 10,547 2,635 — 13,082
Provided for the year FAEE 3,451 735 2,895 7,081
Eliminated on disposals 6 B 4 85 (326) (36) - (362)
At December 31, 2023 2023512 A31H 13,672 3,234 2,895 19,801
Provided for the year FAEME 4,097 3,113 1,353 8,563
Eliminated on disposals i S B T 55 (504) (49) - (553)
At December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H 17,265 6,298 4,248 27,811
CARRYING VALUES REE
At December 31, 2024 R2024F12 H31H 8,889 3,651 818 13,358
At December 31, 2023 7202312 A31H 7,626 4,866 1,387 13,879

The above items are depreciated after taking into account

NEBBDREREBGEERNAE

BOER TSI MR & -

the estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Electronic equipment 3-5 years

TFRMA 3E5F

Office furniture 5 years

WwRERA 5%

LLeasehold improvement Over the shorter of term of the relevant leases or 3 years
HEMEEE HEHEEHRKSFE(UREEARE)
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mEMBHmRME
For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. (EH#ERE
Leased
properties
HEWHXE
RMB in
thousands
ARETT
As at December 31, 2024 7#2024%12831H
Carrying amount BREAE 8,301
As at December 31, 2023 #A2023%F12H831H
Carrying amount RMHEE 1,716
For the year ended December 31, 2024 B £2024F12A831HLLEE
Depreciation charge TEER 1,675
For the year ended December 31, 2023 EH £2023F12831HILLEE
Depreciation charge mESBHA 1,505

Year ended December 31,

B ZEZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AREBTRT ARETIT
Expense relating to short-term leases 2 HIFA SMHEH X 6,600 4,851
Total cash outflow for leases HERS RN BT 7,134 6,145
Additions to right-of-use assets NEPHEEE 9,204 2,079

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 1 month to 5 years (2023: 1 month to 3 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.

RMEFE AEEEEZERA
=ELEEMZ MEANKIEAE
5% (20234 : 118 A £3%) 1) & £ H
BRATAL o FH B 16 SR IR M8 7l B B ek 7
WA TR GEREMGE - RETE
HEMRREFEAATHERARNE
B AEERAAONEELE
O REIRTHEE -

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 16. FRHIEEE(Z)

17.

RESTRICTIONS OR COVENANTS ON LEASES

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB9,308,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of
RMB8,301,000 as at December 31, 2024 (2023: lease
liabilities of RMB1,551,000 and related right-of-use assets
of RMB1,716,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor.

HEMR IS

It 9h - R20245F12831H A E &
& A R #9,308,0007T & [ 48 8 1
& E AR #8,301,0007T — §f #E 2
(20234 : HE B E A R¥1,551,000
TTRAEEEE AEE E A RE1,716,000
L) REBEABBENHEHEEENE
RiEZI HEHBZELEEIMER
B o

GOODWILL 17. &8
RMB in
thousands
ARETIT
COST AND CARRYING VALUES AR BR B
At January 1, 2023, and December 31, 2023 202341 A1H A K& 20234
and 2024 K2024%12 A31H 23,777

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined based
on a VIU calculation by using the discounted cashflow
method, based on the CGU’s financial budgets approved
by the board of directors of the Company covering a five-
year period. The CGU’s cash flows beyond the five-year
period were extrapolated by using a steady 2.0% (2023:
2.0%) per annum growth rate, which was based on the
relevant industry growth forecasts and did not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The
values to the assigned key assumptions were based on
the past performance of the CGU and the management’s
expectation of future market development. Pre-tax
discount rate of 14.5% (2023:14.6%) per annum were used
to reflect market assessment of time value and the specific
risks relating to the CGU for the impairment review as at
December 31, 2024.

In the view of the directors of the Company, such
assessment indicated that there was sufficient headroom
in respect of the reasonably possible change in the
key parameter, and had not identified that a reasonably
possible change in the key parameter would cause the
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the recoverable
amount as at December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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HBERIBNEIEE S KK miE %
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. B8 (&)
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the B E2024F12A31BLFE A&
management of the Group determines that there is no EEEEETReELEM Y &R
impairment on the CGU. The recoverable amount of the B - M2024F12A318 B e E &£
CGU exceeded its carrying amount by RMB28,679,000 BUMAkEOecREREREOSR
(2023: RMB35,316,000) as at December 31, 2024. If the A R #28,679,0007T (20234F : A B
pre-tax discount rate was changed to 16.0% (2023: 16.2%) #35,316,0007T) © fir] bR 7% A 85 IR =
per annum, while other parameters remain constant, the B 58 F16.0% (2023%F : 16.2%) -
recoverable amount of the CGU would equal its carrying MEMBPERFIE - ReELES
amount. UMAKESEREREREASE -

AREENEEOERAA
—E-MEFH
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HthER FE

Imaging Intellectual Development
platform properties costs Total
¥BRYEA A ERE B B R A st
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
AREFTT ARBTRT ARBTT AR®BTR
COST X A
At January 1, 2023 ®2023F1A1H 142,447 140,041 11,676 294,164
Additions NE - 3,695 21,988 25,683
Transfer R - 19,646 (19,646) =
At December 31, 2023 F2023F12 A31H 142,447 163,382 14,018 319,847
Additions NE — 82 24,871 24,953
Transfer R - 9,686 (9,686) =
At December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H 142,447 173,150 29,203 344,800
AMORTIZATION B
At January 1, 2023 72023F1H1H 20,180 107,971 — 128,151
Charge for the year FARAZH 14,245 19,129 = 33,374
At December 31, 2023 2023512 A31H 34,425 127,100 — 161,525
Charge for the year FARAZH 14,245 23,442 = 37,687
At December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H 48,670 150,542 - 199,212
CARRYING VALUES RREE
At December 31, 2024 1202412 A31H 93,777 22,608 29,203 145,588
At December 31, 2023 2023512 A31H 108,022 36,282 14,018 158,322
The above items have finite useful lives other than BRRAZEXAN UNLEBEEEAR

development costs. Such other intangible assets are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the following

TEREE REH
PR 51 B R P B A0 R 8

wELEES

periods:

Imaging platform 10 years
TBIEE 10%F
Intellectual properties 3-10 years
RN o E 3E10F
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e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the development costs was
determined based on VIUs by using the discounted
cashflow method, based on the financial budgets
of individual development projects approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 3 years.
The values to the assigned key assumptions were based
on the historical performance of comparable products
and the management’s expectation of future market
development. Pre-tax discount rate of 17.0% (2023: 17.4%)
per annum was used to reflect market assessment of time
value and the specific risks relating to the development
costs for the impairment review as at December 31, 2024.

In the view of the directors of the Company, such
assessment indicated that there was sufficient headroom
in respect of the reasonably possible change in the
key parameter, and had not identified that a reasonably
possible change in the key parameter would cause the
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the recoverable
amount as at December 31, 2023 and 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the development costs. The recoverable
amount of the CGUs exceeded its carrying amount by
RMB8,025,000 (2023: RMB4,249,000) as at December
31, 2024. If the pre-tax discount rate was changed to
42.1%(2023: 40.8%) per annum, while other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable amount of the CGU
would equal its carrying amount.

18. HttEBLRE (=)

FERANTKRESENREAE
B E 12 g & @ 5 5218 B K &3
FHUBEE FTRUABRERE
EEERAEAEFESLE - E
TRENEBEDNERTELEE SR
MBERBEREEEHRRTHE
B 8 78 8 - 202412 A318 &9 &
BB KBS F17.0% (20234 :
17.4%) B9 B B A1 BA 3R R A | BR T 35
05 (B E A FT(E & B 5 3% A A 48
AR R E R R o

ARARBEERE  ZFHBREE
2EMAEAREECFEERHER -
BRERBERI2BHEETREL
S E B E 220234 K2024F12 A31
BRSELSEVNEESHEBHA
U [a] & &8 o

H E2024F12A31B Lt FE - K&
EEREEETCRER AL ERE -
MR2024F12A31H WM& E L B
A cEBEERASEA
R #8,025,0007T (20234 : A R #
4,249,0007T) © fis Br &4 A B 37 X &
BB F421% (20234 : 40.8%) » 1M
HtW2HRFLE  ReELEMN
MAWESEHERERESE -

ARERNEROERAT
—E-QEER
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

19. DEFERRED TAX 19. IRFEIRIA
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated HEeMBHREN2IME & T
financial statements, certain deferred tax assets and BEEHRBEERBEBEEERE - AT
liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of RERMB®RE ZELERIEL RS
the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes: DT

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

ARBTRE ARBTRT

Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 139,643 105,699
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEEE (14,066) (16,203)
125,577 89,496
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 19. BREERIA (&
The following are deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognized NTREFABRZELEHBEE(A
and movements thereon during the years: B REBHEE
Excess
of fair
Accelerated value over
amortization the tax base
of other Accelerated  for other Share-
intangible ECL Accrued  Warranty tax intangible based  Deferred
assets  provision Taxlosses  expenses  provision depreciation assets  payments income Others Total
it
EREEN
it MREE HEH
EVEE EEGE ng  BLRE RER

nEEE EERE REFE  EHEX  REEE  RERE i Bxft BEWA -4 &3t
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMBin RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands ~ thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands

ARETT ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTn ARETn ARMTn ARETn ARETR

Alanaryt, 2023 RO0BERIR 11,664 178 021 2183 1% (113 (18340 190 611 268 56489
Credit (Charge) toprofit ~ TABR(BEX

orloss i) 300 1,078 24,919 2884 1841 o 2,187 257) (258) (47 3891
Credit o equity HAER - - 27 - - - - 8 - - 316
At December 31,2028 20235123318 1964 306 531 25087 904 [0 (16209 3 33 2400 89496
Credit (Charge) to profit A B (BER

orloss 1) 663 196 18798 7742 2669 B 21% B2 %485 (0% 36088
Credit to equity HAER - - 4 - - - - - - = 4
At December 31,204 RO0M%123318 12,627 5004 a4 32800 18T3 (1091)  (14066) - 3,838 139 12557
The Group has unused tax losses of approximately R2024F12H318 + K& B /) K &
RMB454,023,000 (2023: RMB343,736,000) available for FA %% 18 85 18 49 A R % 454,023,0007T
offset against future profits as at December 31, 2024. A (20234 : A K %348,736,0007T) 7]
deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of all IR AR KT E - ERATE L IEE
tax losses. BERRELEHRIBEE -
The directors of the Company considered probable that ARBESERA ASERTEER
the Group will have sufficient taxable profits available in the RRAEBERCHMERTAHE - £
foreseeable future to enable the deferred tax asset to be EEMIBE EEHD -
recovered.

AMREBRRNERAERAF
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i1 F/&E

19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The unused tax losses will expire as follows:

19. SBEIRIE (2

APAMEBEINRBEROT

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR® T AR T
2026 20264 - 1,406
2027 20274 5,211 7,499
2028 20284 8,989 8,989
2029 20294 5,986 5,986
2030 20304 1,376 1,376
2031 20314 62,140 62,140
2032 20324 69,180 69,180
2033 20334 187,160 187,160
2034 20344 113,981 —
454,023 343,736

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

20. LONG-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. RRHEBRIA

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

Long-term trade receivables (Note) RHEIE 5 W s E (K sE) 220,334 180,873
Less: due within one year B —F R EH (140,859) (97,996)
79,475 82,877
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (3,272) (3,682)
76,203 79,195

Note: According to the payment terms in the sales contracts with
certain customers, certain part of the sales consideration will
be collected after one year.

ME REHEGOMMNRER b5 T
EPME HERBENETHIHK
R—FRYEE -

AREENERAERAT
—EoMEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; 22024F 12531H 1 F)Z

20. LONG-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at January 1, 2023, the Group’s long-term trade
receivables amounted to RMB99,790,000.

The following is an aged analysis of long-term trade
receivables net of allowance for credit losses presented
based on invoice dates:

20. RMRBZBURE(E)

MR2023F1A1H  AEEMNEHES
& UL 3 18 A A R #599,790,0007T ©

UTRZEZAM2IEHNBEE
BEREBNRIES R KRN

B ¢

As at December 31,

M12HA31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR®TR AR®TR

0-90 days 0Z90H 42,480 —
91-180 days 91%£180H - 24,710
181-365 days 1812 365H 1,128 1,270
1-2 years 15224 23,355 53,215
2-3 years 2E3F 9,240 —

76,203 79,195

Details of impairment assessment of long-term trade
receivables are set out in Note 37.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 Annual Report
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e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

21. INVENTORIES 21. 8
As at December 31,
M12H31H

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands

AR¥ T ARET T

Materials and components RE R = 2B 5,626 2212

Contract fulfilment cost (Note) B #) R A (Bt aE) 78,048 61,174

Finished products RN G 19,177 10,143
102,851 73,529
Note: The costs directly relate to the contract, generate resources M- ZEXNABRSREERR E£H
that will be used in satisfying the contract and are expected to BERGARBITERALTETAIKE -

be recovered.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. S RHEMEWRIE
As at December 31,
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETR

Trade receivables B 5 R WA 755,555 509,995
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (24,181) (11,729)
731,374 498,266
Other receivables H b & W 318 15,799 9,509
Advance to suppliers M) 4 FE B K 39,923 10,831
Other tax recoverables H b A] U [ 7% 18 8,513 8,577
Prepayments for listing expenses EmRAXENFKIE - 2,966
Deferred issue costs BB AT AR - 3,111
795,609 533,260
As at January 1, 2023, the Group’s trade receivables MR20283F1A1B - ARBEME S EK
amounted to RMB273,599,000. FIE A A RE273,599,0007T °
AMREBRRNERAERAF
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e MR RME
For the year ended December 31, 2024 #; 2024412 731H i1 F/&
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. BHREMBEWKZREZ)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net UMTAEREZEAHE2ENKREE
of allowance for credit losses presented based on invoice EEBENEIRKFENEREK D
dates: 1
As at December 31,
®12H31H
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR%TR ARET
0-90 days 0Z90H 272,046 135,211
91-180 days 91E180H 56,729 77,951
181-365 days 181£2365H 82,593 76,193
1-2 years 1224 124,524 132,624
2-3 years 2E34F 153,311 65,357
Over 3 years 3F E 42,171 10,930
731,374 498,266
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are ESRWHIBERRENGFBEHR
set out in Note 37. B$ 337 ©
23. CONTRACT ASSETS 23. ERAEE

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AREBTRT AREFTIT
PHC Services HEEBERD 5,964 2,809
Regional Healthcare Solutions B EBETEMRRAR 2,415 617
Hospital Services 22 B AR 755 10,809 4,552
Patient Services 25 R 1,599 280
20,787 8,258
Less: allowance for credit losses BoEEBEREG (462) (105)
20,325 8,153
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

As at January 1, 2023, the Group’s contract assets
amounted to RMB16,426,000.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realize them in its normal
operating cycle.

The Group typically agrees to a retention period ranging
from 1 to 3 years for 5% to 10% of the contract value with
certain customers in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contracts.

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets
are set out in Note 37.

AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES

AMOUNT DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

23.

24,

SRAREE)

MR2023F1A1H REBMARE
B B A R #16,426,0007T °

MR AEEEHeNTEE L EREM
BIEBEARFATTIAMNIER A&
BRYTeREMNAREENSE
10%AETFTEFRFRENT1EIFHN
REH -

AREEMREFERBERNNE
37 °

BlRREERAT RARFLE
®IR

B &R EZERATRE

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARET T
IFLYTEK BER R
Trade related E5HE 5,075 6,805
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (465) (98)
4,610 6,707

The balances of trade nature are unsecured and non-
interest bearing.

BHUEERREBEERRTAHE -

AREENERAERAT
—EoMEER
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

24. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE 24, BERBERATF FARFAF

HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

AMOUNT DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE HOLDING

COMPANY (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of the Group’s trade
related balances net of allowance for credit losses

presented based on invoice dates:

RIR(E)

AR DT

Bl R ERARNRE(E)

AT RASEZEZEAMINTNE
SRBEHRMREEBRRERF W

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARET T
0-90 days 0Z90H 568 3,977
181-365 days 181E365H 2,742 2,730
1-2years 1524 1,300 —
4,610 6,707

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

24. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE 24, B EmBRERAT BERFLF
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES RIE(E)
(Continued)
AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES EERFAFRE

As at December 31,

M12H831H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR¥TR

Trade related B ZEH
iIFLYTEK Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd. RE TEEREBER AT

(FARE TELEBEERAR) 33,306 11,864
Zhejiang Xunzhi Future Technology Co., #T % & K EHE H R A 7

Ltd. (I A B R RE B R AF) 11,063 19,245
Changzhi Kexun Information Technology &JARIFAE BRI AR AT

Co., Ltd. (RARIFEERIEEBERAR]) 9,484 9,484
Zhejiang Kexun Future Technology Co., #T LRI AR K E £ AR A7)

Ltd. (I RIFA AR KRR AR A A) 6,752 -
Shandong Zixun Information I ESHE BRI EARAR

Technology Co., Ltd. (I ER S 15 B

BEBRAT) 4,570 4,433
Anhui iIFLYTEK New Retail Co., Ltd. ZHARNEEFR QA

(RBARFZEEFRAQA) 2,255 2,038
Gongaingcheng Qingxun Atrtificial HEWERMALIZEREK

Intelligence Technology Co. Ltd BRAA

(HEHEAAISEREAERAR) 1,585 1,299
iIFLYTEK (Shanghai) Technology Co., BIRAR (LS BEER AR

Ltd. (BRI R (L) B ERAF) 815 1,370
Xinyu iFLYTEK Information Technology # s K= BRI AR A A

Co., Ltd. (BT RFARESRHEARAF) - 6,145
Others H Al 915 3,161

70,745 59,039
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (1,218) (580)
69,527 58,459

The balances of trade nature are unsecured and non- EOMEEBRRERRRTEE -

interest bearing.

AMRE R R O ERD A 189
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

24. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE 24, BERBERATF FARFAF
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES RIE(E)
(Continued)
AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES BKRARFLARREAE)
(Continued)
The following is an aged analysis of the Group’s trade UTAAREEREZAHINTNE
related balances net of allowance for credit losses SHEBEHRHIREEEEREE D
presented based on invoice dates: BRER DT

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

0-90 days 0Z90H 43,421 29,534
91-180 days 91£180H 3,010 1,217
181-365 days 181E365H 2,535 12,198
1-2 years 1504 11,735 56
2-3 years 2E3F 20 15,454
Over 3years 3FL 8,806 —
69,527 58,459
Details of the impairment assessment of amounts due from EWHRLIERAR/ BETFRER
the ultimate holding company/fellow subsidiaries are set EH R BT A BRI 537 o

out in Note 37.
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25 RARBEMAESHEMSIE

As at December 31,
M12H31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands

AR®BTRE ARBTT

Structured bank deposits EBUERITER - 25,000
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (Continued)

The Group invested in financial products managed by
a financial institution in the PRC. The principal was
guaranteed by the relevant financial institutions with
expected yield ranged from 1.40% to 2.80% per annum
during the year ended December 31, 2024, and the actual
yield to be received was uncertain until settlement. The
investments had maturity date within one year and were
classified as financial assets measured at FVTPL.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED/RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at December 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents
include demand deposits and short term deposits, which
generally do not exceed three months, for the purpose of
meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments, which
carry interest at market rates ranged from 0.10% to 1.35%
(2023: 0.20% to 1.90%) per annum.

As at December 31, 2024, pledged bank deposits
represent deposits to secure the guarantee letters issued
for the tendering and on-going projects. The pledged bank
deposits will be released to the Group in next one to two
years from respective year end. The pledged bank deposits
carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.10% to
0.20% (20283: 0.20% to 1.90%) per annum.

As at December 31, 2024, bank balances that are placed in
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting to RMB11,235,000
(2023: RMB5,487,000), such balances can only be applied
in the designated projects. The balances carry interest at
an interest rate of 0.20% (2023: 0.20%) per annum.

25.

26.

?%ﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬁ
=i

AEERERBATHSREEER
&R E Mo B 22024F12A31H
IEFE AemA@EcmEgBER -
FEHIF (LW X B1.40% Z=2.80%
ERNGEREEENGTETETE -
ZERENINPEE—FR T
HAEAABEFABEZNEZHRE
gﬁ °

ReRB&SFRMUREN =2
PR %l &R 1T ¥ 3K

MR2024F12A3IH RWEe NBE &5
BYBRIERERETASEE R RS
EENERTERREHEER — K
TNEB=EA EWMEFEMNENT
0.10%%1.35% (20234F : 0.20%%1.90%)
FTE o

R2024F12A31H » BT HE K
EAERGEBERETHEERL
MERENTR EHRBITERE
RAR—ZEMFREERERTA
S EHBTHEREMSFE X
N F0.10% £0.20% (20234 : 0.20%
£1.90%) 5T 8. °

R2024F12 8318 © IR & @ B B AT
ERCOGEREXBRBBITEREELF
B IR 1T 4 & & A K ®11,235,0007T
(20234 : A R#£5,487,0007T) ' %=
EHEEANIETEER - &R UEF
A ZT0.20% (20234 : 0.20%) 51 & °

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

27. BILL, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. R - EHRHEMEMRE

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARBTRT AR%®Tr
Trade payables =Y N sl 346,122 242,665
Bill payables AN 53,139 38,379
Total trade and bill payables BHRMNRIERENEE AR 399,261 281,044
Payroll payables R & 63,011 52,060
Value-added tax and other tax payables 1% {& % & E {th f& < 7 18 34,437 30,363
Payable for acquisition of a subsidiary &t W 88 — R T A &) fE{f 5K 1B - 8,067

Listing expenses and issue costs FERT TR X REITRR AR

payable 19,806 4,371
Others H A, 4,655 3,759
521,170 379,664
The credit period of trade creditors is generally 30 days. BE5BRANEEH —KA30H -

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

presented based on the invoice dates:

ATARREZEHEINNESEN

FA R BREC DA -

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARET T
0-90 days 0Z90H 195,350 161,661
91-180 days 91£180H 20,610 14,849
181-365 days 181E365H 80,711 27,212
Over 1 years 1F A F 49,451 38,943
346,122 242,665
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

27. BILL, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27.
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of bill payables based on
the bill issuance dates at the end of each reporting period:

RiE -HARRMEMARR(E)

UTREEREMREZEHNE
NRENREK D

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR¥TR

0-180 days 0z2180H 53,139 38,379
28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. BITHR
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR%TR ARET
Unsecured and unguaranteed bank EEAREERRITER
borrowings 244,800 88,000
The carrying amounts of the above TEFNEEBEET
borrowings are repayable*: BEHRR:
Within one year (shown under current R—ER(RRESHEES
liabilities) H7R) 180,000 88,000
Within a year of more than one —FUEETBBERFRN
year but not exceeding two years FERERBEBEF
(shown under non-current liabilities) H|7R) 64,800 —
244,800 88,000
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set * BB ERERBZAESMNTE

out in the loan agreements.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings
were dominated in RMB and carried fixed rates with
effective interest rates from 2.40% to 3.55% (2023: 2.60%
to 3.55%) per annum.

= yom

EEXBH -

R2024F12 A31H » AL BRIEITE
HUAANREGE - WM F2.40% 2
3.55% (20234 : 2.60% ZE3.55%) HJ
ERERNREERN RS -

AREENERAERAT
—E-NEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING

. BT RS ERAT R ATR

COMPANY/RELATED COMPANIES 2]
AMOUNT DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING EMREERERAFRE
COMPANY
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARETIT
IFLYTEK RERF AR
Trade related 5 {0 78,893 33,306

The balance of trade nature is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade related balances

presented based on the invoice dates:

BHMERBARER 2BEA
BERIEE -

NTREEZEHRZ2INEZEEH
REER R BRER DA

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

0-90 days 0Z90H 15,580 6,628
91-180 days 91£180H 11,740 8,871
181-365 days 181E365H 32,539 6,184
1-2 years 1224 9,492 11,580
2-3 years 2E34F 9,542 43

78,893 33,306
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY/RELATED COMPANIES (Continued)

20. EfTR¥BERLT A LTK
R (4#&)
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES FE £+ B BE A MO IR

As at December 31,

MW12A831H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARET T
Trade related B ZHE
iIFLYTEK (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B} RFR  BARARGER)BRAF
(4t =) B R A A (formerly known as (REBBHRAR
PRAREBAER)EEREER B UtR)EERE
7~ 7A])) (Note i) BRARD) (M D 26,552 22,455
iIFLYTEK Central China (Wuhan) Co., AREAR (R Z)
Ltd. (FARER (R Z)ER AR (Notei) HRAE (M) 24,547 16,080
iIFLYTEK Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd. sl R % tis B Rl
(FARETEEREERAR) Note)) BHRAE (KM FED 10,251 590
Sichuan iFLYTEK Super Brain Y11 &R 7R R B & R B
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (P B R R) (K EED
NI R AR IS & SRR B R 2 R]) (Note i) 5,549 2,868
Liaoning iFLYTEK Information FEEAMREGEERR
Technology Co., Ltd. (EZE A R 15 B B R AR (K EED
B BB 2AF]) (Note i) 4,337 1,770
iIFLYTEK (Shanghai) Technology Co., BERF AR (E8) B
Ltd. (BEREAR (L&) R BRAQR) AR A (D
(Note i) 4,056 3,576
Zhejiang iFLYTEK Intelligent Technology 3 /T &7l /¢ %5 gt &l &
Co., Ltd. (I IFAMRBEREERAF) BRAF(HEED
(Note i) 3,271 5,007
Xi'an Xunfei Super Brain Information A AR B R
Technology Co., Ltd. (78 &2 51 7R 8 B B R 2R (K EED
= BRI B R 2AA]) (Note i) 3,079 631
iIFLYTEK South China Co., Ltd. (Bt AF BIAFARER AR QA
=R A PR A A]) (Note i) (B 51 1,893 1,017
Wuhu Kexun Aerospace Information #OM LR AT RS Bl
Technology Co., Ltd. (% # &l =1 fn X B R 2R (K EED
= BT A R AF]) (Note i) 1,879 412
iIFLYTEK Zhigu Technology Co., Ltd. (il FREAE B R QA
RE AR BRAQFA) (Note i) (B 5E1) 1,541 1,398
Tianjin Zhihuigu Technology Service REBEAR SRS
Co., Ltd. (REEEARERBEBR AR~ (D
Aa]) (Note i) 1,210 1,173
MREBENEROERAT

R MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING 29. EfiR#i2iR AT B AFR

COMPANY/RELATED COMPANIES (Continued) H(%E)
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES FEFTRRBE 2 BIRORIA ()
(Continued)
As at December 31,
MW12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR®BTR AR%Tr
Trade related B ZEH
Shenzhen Xunfei Intelligent Technology & JIl 51 7R & Z &}
Co., Ltd. (RIIFARE BRIEARAR]) HBER QR (D)
(Note i) 1,173 349
Hunan Xiangxun Future Technology M AR R B
Co., Ltd. (AR ARKRRBRAR) HRAF (M ED)
(Note i) 1,132 893
Nanjing Xunfei Smart City Technology & & 57 R 29 2 4 1 Rl #%
Co, Ltd. (MRAREEHMEFE B R~ 7] aEiD
BR A F1) (Note i) 1,014 236
Anhui iIFLYTEK New Retail Co., Ltd. ZRHARFTEEFBRAF 995 190
Wuhan iFLYTEK Xingzhi Technology EUE AR B A R
Co., Ltd. (BUEAREERIEARAGF) HR AR (T
(Note i) 844 844
Xinyu iFLYTEK Information Technology ¥ &AM {E BRI AR A A
Co., Ltd. 794 —
Shandong Kexun Information IRBAEERBEERAA
Technology Co., Ltd. (B E0)
(LR BHEE BB AR LQF) (Note ) 580 378
Anhui Jixun Information Information ZRNAEEREBRAA
Technology Co., Ltd.. (Z#WMES (K &)
B H R 2 F]) (Note i) 635 635
Anhui Tingjian Technology Co., Ltd. ZHERREAR
(RBERRKRBARLIQF) (Note ) PR & &) (BT 3 0) 359 322
Tianjin iIFLYTEK Information Technology X ;& M 12 BRI &
Co, Ltd. (REAREGEEREERAR) BRAF(HEED
(Note ) 172 2,002
Hefei Intelligent Speech Innovation ERESREERIFER
Development Co., Ltd. (A EEgesEs AR 2 (M &Fi)
gl# & & AR 2 7)) (Note i) 135 81
Kexun Jialian Information Technology &} 22 B = B & i
Co., Ltd. (BIFAZEERKMARLR) HRAF (M FEi)
(Note ii) - 816
Others (Note i) H Aty (B 5E1) 3,602 2,019
99,600 65,962

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z=2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING

COMPANY/RELATED COMPANIES (Continued)

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
(Continued)

Notes:
The entities are the fellow subsidiaries of the Company

ii. The entities are associates of iFLYTEK.

The balances of trade nature are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade related balances
presented based on the invoice dates:

29. EfTREEBRAT ABRAFR

R(#%&)
FEIRABE A FIRRIR ()

it
HEERBAAANARFAT -
i REEBAMAMROBEAS -

BoMER/RBRERR REHE
BREREE -

AT RREZEHZ2INESZEMH
REERRRREC DA

As at December 31,

MW12H831H

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARET T ARET T
0-90 days 0Z90H 11,742 24,182
91-180 days 91£180H 8,059 4,163
181-365 days 181E365H 21,065 11,538
1-2 years 1224 38,023 23,513
2-3 years 2B 3F 20,540 2,566
Over 3 years 3FEL E 171 —
99,600 65,962

MREERNERDERAA

—EoMEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEAR
As at December 31,
MN12A831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

Lease liability payable: ENHEERE:
Within one year RN—FR 4,670 1,047
More than one year, but not —FAEETBBMF
exceeding two years 2,554 504
More than two years, but not MENAEBETBBERT
exceeding five years 2,084 —
9,308 1,551
Less: Amount due for settlement B R12E A RNEIBEER
within 12 months shown under HE(RREEEF
current liabilities H7R) (4,670) (1,047)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A 1% Bl B 45 & 0 3R
12 months shown under non-current (RIERBEEFRIT)
liabilities 4,638 504
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied BAREERENMETIESERE
to lease liabilities ranges from 3.85% to 5.04% (2023: EF R AN F3.85% £5.04% (2023
5.04%) per annum. F 1 5.04%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

31. PROVISION 31. &s

Warranty
provision
RIEBRE
RMB in
thousands
AREF T
As at January 1, 2023 R2023F1H1H 49,089
Additional provision IR A 31,059
Utilization EDlE (19,113)
As at December 31, 2023 72023412 A31H 61,035
Additional provision IR 37,486
Utilization A (19,403)
As at December 31, 2024 R2024F12 A31H 79,118
The Group mainly provides 1 to 3 years warranties to AEETEREEEBERE - &
its customers on its PHC Services, Regional Healthcare BERYERARTRRERRSE M
Solutions and Hospital Services. The amount of warranty EERMIEIFNRE - RIEEE
provision is estimated based on district and past MR IDBREMER R EEKTEDNR
experience of the level of repairs. The estimation basis TEBFAEE - AKBEFERTE

is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where AEETRBERELEE -

appropriate.

AREENEROERARE

R MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. aRAARK
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

PHC Services EEBER® 14,196 10,035
Regional Healthcare Solutions B EBEFEMRAATR 3,599 3,648
Hospital Services B2 b5 R 7% 4,283 24,851
Patient Service BERY 6,819 1,147
28,897 39,681
As at January 1, 2023, the Group’s contract liabilities MR2023F1A1H - AEBHWARAERE

amounted to RMB27,396,000.

7 A R #27,396,0007T °

The Group’s contract liabilities as at January 1, 2024, KEER2024F1AIBEARARE
amounted of RMB28,638,000 (2023: RMB18,073,000) were A A R #28,638,0007T (20234 : A
recognized as revenue during the year ended December K #18,073,0007T) * 1 B £2024%F
31, 2024. 12A3MEIEFERR AW -

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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33. DEFERRED INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December

e T ERAR MR

31, 2024 # Z2024F 12 A31H it F &

33. iEEUA

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR TR AR¥TT
Subsidies related to assets (Note i) & 7= FE 8w B (B RED) 16,685 =
Subsidies related to research and B %)% B A6 8 5 B (BT &Xii)
development activities (Note ii) 8,900 2,352
25,585 2,352
Less: Current portion BB E o (6,283) (2,352)
Non-current portion EmEN D 19,302 =

Notes:

&

The Group recorded government subsidies related to
acquisition of equipment as deferred income, using the gross
basis, and amortised it on a systematic basis over the useful
lives of the relevant assets. During the year ended December
31, 2024, the subsidies has not begun to amortize.

ii. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group ii.
received RMB12,565,000 (2023: RMB2,553,000) in relation to
its research and development activities. The amounts were
recorded as deferred income and released to profit or loss
upon certain conditions are fulfilled. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, subsidy income of RMB6,017,000 (2023:
RMB4,276,000) was released to profit or loss.

AN E R B R AR A BT
MIZRBEREERRAETE KA I
EHBEEMNAFERFHRNRES
B - BE2024F12A31BILLFE -
ZEMB M ARBAEN -

HE2024F12A31HILFE - KEE
ot E o 3% B) IR A R #12,565,000
7T (20234 : A R %2 553,0007T) °
ZESBARIEEZRA  ER
ERETHRGEFTABERZ HE
2024F12A31H L FE - # B A
A R #6,017,0007T (20234 : A R #&
4,276,0007T) E st A B ©

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. &
Number of
ordinary Share
shares capital
EERHE iR 7
RMB in
thousands
AR¥ET T
Ordinary shares of RMB1 each EREBBAARKITH
RN
Authorized and issued EERBET
As at January 1, 2023 R2023%F1H1H 111,000,000 111,000
Issue of ordinary shares (Note i) BTEBR (D 2,842,683 2,843
As at December 31, 2023 202312 A31H 113,842,683 113,843
Issue of ordinary shares upon the Listing 18 377 & 38 A%
(Note ii) (Ff 3Eii) 7,035,550 7,036
As at December 31, 2024 2024512 H31H 120,878,233 120,879

Notes:

B 5

In December 2023, the Company issued 2,842,683 ordinary
shares at the consideration of RMB210,000,000 to the
ultimate holding company and another independent investor.
RMB2,842,683 was credited to the Company’s share capital
and the remaining balance was credited as share premium.
The consideration amounting to RMB210,000,000 were paid by
cash in December 2023.

On December 30, 2024, the Company completed its global
offering of 7,036,000 H shares with par value of RMB1 each
at the offering price of HK$82.80 per H share and listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The gross proceeds
from the Company’s global offering were HK$582,544,000
(equivalent to RMB539,343,000). RMB7,036,000 was credited
to the Company’s share capital and the remaining balance was
credited as share premium.

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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M2023F128 © A QD B [ & K& 5
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2,842,683 EiMAk c REAARM
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B - KB A R#210,000,0007T #
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

RESTRICTED SHARES SCHEME

To provide incentives to eligible employees and directors
of the Group, an employee share incentive plan (the
“RSU Plan”) was adopted on September 1, 2021. Three
employee stock ownership platforms, namely Nanjing
Zhengyang Information Technology Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (IR EBEERNBEABLE(BAREE)),
Nanjing Zhenghui Information Technology Partnership
(Limited Partnership), (MR EEBEENFABLE(ER
& %#)") and Nanjing Zhengchang Technology Partnership
(Limited Partnership (R REMBMEEBEE(BERER))
(the “Shareholding Platforms”) were set up to indirectly
hold RMB3,016,000 register capital of the Company.

Eligible employees and directors subscribed for partnership
interest of the Shareholding Platforms at a consideration
price of RMB2.5 for RMB1.0 registered capital and
indirectly held the incentive shares of the Company.

Details of the restricted shares issued under the RSU Plan
are as follows:

35.

LI BERMIRNOES
5% PR 5 B% 47 &+ &Y

REBASENAREREINRES
NEBR2021FOAIBEEMATE L
P # 8k b =T &I ([RSURH & 1) - I 3%
YT=EIHKKF¥FE AERLE
BESMRAEBEXEBERAR)
MRLEFEEMEEBEEERE
BOMBEREEMRABEEER
ERIEFERTE) HEFEAR
&l 7t & R A R #3,016,0007T ©

AEREINRBEEUFTAREIOT
HAARB25IMARERBIFRES
MeEENRE THREEEARTN
BB o

R IBERSUET 8 P73 1780 X IR HI AR 15
HIBEWT

Sell back
Amount of rights/
registered Vesting schedule defined in repurchase
Grant date capital Grantee contract term rights
=t it ERBKRPRAEN EERE
REHBH EXSHE EARBRA 5 R B & i [ #E
RMB in
thousands
AR® T
September 1, 2021 3,016 Directors and 40% 32 months after grant Note
employees date; 30% 44 months after
grant date; 30% 56 months
after grant date with the
achievement of certain
individual and the Group’s
performance conditions
202149A18 3,016 EERES R BHER32A A B40% ;M s
BREAMEMERER
30% : & tH A BR 1456 1E A &
B30% 2w 2 E Tl A RAK
SEEBEBIRY
MREREBEROERA A

—s-mEgy 203
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

RESTRICTED SHARES SCHEME (Continued)

Note: If the grantees terminate the labor relationship with the Group,
the Shareholding Platforms have the right to repurchase the
unvested shares from the grantees at original consideration
plus interest at market rate of similar period and the vested
shares from the grantees at the higher of original consideration
plus interest at market rate of similar period and net book value
of the Company indirectly held by the grantees.

On December 24, 2021, the Company was converted to
a joint stock company 35,000,000 ordinary shares with
par value of RMB1 each were issued and allotted to the
respective shareholders of the Company according to
the paid-in capital registered under these shareholders
on that day and following table to reflect the impact of
the conversion. One registered paid-in capital before
the conversion represented approximately 1.3 shares of
the joint stock company. Further on June 29, 2022, the
Company converted RMB74,000,000 of share premium
into the share capital of the Company at par value.

35. LRI SERMARNES (&)

SR HI Bk 49 &t @ (&)

P RE : AR AR IR EEN S BB F
AR T RRESENRBE
SRR E AR AED RSB KO R
7 IR EHE IR B 5 A R AR A
MEMBAARAREFENRS
MARABOESBRND

R2021F12 8248 - KA &l 2k &l A
B ¥ A &l » 35,000,000/% & A% m &
AREATHEBRBREREARARARK
RREBEEMOEZELARTE
BORRETEBEARRE  UREK
Bl E - B ATH — @ E
BEARBARN A O3 M A A B IR
1 o E 1% 2022968298 © KR 7
% mE 8 A R ¥74,000,0007T # f%
MREERBEARRKRA -

Weighted
average grant
date fair value

Unvested per

restricted restricted

shares shares

ERTEHR

TR =Rl

% 13 19

REB hn #EF 19

=2 R #l i 17 AREE

in thousands RMB

T & AR®TT

As at January 1, 2023 K2023F1H1H 11,394 27.81
Forfeited R (195) 27.81
As at December 31, 2023 1K 2023F12 H31H 11,199 27.81
Vested 5B (4,452) 27.81
Forfeited R (70) 27.81
As at December 31, 2024 1K2024F12 A31H 6,677 27.81

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group
has recognized share-based payment expenses of
RMB54,332,000 (2023: RMB92,517,000).

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

36.

(Continued)
RESTRICTED SHARES SCHEME (Continued)

In addition, the Group was also a party to the RSU
plan of iIFLYTEK whereas the restricted shares may be
issued to the eligible grantees of the Group. The equity-
settled share-based payment of the restricted shares
was measured based on the fair value of iIFLYTEK’s
ordinary shares on the date of grant. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, the Group has recognized
share-based payment expenses of RMB296,000 (2023:
RMB814,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
balance, which includes bank borrowings disclosed in Note
28, and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents in
Note 26, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
on an on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management of the Group, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt.

35.

36.

IR RERAROZSR(E)

SEPR BBk 19 &t 8 (&)
BEON - AEE TR AR AR RRSUG

BIMETA T - X RS D ) AE 3%
TFAEBEERARA LR
BOUNEREEUARDBERNT
ME R BRI R R &R
NIBEGE - & £2024F12 431
HIEFE AEEEERUKRMDA
ERNINRAEZARK296,0005T
(20234 : A R¥814,0007T) °

REERER

AREERAER  URRAEE
ERENSEEE ABBBEL
575 R M2 T 6 B AL IR R 3R -
AEENERFHE | —FHRE
T

AEBEAGEREEREBERFRE
(H B 5 B sE 281 BR e iR 1T &
Ko EBBEHERE R
ReFEBW)RARBHEEAENL
o (ERBRERTRARMER)

AEBEEEBERERNELAGRE
AR -8B AEEZE
BARKAREEZBETHEBOER -
REASBEEERBNESR  ~A&H
B AT R A R EITHER T
BMEBBENGRE -

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. #MIRA

(A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(A) &BIAFA

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TRT ARETRT

Financial assets EREE

Amortized cost 5 K AR 1,587,570 802,031

FVTPL BEAnBEFAERR — 25,000
1,587,570 827,031

Financial liabilities ctREaE

Amortized cost B 5 Ak AR 843,496 484,509

Lease liabilities HEAE 9,308 1,551

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include
pledged/restricted bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and
other receivables, long-term trade receivables,
contract assets, amount due from the ultimate holding
company, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, bill,
trade and other payables, amount due to the ultimate
holding company, amounts due to related companies,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk, currency
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

37. &#MIAE)
(B) SR EBETEAMRBE (&)

Market risk 5 &k
Interest rate risk F & &7 2

The Group is primarily exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to pledged/restricted bank
deposits (Note 26), fixed-rate bank borrowing (Note
28) and lease liabilities (Note 30) and cash flow
interest risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents
(Note 26). The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. The management
monitors interest rate risk exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises.

The Group considers that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances and pledged/restricted bank deposits is
insignificant because the current market interest rates
are relatively low and stable.

Currency risk

The Company have foreign currency bank balances,
listing expenses and issue costs payable which
expose the Company to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

AEBIEERESHR TR
i 4R 17 7 R (HY 5E26) - E BiR
17 fE R (P 5 28) R & & & (K
FE30) B M~ S EE A X E
oA K B3R & MR 2 FE Y (K
26) HE IR R E R X ME
o AN £R B IR B A A K
KR - BB BN R KR
QY HREFTERZEELHTE
RHMRE R -

AEBRR - AR B AT S F
RREREARE  FREMT
R ERRRERTER
FREEMBRERENRERIL

ARRFEBAINERITE RS &
MEMAX RBEITHA - EAR
UNCINEECRIN e

ZRER 18 B B I £ SN SRR
A AEBEEBERINE
[ B 3 145 A R BB E B
BRINERR °

Liabilities Assets
=R BE
31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2024 31/12/2023
2024 % 20234 2024 20234
12H31H 12 A31H 12H31H 12H31H
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands thousands thousands

ARBTRE ARBTET AR¥TR ARETT

HKD BT 643 685 520,036 =
UsD ETT 11,318 2,551 - —
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2023:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents Management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit and other equity where
RMB strengthen 5% (2023: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of RMB
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit and other equity
and the balances below would be negative.

37. &EMIAE)
(B) SR EBETEAMRBE (&)

miZmEkE ()
B E b (&)

TRHAFLAEBRHAREE A
7SN F E & B2 B5% (2023
FERMPRE 5% (=ZF
Z=ZF 5% BMEEEEA
B R B 3k 45 SN EE R B B R A
BREELE REREBEHI
BIERSIBAEE BT -
BREEDIEBRIE R EE I
MIAENE®ER  YNBRE
HA EE 5# GBS B R 5% (20234 :
5%) BB FABHEBE - LT IE
%@‘%/T/\EMMHEW%%@S%
(20234 : 5%) B fr B 12 % B &
HhEzsgm o A RBEAE
BEMEEKN (T - =F:
5%) BEFMBREMERE
EREERERNEE  MUT
EHBeEagE -

HKD Impact USD Impact
T B ES S A1

31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2024 31/12/2023
2024 20234 20244 20234
12A31H 12 A31H 12A31H 12H31H
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
AR TR ARBTT AR®TR ARETT
Profit or loss B (22,074) 29 281 60

The sensitivity analysis above only analysed the
Group's year end inherent foreign exchange risk
exposure and does not represent the exposure during
the year as the value of the monetary items and the
exchange rates fluctuate during the year.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, long-term trade receivables,
contract assets, pledged/restricted bank deposits,
bank balances, amount due from the ultimate holding
company and amounts due from fellow subsidiaries.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets.

Trade receivables, long-term trade receivables and
contract assets (including amount due from the
ultimate holding company and amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries)

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the management of the Group consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% of all trade receivables and
contract assets as at December 31, 2023 and 2024.

37. &#MIAE)
(B) SR EBETEAMRBE (&)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. £EMIAE)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables, long-term trade receivables and
contract assets (including amount due from the
ultimate holding company and amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries) (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on all trade receivables
and contract assets with credit-impaired individually.
Except for items that are subjected to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables and
contract assets are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to past due
exposure for the customers. As at December 31,
2024 the Group provided credit loss allowance of
approximately RMB22,061,000, RMB3,272,000,
RMB462,000, RMB64,000 and RMB1,218,000 (2023:
RMB8,999,000, RMB3,682,000, RMB105,000,
RMB98,000 and RMB580,000) for trade receivables,
long-term trade receivables, contract assets,
amount due from the ultimate holding company and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, based on
collective assessment, and impairment allowance of
RMB2,120,000 (2023: RMB2,730,000) was assessed
individually on trade receivables with gross carrying
amount of RMB7,967,000 (2023: RMB18,252,000),
and impairment allowance of RMB401,000 (2023:
RMBO0) was assessed individually on amount due from
the ultimate holding company with gross carrying
amount of RMB2,100,000 (2023:RMBQO). Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables

For other receivables, management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management
believes that there was no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2024, management of the Group assessed the ECL
for other receivables was insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognized.

Pledged/restricted bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on pledged/restricted bank
deposits and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged/restricted
bank deposits and bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on pledged/
restricted bank deposits and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognized.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged/restricted bank deposits and bank balances

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

(B) MMM EEERRBE (&)

BEHRRERITIFEHRRIT

A& B A ERE & R KRR AR

receivables/
contract assets

37. @EMIAE)
FEERBRIBEN G (E)
AEER ()
EEENTER
All trade

Other financial
assets/other items

FREZEW HitemEER
AR 1S B FE AR 1t RE/EREE Hy® B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
credit-impaired
il HFEFHENRBERE THEHEEER 1PREARSESE
-BEERE B
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL-not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
xR BRERAR  ABINBERASE 2PRBEEER 2HEHEEERR
BRI RS B R B E -EEERE -EiEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is  Lifetime ECL credit-  Lifetime ECL credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired
B FRBRAZEECEEEERE THERCEERE 2HEDBGEER
-EERE -EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i FREBRERNEBABAREMBRE X HEEE RHTH
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e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z=2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. #MIAE)
(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (B) &M AMBEEEARRBE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE RS RR A (E)
Pledged/restricted bank deposits and bank balances BEHOZRARITIEARRT
(Continued) AEER ()
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRITASEETHBEE
the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, EEAMTNEREERERE
which are subject to ECL assessment: EMEERRMAOFSE:
Internal
credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts
ABEETR 12@AH2BRABEEEHE BEEE
As at December 31,
W12A31H
Notes 2024 2023
Mt 2024 2023
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

ARBTR ARETR

Financial assets at
amortized cost

REBHAAIREN SR
BE
Trade receivables 22 Note Lifetime ECL (collective 747,588 491,743
assessment)
B AR WA it & 2HENEEBE(EETR)
Credit-impaired 7,967 18,252
EERE
Long-term trade 20 Note Lifetime ECL (collective 79,475 82,877
receivables assessment)
RBEHEKFHIE it 3 2HBEHEEBE(BRETR
Amount due from the 24 Note Lifetime ECL (collective 2,975 6,805
ultimate holding assessment)
company
PR R R R R A i3 *HEREEER(BETM)
Credit-impaired 2,100 —
FEERE

AMRE R R O ERD A 213
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged/restricted bank deposits and bank balances

37. &EMIAE)

(B) MMM EEERRBE (&)

EE R NRER G (E)

B RRENRITIFARRT

(Continued) AR ()
Internal
credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts
ABEETR 12EAL2BRABCEEEHE BEEE
As at December 31,
R12A31H
Notes 2024 2023
ik 20245 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARETR ARBTT
Amounts due from 24 Note Lifetime ECL (collective 70,745 59,039
fellow subsidiaries assessment)
ERRZRFARIHKE i & rHREBEEBR(ERTM)
Contract assets 23 Note Lifetime ECL (collective 20,787 8,258
assessment)
AREE it & PHEHEEBE(REBFMG)
Other receivables 22 Low risk 12m ECL 15,799 9,509
H fth e Y 3008 ERA REAEHREEER
Pledged/restricted bank 26 N/A 12m ECL 13,303 7,391
deposits
ER/IRHEBITER TER REARHEEESE
Bank balances 26 N/A 12m ECL 676,751 142,498
RIT 84 TER REAEHREEER
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z=2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged/restricted bank deposits and bank balances
(Continued)

Note:

For trade receivables, long-term trade receivables, amount
due from the ultimate holding company, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and contract assets, the Group applied the
simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on those items on a collective basis,
grouped by internal credit rating. The ECL of debtors with
credit-impaired with sign of significant financial difficulty of the
issuers will be individually assessed by the Group.

Internal credit rating

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its business operation. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for all trade receivables and contract assets which are
assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired) as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

37. &#MIAE)
(B) SR EBETEAMRBE (&)

EE R NRRER G (E)

BEHRRERITIFEHRRIT
e (E)

2

HREHEUEKRIE - RBEHERK
B BEREEERARRE  BR
AREFABRRBERAREEMNS
AR B 5 B B 7% 3R R S99k
WL At E2 I AREERR
B - BEEERENREFEN -
AEBERABEEFREAEEZ
ZHEEMAHEEBER - BRHR
FEERERETALRERYBR
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AEEBEBFM -

A1 &8 15 B 7P AR

EEAEEEERBREEN—
Hn AEEREEBKEERE
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Internal credit rating (Continued)

37. &EMIAE)

(B) MMM EEERRBE (&)

EE R NRRER G (E)

A &8 1= B PR (&)

Gross carrying amount REREE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
All trade All trade
receivables receivables
and contract and contract
assets assets
(excluding (excluding
long-term long-term
Average trade Average trade
loss rate  receivables) loss rate receivables)
MEEZEWY EESENR
FERER HERER
EE(REE BE(NERE
FHFERE FE W E) THEEX FEMRIR)
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR¥BTR ARBTT
Internal credit rating AE 15 B TR

Low risk 15 2 Bz 1.18% 461,895 1.70% 443,669
Doubtful A 4.83% 379,882 2.18% 122,176
2.83% 841,777 1.81% 565,845
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. #MIAE)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(B) MMM EEBRRIE (&)

EE R NRRER G (E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

A &8 1= B PR (&)

Internal credit rating (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued) RERTHEE (&)
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Long-term Long-term
Average trade Average trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
REES kB8
FHBEER JE W 7208 THBEEX FEM R
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR®TR ARBTT
Internal credit rating A B 15 B R

Low risk E&E & 412% 79,475 4.44% 82,877

EAEBEERDEREOBRERR
EHMBRRRMGE  UBAE

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
probability of default, loss given default and are

adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort, such as
general economic conditions. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. The
contract assets have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, all
trade receivables and contract assets which are
assessed as low risk and doubtful credit rating at
the end of the reporting period that have been past
due over 90 days are not considered as in default by
considering the counterparties with good reputation
and credit records.

BB ERAL R MW A —
AR 4L IR JL) BN B] 2 15 O AT BE
MERFLAE AEESE
HEEEEN B UERETE
BEHEANHEBRENDEERN -
EREEERABAARANES
FEWRIR A A E AR E R
SR

ARAEERAR EEEAA
RFBEREELHENRZY
F o REHRABERAESE
R EkREEEFRNESE
WHRAREREEEENBEBG
9K THBEH -

AREENERAERAT
—EoMEER

217



218

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

37. &EMIAE)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (B)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Internal credit rating (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognized for trade receivables,
long-term trade receivables, amount due from the
ultimate holding company, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries and contract assets under the simplified

EHEBBEERRRBE ()

EE R NRRER G (E)
A &8 1= B PR (&)
RERmEEGE)

TRINTERET AERNE
SRR - RHE 5 R WK
B R RAER AR KA
BREREFRRREAREGRE
ENE2HBRHEEERES -

approach.
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HES ZHES
FEER FEE#R
(BEERE) (FERE) st
RMB in RMB in BRMB in
thousands thousands thousands
ARETT ARBFT ARBFT
As at January 1, 2023 2023%F1A18 9,630 377 10,007
— Transfer to credit-impaired -~ EAEERE (404) 404 =
— Impairment losses recognized — 2 R R E &1 413 1,969 2,382
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — % B B &5 18 (1,716) (20) (1,736)
New financial assets originated BRERNF S @EE
net of those derecognized due  (FNBRAEEM
to settlement RIFERO SR
BE) 5,541 - 5,541
As at December 31, 2023 72023412 A31H 13,464 2,730 16,194
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EAEERE (422) 422 -
— Impairment losses recognized — B R EEE 7,663 1,282 8,945
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — B & B EE B (4,082) (1,913) (5,995)
New financial assets originated JRAERFH LR EE
net of those derecognized due  (FBRE L E M
to settlement RIEERO SR
BE) 10,454 - 10,454
As at December 31, 2024 2024412 A31H 27,077 2,521 29,598
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z=2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Internal credit rating (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and
lease liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

37. &#MIAE)
(B) SR EBETEAMRBE (&)

EE R NRRER G (E)
A &8 1= B PR (&)
MEE 2R R

EEERDEZRARSE K
SEEEREREEERRRE
ARAEENRERTEESH
ReRREFEWKE - LR
BERERENBNTE -

TRFLAEESHAENRE
EREMNHBRTARZIMAE - &
RODERAEBAXNHRS
FHNERABENRBRARSE
MERE -

AREENERAERAT
—EoMEER

219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. £EMIAE)

(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(B) MMM EEERRBE (&)

EE R NRRER G (E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

A &8 1= B PR (&)

Internal credit rating (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REERR(E)

The table includes both interest and principal cash ZEHEBENNERASHENME °

flows.
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective or within undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years  cash flows amount
mE¥H REXY ABRRE
ERAE MER 122F 285% RELR REE
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands  thousands
AR®TR AR%Tr AR%Fr AR%Tr AR®Tx
At December 31,  182024%
2024 12A31A
Bil, trade and other  E¥ - BZ R Eft
payables IR - 420,203 - - 420,203 420,203
Bank borrowings BTN 2.78% 182,915 67,549 - 250,464 244,800
Amount duetothe R Z&ER
ultimate holding NGE S
company - 78,893 - - 78,893 78,893
Amounts due to ENABAR
related companies MR - 99,600 - - 99,600 99,600
Lease liabilities HEEE 3.85% 4,734 2,701 2,364 9,799 9,308
786,345 70,250 2,364 858,959 852,804
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #f Z20244 12 731H i1 F/&

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @EMIAE)
(B) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES (B) &M mEEEARRBE (&
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE RS RR A (E)
Internal credit rating (Continued) A EE1E BEZFAR (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REE SRR (E)
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective or within undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-2 years cash flows amount
M ¥ REXH ARERERE
ERA= MER 1525 nEes REE
RMB i RMB in RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands thousands thousands

ARETL ARETRT AREBTR ARETR

At December 31, 2023 12023512 A31H
Bill, trade and other payables Z# - 85 & E ft JEf

QL] - 297,241 - 297,241 297,241

Bank borrowings RITER 3.14% 89,446 - 89,446 88,000
Amount due to the ultimate BN ZERRRAR KA

holding company - 33,306 - 33,306 33,306

Amounts due to related FERES ARSI

companies - 65,962 - 65,962 65,962

Lease liabilities HEaE 5.04% 1,069 534 1,603 1,551

487,024 534 487,558 486,060

MREERNERDERAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(C) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

(i)

(ii)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Certain of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements is observable.

37. €MIAE)
(C) EMIAMAABEENE

(i)

REERSEEERDR
BEFENEHEENDR
B

AEENETEREERN
BEMmEHRIZ A REERT
- UTITERRBREHRBBK
FTREENAAEEN
] # £ W0 15 B (5 5l = 1
{8 7 DA e P 52 P B 8 A
BB UEREEB AR
BHARBEAENTH
ZREBAREEFTED

BRRAREBEEMRGE—

MEE=MH) -
Fair value as at
BEUTEHAAEE
December 31, December 31, Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 2024 2023  hierarchy and key input(s)
2024 2023%F
tREE 12A431A 120318 AREEER HEEMRETERARE
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR®TR ARETT
Structured bank deposits - 25,000 Level 2 Discounted cash flows
method, estimated based
on expected return.
HEBURTER E_R BRRAEREE  KEHE

Fihit o

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2
during the year.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are
required)

The management of the Group considers
that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortized
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHmRME
For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&
38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. MAGRHEENARHEIER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFLUAEERETHMELESR
arising from financing activities, including both cash EMZE (BERESRIEESET) -
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BMEBEHMEEANBERAHERER
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future EERIRRBEREBIREAEE
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated REREeRERAPERMEETH
statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing FFEEMRERENARE -
activities.
Non-trade
nature
amount
due to the
ZAccrued ultimate
issue Bank holding Lease
costs borrowings company liabilities Total
B &%
BERAAMN
Pt FESH
BORA #/OER EXNE HESE @t
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
ARBTRE AR®TR AR¥ETR AR®TrR AR®Tx
As at January 1, 2023 #2023 1818 572 - 1,550 731 2,853
Financing cash flow BEREME (1,354) 86,824 (1,550) (1,294) 82,626
Non-cash changes: FHeEE:
Interest expenses (Note 8) 1 87 = (Kt zE8) - 1,176 — 35 1,211
Deferred issue cost EREBETHA 1,127 = = = 1,127
New lease entered FUHHE - - - 2,079 2,079
As at December 31, 2023 #2023 124318 345 88,000 - 1,551 89,896
Financing cash flow REBSTE (17,026) 150,805 _ (534) 133,245
Non-cash changes: EREE
Interest expenses (Note 8) M EFZ (i :E8) - 5,995 - 145 6,140
Deferred issue cost BT AR 18,323 - - - 18,323
Deferred issue cost ERETRAEH S
reclassification L (519) - - - (519)
New lease entered FUHBEE - - - 9,204 9,204
Termination of lease contracts & IFFA A [F - - - (1,058) (1,058)
As at December 31, 2024 R2024F12 A31H 1,297 244,800 - 9,308 255,405
AMREBRRNERAERAF

—E-MEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

U]

(1

Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29, the
relationships between the Company and related
parties are as follow:

Name of the related parties

BB S &8

39. ABIARH
() BRMt 24K 20F7 % 58 & 5 - K
NR BT 2 R BEEIT

Relationship with the Company
RN A W B &

Hefei iFLYTEK Doxent Technology Co., Ltd.
(BIEARESRIHRBRAT)

BIEAREBRZSHZARAA

Heilongjiang iFLYTEK Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(RETIAREEHXBERAR)

REILARESMEXBRAT

Hefei iIFLYTEK Education Development Co., Ltd.
(FREMARARHEERBERAA)

ERBMAARKEERERAA

Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29,
during the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with the related parties:

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Fellow subsidiary

CESSRVNS]

Fellow subsidiary

EESaVNC]
Fellow subsidiary

EESS /NS
() BBt FE2AR29T IR BT &I » &

P A SR B B B 5 2T S T 5
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

(I1) Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29, ()
during the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with the related parties: (Continued)

(@)

Sale of products and services

39. ABEARH (&)

B B 5E24 K 20FT 1 55 & b - F
N AREEEBFH AT
R (&)

(a) HHEERMKRRHE

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

iFLYTEK Zhiyuan Technology

ARETEEMEER

Co., Ltd. NS 26,178 16,113
iFLYTEK REX R 7R 11,970 6,360
Zhejiang Kexun Future Technology M IR AR KEI AR

Co., Ltd. YNET! 6,321 —
Anhui iIFLYTEK New Retall ZHARFZERR

Co., Ltd. NS 1,866 3,412
Tianjin iFLYTEK Information REAREEREER

Technology Co., Ltd. UNE! 1,158 1,078
Wuhu Kexun Aerospace Information % 8 £ 51 it X 12 8 7 ilg

Technology Co., Ltd. BRAT 889 663
iIFLYTEK (Beijing) Co., Ltd. BIARFMOER) BR

NS 373 2,933
Xinyu iIFLYTEK Information MARAMREERERBR

Technology Co., Ltd. A A] 257 280
iIFLYTEK (Shanghai) Technology Co., BHRFRTR (E&) &%

Ltd. BRAF] 356 1,521
Zhejiang Xunzhi Future Technology # Lz E R EREER

Co., Ltd. YNET! 82 17,532
Shandong Zixun Information IWEREAESR AR

Technology Co., Ltd. A A] - 4,433
Heilongjiang IFLYTEK Information ~ Z#E T RE &

Technology Co., Ltd. AR AT - 3,982
Gongagingcheng Qingxun Artificial & F &l A T 6

Intelligence Technology Co., Ltd. B EBRAT - 2,375
Others Hh 188 1,021

49,638 61,703
AREENEROERARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  39. BB X H (&)

() Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29, () BB sF2AR29F T BB & 4 - &F
during the year, the Group entered into the following W AEEHE@EB ST TS
transactions with the related parties: (Continued) R : (&)

(b) Purchase of products (b) BEEM

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR ARETRT

iIFLYTEK BERFLR - 2,617
Anhui iIFLYTEK New Retail ZHARNZEZEBR
Co., Ltd. NG - 1,595
Anhui Tingjian Technology ZHREARBZERAT
Co., Ltd. - 280
Hefei iFLYTEK Doxent Technology AEAREBHR AR
Co., Ltd. YNE! - 147
Others H - 343
- 4,982
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(©)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

e T ERAR MR

39. ABEARH (&)

(I) Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29, (1) BR M 5F24 K 20FT#R & & 4h - F
during the year, the Group entered into the following W AEEHE@EB ST T
transactions with the related parties: (Continued) R : (&)

Receiving of services (c) UWELAR#
Year ended December 31,
BZEZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR® T AR T
iFLYTEK BEXER AR 47,264 40,103
iIFLYTEK Central China (Wuhan) Co., .ﬂﬂé& F(RE)ER
Ltd. NG 7,988 9,176
iIFLYTEK (Beijing) Co., Ltd. ﬂﬁ%‘ﬂﬂ%(ibﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁ
ﬂ 4,231 10,134
Liaoning iFLYTEK Information FEEAREEMEAR
Technology Co., Ltd. NG 2,422 1,595
Sichuan iFLYTEK Super Brain J|| uﬂﬂ%tﬁ“ = BBHE
Information Technology Co., Ltd. BRA 2,529 2,781
Xi'an Xunfei Super Brain Information ﬁ?;ﬂﬂxtﬂ“‘ E BRI
Technology Co., Ltd. BRA 2,310 261
Anhui iIFLYTEK New Retail Co., Ltd. Z# TR ?%ﬁ fR
YNE! 2,291 —
Kexun Jialian Information B ZEE SR MAR
Technology Co., Ltd. NS 1,992 1,770
Zhejiang iFLYTEK Intelligent il ;‘1 AREERIEBR
Technology Co., Ltd. A A 1,499 2,619
Hefei iFLYTEK Education éHE BMAARHBEERRE
Development Co., Ltd. BR AT 1,388 =
Shenzhen Xunfei Intelligent FIAREEZERBZAR
Technology Co., Ltd. INTE] 943 1,237
iFLYTEK South China Co., Ltd. BMAARERBR LA 826 992
Nanjing Xunfei Smart City MR AR BT R
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAA 733 233
iIFLYTEK (Shanghai) Technology Co., B AR (L&) RH&
Ltd. BRAF 581 3,025
Hunan Xiangxun Future Technology # @ i &1l & K &t £ B BR
Co., Ltd. N 519 881
iIFLYTEK Zhiyuan Technology Co., %H‘w%%? TE BB R
Ltd. NS 298 132
iIFLYTEK Zhigu Technology Co., Ltd. FARE AR B AR A 135 1,359
Wuhan iFLYTEK Xingzhi Technology & & =1 7 B 29 &} Ezﬁﬁﬁé
Co., Ltd. UNE] - 305
Others H 3,436 2,736
81,385 79,339
AREENEROERARE

R MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(I1) Saved for those disclosed in Notes 24 and 29,
during the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with the related parties: (Continued)

©

Receiving of services (Continued)

iIFLYTEK and its subsidiaries and associates
provided various support services to the Group
including information technology support
service, human resources services. Transactions
with related parties were determined based on
prices and terms mutually agreed by the relevant
parties involved.

Lease arrangements

39. ABEARH (&)

(1) BB 524 20FT 3% 58 & 4b -
N AREEEBFH AT
R (&)

(c) WEURH (&)

BMAAREEF 2w B
ERAAASEBEREHE
BXERE BREEER
M 75 R R A HEIRR
%o BT MR 5IRE
B8 77 2[R 199 5E A0 (B A8 % 1

d) HEZH

As at/
Year ended December 31,
M12A318 ' BEZALEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR¥BTR AR%Tr
iIFLYTEK RER AR
Interest expense on lease HEBGBMNEMX
liabilities 79 30
Lease liabilities HEaRE 4,933 1,551
iIFLYTEK (Beijing) Co., Ltd. BARFAUER) BER
NG
Short-term lease expenses EHEERX - 75

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Group entered into a new lease agreement for
the ordinary and usual course of business with
the ultimate holding company for two years and
3 months. The Group has recognised an addition
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB4,895,000 and RMB4,895,000 respectively.
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B AEEHRBER—K
¥ BRREARKRIZERAR
AIVHBEERE  AHM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 # Z=2024F 12 H31H I F/Z

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 39. ABARSH(E

(1l) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT (m) EEEZANRHM

PERSONNEL

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands

AR¥TR AR®TR

Salaries and other benefits
Discretionary bonus
Retirement benefit scheme

FekHEMEF 4,938 4,987
B 18 TE 4L 1,190 1,146

R ARE B FT 8K

contributions 240 207
Equity-settled share-based UESmEEURMDAERD
payments AT 19,015 31,353
25,383 37,693
ARERENERBERA

—EoMEER

229



230

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

40. F AN

ARREERENMEERFBEN T RAR

Company are set out below: BHEHINWAT:
Equity interest
attributable to the Group
rEEELRE
Place and date Issued and
of establishment fully paid-in
Name of subsidiary and operation capital  As at December 31,  Principal activities
KIREE ERTR
FRAAER WHRAH HREXR M2A318 TEXH
2024 2028
2024F  2023F
% %
Directly held
EERE
Beijing Huili Zhiyi Technology Co., Ltd. June 5, 2020 PRC RMB20,280,000 75 75 Medical insurance related services
TREREERRARATA 202046458 AR #20,280,0007 BERIEERS
i
Imaging Union October 26, 2015 RMB12,448,000 51 51 Digital imaging services
PRC
2 20155104268+ AR%12,448,0007T LESA Yy
i
Yinchuan Xunfei Internet Hospital Co., March 16, 2022 PRC RMB5,500,000 100 100 Internet hospital
Ld (RIAREHBBRERAR)
RIAREHERRARRA 2022%3A168 - AR¥5,500,0007 DBBRER
i
Shanghai Xunfei Zhixin Medical September 28, 2022 RMB2,000,000 65 65  Platform and software services
Technology Co., Ltd. (E & REL  PRC
EEMBEREALA)
FEARSLEBENHEREMT AR 202F9A288  ARK20000007T TAREM RS
i
Taizhou Xunfei Medical Artificial December 11, 2023 RMB1,000,000 95 95  Internet hospital
Intelligence Healthcare Research PRC
Institute Co., Ltd. (FMFREE A
IRHHARERAR)
ENARBEAIERAERER 20285128118 AR¥1,000,0007T EBBBER
NG i

Xunfei Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. FLAFHE(2)

Equity interest

attributable to the Group
rEEELRE
Place and date Issued and
of establishment fully paid-in
Name of subsidiary and operation capital  As at December 31,  Principal activities
RIREE BRAR
FRAEH wHREH BREX R125318 TERH
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
% %
Anhui Xunfei Medical Intelligence December 13, 2023 Nil 100 100 Platform and software services
Technology Co., Ltd. (Z#NREE  PRC
HERERAF)
HARBENRBRAA 2023F 128138 - Z TEREH R
i
Beijing Anke Zhiyuan Medical June 6, 2024 PRC Nil 100 N/A~ Platform and software services
Technology Co., Ltd. (1t R &Rl &
EENBRBRAR)
TRZHMERBENRERATA 2024%6A68 * Z TER  FaRBHRE
i
Xunfei Medical Technology (Hongkong) August 28, 2024 Nil 100 N/A" Hardware export business
Co, Ltd. GIREERK(EA)BER  Hong Kong
NG)
ARBEMR(ER)FRLA 2024585288 Z TER BHLOER
£
Zhejiang Xunyi Technology Co., Ltd.  August 19, 2024 RMB10,000,000 100 N/A~ Platform and software services
(HIAEMRERAF) PRC
NIABRRBERAA 2024%8R198 - AK%10,000,0007 FER  FaREMRE
i

ARBRREROERAT
—E-MEFH
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e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. FLAFHRE(2)

Equity interest

attributable to the Group
rEEEERE
Place and date Issued and
of establishment fully paid-in
Name of subsidiary and operation capital  As at December 31,  Principal activities
RUREE BEIR
FARER WHRAH HREX M12A31H TEEH
2024 2023
2024F  2023F
% %
Indirectly held
BERE
Lvliang Kedaxunfei Medical December 1, 2021 RMB60,000,000 68 68  Medical insurance related services
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (& PRC
AHRARBECERMARDR)
BRMAAMREECSRMERAR 2021612818 AKH60,000,000T EREERY
i
Pu'er Kedaxunfei Information June 9, 2022 PRC RMB50,000,000 75 75 Healthcare Al solutions
Technology Co., Ltd. (& E & AR
BERMARLR)
LERARARGEERMARRAT 20220F6A98 +  ARM50,000,0007 EBRAIBHRAAR
i
Yibin Imaging Union Cloud Health June 11, 2024 PRC Nil 51 N/A  Digital imaging services
Technology Co, Lid. (EEZHES
BEERBBRARA)
HEFHEZBRENRARAR 2024F6A118 * z TER BTTEREB
i

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at REXR - BB F AR BITERERHEF 5 °
the end of the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T ERAR MR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed defined contribution
retirement scheme operated by the PRC government.
The PRC subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit scheme
subject to certain cap as governed by the social fund
bureau. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total costs charged to profit or loss, amounting to
RMB20,268,000 (2023: RMB18,510,000) for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing contributions paid to the
retirement benefits scheme by the Group.

41.

iR ¥k 8 FIEH B

AEBETEFRRNEEYBTE
BT AT EER R B IR E R FURIK
AEMKE - PBEFARAREE
FemaETa LR EEES A
P g B R INAE A AT S B K 1
XSETERAR - AERBEREKSE
MEr Sl E—BE S RE A

Ptk -

HEO024F12A31AILEE - BER
Y H BB KA A AR 20,268,000
(20234 : A R #18,510,0007T) © A
ANEE IR EFIFT B BT AR ER -

AMRE R R O ERD A
R MEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #{ £2024F 12 H31H 1F F /&

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

42, FLTIM BRI R B G

As at December 31,
M12HA31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR TR AREFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Equipment By 8,748 9,876
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 4,351 1,716
Other intangible assets HEmE\EEE 46,891 41,164
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAAINERE 139,164 128,752
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 104,016 80,729
Long-term trade receivables REE ZEWFIA 41,570 30,141
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W F R B FRIE 79,363 63,592
Pledged/restricted bank deposits BR/ZREIRITER 1,875 1,875
425,978 357,845
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 69,408 49,246
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b E W RIA 584,032 377,426
Contract assets BRAEE 20,325 8,153
Amount due from the ultimate holding & I & #& #52 i% A &) 3k 18
company 3,207 5,430
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  JEW R ZF A 7z IE 64,031 52,363
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W F R B FR A 181,563 169,540
Pledged/restricted bank deposits B ZBREIRITER 11,235 5,616
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESFED 603,544 108,305
1,537,345 775,979
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EmRME

For the year ended December 31, 2024 &t 22024412 H31H 1F F /&

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, ZATIRBRARRERZ)

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
ARETR AREFIT
Current liabilities REBEE
Bill, trade and other payables FiR - -BEHRHMERNKIE 450,632 333,123
Bank borrowings |ITER 175,000 80,000
Amount due to the ultimate holding JE A 42 4 IE
company 59,988 16,957
Amounts due to related companies JE 1< B BEk 2 &) 3RIR 62,117 45,437
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEF R AR IE 13,866 4,733
Lease liabilities HEARE 3,271 1,047
Provision BiE 75,800 57,381
Contract liabilities ARAR 27,037 37,494
Deferred income IR FE U A 6,283 2,061
873,994 578,433
Net current assets BRBEE 663,351 197,546
Total assets less current liabilities #EEBARBEEGE 1,089,329 555,391
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,662 504
Deferred income i IR N 19,302 =
Bank borrowings |ITIER 64,800 =
85,764 504
Net assets REE 1,003,565 554,887
Capital and reserves B A X 5% B
Share capital & 7R 120,879 113,843
Reserves {1 882,686 441,044
Total equity 48 5 3% 1,003,565 554,887
AMREBRRNERAERAF

R MEFER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI

For the year ended December 31, 2024 & Z2024F 12 A31H i F/&E

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, FATIRBRARRERZ)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

MOVEMENT IN THE COMPANY’S RESERVES FOFRMBEE

Share-based

Share Capital payments  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
DRORER
i1 % B BXNE WX 2itER @t
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands

ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx

As at January 1, 2023 1202351818 341274 6,127 128,478 (201,368) 274,511
Loss and total comprehensive FRERR2EHRY

expense for the year o] - - - (134,271) (134,271)
Issuance of ordinary shares %7 3 B (I +34)

(Note 34) 207,157 - - - 207,157
Fquity-settled share-based Wz & E AR

payments (Note 35) REROIH

(Fit 7135) - 1,130 92,517 - 93,647
As at December 31, 2023 12023F12 4318 548,431 1,257 220,995 (335,639) 441,044
Loss and total comprehensive FRERERZEHRY

expense for the year ax - - - (125,890) (125,890)
Issuance of ordinary shares %17 3 B (I +34)

(Note 34) 532,307 - - - 532,307
Cost of issuing new shares 4T3 R KA A (19,446) - - - (19,446)
Fquity-settled share-based B #= & &K 7

payments (Note 35) RERK XA

(Fitx35) - 339 54,332 - 54,671
As at December 31,2024 3202412318 1,061,202 7,596 275,327 (461,529) 882,686
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